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Forward-looking Statements

Portions of the narrative set forth in this docutrtbat are not statements of historical or curfanots are forwardeoking statements. O

actual future performance may materially diffemfrthat contemplated by the forwaabking statements as a result of a variety ofdiectThes
factors include, in addition to those mentione@wlsere herein:

Actual sales, operating rates and margins for -

Our ability to strengthen our internal control ofierancial reporting and disclosure controls andcpdures, particularly in light of t
matters disclosed in the Current Report on FormtBa was filed on February 26, 2014;

The finalization of our review of the proceduralcgrin our physical inventory count in 2013, indlugl the determination of the imp.
on affected periods;

Uncertainties relating to the fourth quarter 20bhggical inventory and possible theft at our Albugue, New Mexico facility, includir
(i) the costs and outcome of our investigations @nthe timing and amount, if any, of any insucarproceeds that we might receive;
The global econom

The impact of the U.S. Federal Government shutdawassequestratior

The condition of the markets which we serve, whetlefined geographically or by segment, with thgamanarket segments beil
consumer electronics, industrial components andnoermial aerospace, automotive electronics, defansescience, medical, enel
telecommunications infrastructure and appliance;

Changes in product mix and the financial condittbgustomer:

Our success in developing and introducing newdpets and new product ramip-rates

Our success in passing through the costs of ravermabg to customers or otherwise mitigating flutitug prices for those materie
including the impact of fluctuating prices on intety values;

Our success in integrating acquired busine

The impact of the results of acquisitions on odlitgtio achieve fully the strategic and financa@ijectives related to these acquisitis
Our success in completing the announced facilitysobidations and the product line rationalizatiand achieving the expected bene
Our success in implementing our strategic pkams the timely and successful completion and sgaf any capital projects, includi
the beryllium pebble plant in EImore, Ohio;

The availability of adequate lines of credit and #ssociated interest ra

Other financial factors, including the cost andilmmlity of raw materials (both base and precioustals), physical inventory valuatio
metal financing fees, tax rates, exchange ratessige costs and required cash contributions anedramployee benefit costs, ene
costs, regulatory compliance costs, the cost amiladility of insurance, and the impact of the Camys stock price on the cost
incentive compensation plans;

The uncertainties related to the impact of warptést activities and acts of G¢

Changes in government regulatory requirements leémnactment of new legislation that impacts oligatons and operatior

The conclusion of pending litigation matters in@clance with our expectation that there will benmaterial adverse effec

The timing and ability to achieve further efficiéeg and synergies resulting from our name chandepesduct line alignment under
Materion name and Materion brand; and

The risk factors set forth elsewhere in ltemdfAhis Form 10K.
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Item 1. BUSINESS

Materion Corporation, through its wholly owned sdigies, is an integrated producer of high perfance advanced engineered mate
used in a variety of electrical, electronic, thelrawad structural applications. Our products arel $olo numerous markets, including consu
electronics, defense and science, industrial comqpsnand commercial aerospace, automotive electotélecommunications infrastructt
energy, medical and appliance. As of December @13 2we had 2,671 employees.

The Company, through its subsidiaries, has opersiiio the United States, Europe and Asia. The Cagnpas four reportable segme
Advanced Material Technologies, Performance All@eryllium and Composites and Technical Materials.

All Other includes our parent company expenseserotiorporate charges and the operating results aiefibn Services Inc., a wha
owned subsidiary that provides administrative @ndricial oversight services to our other businessea cosplus basis. Corporate employ
not included in a reportable segment totaled 124f &ecember 31, 2013.

The cost of gold, silver, platinum, palladium argpper can be quite volatile. The Company's prignficy is to directly pass the cost
these metals on to the customer in order to méi¢fa¢ impact of metal price volatility on the résdfom operations. Trends and comparisol
sales are affected by movements in the marketpotéhese metals, but changes in sales due td pr&ta movements may not directly imp
our profitability.

Internally, management reviews sales on a valuedddsis. Value-added sales is a non-GAAP measatreléducts the value of the pass-
through metals sold from sales. Valagded sales allows management to assess the iofpdifferences in sales between periods, segme
markets and analyze the resulting margins andtpbility without the distortion of the movementstire pasghrough metal values. The do
amount of gross margin and operating profit is affécted by the valuadded sales calculation. The Company sells othéalsnand materia
that are not considered direct pass-throughs aidabsts are not deducted from sales when caloglatlue-added sales.

Beginning with the first quarter of 2013, the Comyaeported valuadded sales and margins externally. By presentifagmation ol
sales and valuadded sales, it is the Company's intention to alisers of its financial statements to review saligs and without the impact
the passhrough metals. See "Management's Discussion armdysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operat" for a reconciliation «
sales to value-added sales.

We use our Investor Relations web site, http://ni@tecom, as a channel for routine distribution of impottarformation, including new
releases, analyst presentations and financialrirdtion. We post filings as soon as reasonably igedie after they are electronically filed w
or furnished to, the SEC, including our annual,rtprly, and current reports on Forms 10-K, 10-QJ &8K; our proxy statements; and ¢
amendments to those reports or statements. All gastings and filings are available on our Invefelations web site. In addition, this web
allows investors and other interested persons do sp to automatically receiveneail alerts when we post press releases and fial
information on our web site. The SEC also maintaingeb site, www.sec.ggwhat contains reports, proxy and informationestagnts, and oth
information regarding issuers who file electrorligalith the SEC. The content on any web site reféiio in this Form 16 is not incorporate
by reference into this Form 10-K unless expresstga.

ADVANCED MATERIAL TECHNOLOGIES

Sales for this segment were $744.2 million, or 6dPtotal sales, in 2013; $847.8 million, or 66%tofal sales, in 2012 and $1,05
million, or 69% of total sales, in 2011. Value-addmles were $270.0 million, or 44% of total vahakeled sales, in 2013; $278.5 million, or ¢
of total value-added sales, in 2012 and $278.0anijllor 43% of total valuadded sales, in 2011. As of December 31, 2013, Aache Materic
Technologies had 1,216 employees.

Advanced Material Technologies manufactures pregioonprecious and specialty metal products, includingovadeposition targe
frame lid assemblies, clad and precious metal pmefp high temperature braze materials, Uitma- wire, advanced chemicals, opt
performance coatings and microelectronic packadémse products are used in wireless, semicondugtootonic, hybrid and oth
microelectronic applications within the consumercaionics and telecommunications infrastructureketar Other key markets for these prod
include medical, defense and science, energy,rahgsirial components. Advanced Material Technokbgieo has metal cleaning operations
in-house refineries that allow for the reclaim oé@ous metals from internally generated or custshserap.

Advanced Material Technologieproducts are sold directly from its facilities thghout the U.S., Asia and Europe, as well as th
direct sales offices and independent sales repasess throughout the world. Principal competitimeludes companies such as East
Chemical Company, Heraeus Inc., Honeywell Inteomati Inc., JDS Uniphase Corporation, Johnson
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Matthey plc, Praxair, Inc., Sai@eobain S.A., Solar Applied Materials Technology pSumitomo Metals Industries, Ltd., Tanaka Hajd@o.
Ltd., and a number of smaller regional and natiso@pliers.

Advanced Material Technologies — Sales and Backlog

The backlog of unshipped orders for Advanced Matérechnologies as of December 31, 2013, 2012 8dd %vas $53.5 million, $54
million and $75.5 million, respectively. Backloggenerally represented by purchase orders thatbmagrminated under certain conditions.
expect that substantially all of our backlog ofenifor this segment at December 31, 2013 willilfduring 2014.

Sales were made to over 3,000 customers in 2018r@ment sales accounted for less than 1% of tles salume in 2013, 2012 a
2011. Sales outside the United States, princigallgurope and Asia, accounted for approximately 2i2%ales in 2013, 23% of sales in 2
and 16% of sales in 2011. Other segment reportidgggographic information is contained in Note Mhe Consolidated Financial Stateme
which can be found in Item 8 of this Form 10-K avtuich is incorporated herein by reference.

Advanced Material Technologies — Research and Dewgiment

Active research and development programs seek medupt compositions and designs as well as processations. Expenditures 1
research and development for Advanced Material ieldigies amounted to $8.0 million in 2013 and 2848 $6.7 million in 2011. A staff of .
scientists, engineers and technicians was emplioyts effort as of year-end 2013.

PERFORMANCE ALLOYS

Sales for this segment were $292.2 million, or 28%otal sales, in 2013; $292.4 million, or 23%taifal sales, in 2012 and $335.3 milli
or 22% of total sales, in 2011. Value-added sale®\$235.2 million, or 39% of total valaelded sales, in 2013; $231.6 million, or 38% cdl
value-added sales, in 2012 and $257.8 million,086 4f total valueadded sales, in 2011. As of December 31, 2013pfeance Alloys had 8¢
employees.

Performance Alloys manufactures and sells three maiduct families:

e Strip products the largest of the product families, include thauge precision strip and thin diameter rod arré \vilihese copper a
nickel alloys provide a combination of high conduity, high reliability and formability for use asonnectors, contacts, switck
relays, shielding and bearings. Major markets toip oroducts include consumer electronics, telemomications infrastructut
automotive electronics, appliance and medical.dPerfince Alloys’primary direct competitor in strip form berylliuntiays is NGK
Insulators, Ltd. of Nagoya, Japan, with subsidgiie the United States and Europe. Performanceyé\lidso competes with all
systems manufactured by Global Brass and Copper,Wieland Electric, Inc., Stolberger Metallwei®enbH, Nippon Mining, PM.
Industries, Inc. and also with other generally lespensive materials, including phosphor bronzsnkess steel and other speci
copper and nickel alloys, which are produced baréety of companies around the world;

¢ Bulk productsare copper and nickélased alloys manufactured in plate, rod, bar, ardik other customized forms that, depen
upon the application, may provide superior strengtinrosion or wear resistance, thermal condugtimitlubricity. While the majorit
of bulk products contain beryllium, a growing portiof bulk products’ sales is from non-berylliwontaining alloys as a result
product diversification efforts. Applications foullk products include oil and gas drilling comporsgrtiearings, bushings, weld
rods, plastic mold tooling and undersea telecompaiitins housing equipment. Major markets for bulkdpcts include industri
components and commercial aerospace, energy ascbmaeinunications infrastructure. In the area of hui&ducts, in addition
NGK Insulators, Ltd., Performance Alloys competdthvgeveral smaller regional producers such agrat®nal Beryllium Corp
Ningxia Orient Tantalum in China and LeBronze Irtdesin Europe; ant

¢ Beryllium hydroxideds produced at our milling operations in Utah froar bertrandite mine and purchased beryl ore. Haedxide it
used primarily as a raw material input for strigddrulk products and, to a lesser extent, by theg/lBem and Composites segme
Sales of beryllium hydroxide to NGK Insulators, Licom the Utah operations were less than 4% doReance Alloys'total sales i
each of the four most recent years.

Strip and bulk products are manufactured at fédlitn Ohio and Pennsylvania and are distributégri@tionally through a network
company-owned service centers and outside distiib@nd agents.




Performance Alloys — Sales and Backlog

The backlog of unshipped orders for Performanceysllas of December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 was.%$ilion, $73.8 million an
$99.6 million, respectively. Backlog is generalgpresented by purchase orders that may be terrdinatier certain conditions. We expect
substantially all the backlog of orders for thigment as of December 31, 2013 will be filled dur2@g 4.

Sales were made to over 2,000 customers in 20tfrRP@nce Alloys did not have any sales to govemmsién 2013. Government sale:
2012 and 2011 accounted for less than 1% of segsaes. Sales outside the United States, pringigallEurope and Asia, accounted
approximately 52% of sales in 2013, 54% of sale20fh2 and 51% of sales in 2011. Other segment tiegaand geographic information
contained in Note M to the Consolidated Financtat&nents, which can be found in Item 8 of thisnF@0K and which is incorporated her
by reference.

Performance Alloys — Research and Development

Active research and development programs seek medupt compositions and designs as well as processations. Expenditures 1
research and development amounted to $2.6 milid01.3, $2.2 million in 2012 and $2.1 million in120 A staff of 10 scientists, engineers
technicians was employed in this effort as of yead-2013.

BERYLLIUM AND COMPOSITES

Sales for this segment were $61.3 million, or 5%otdl sales, in 2013; $60.0 million, or 5% of tatales, in 2012 and $60.6 million, or
of total sales, in 2011. Beryllium and Compositesginot directly pass through changes in the adsts materials sold, and, therefore, value-
added sales are the same as sales. As of Decei28138, Beryllium and Composites had 265 emplayees

Beryllium and Composites manufactures beryllibased metals and beryllium and aluminum metal matwimposites (MMCs) in ro
sheet, foil and a variety of customized forms. Enemterials are used in applications that requgk &tiffness and/or low density, and they 1
to be premiunpriced due to their unique combination of propettiEhis segment also manufactures beryllia aluro@ramic products. Defer
and science is the largest market for Beryllium &uamposites, while other markets served includaistréhl components and commer
aerospace, medical, energy and telecommunicatioingstructure. Products are also sold for acoystiggical scanning and performa
automotive applications. While Beryllium and Comipesis the only domestic producer of metallic tlemn, it competes primarily with desig
utilizing other materials including metals, MMCsdaorganic composites. Our aluminum powder metal MMGmMpete with DWA Aluminui
Composites and cast MMCs made by Duralcan USA. tieleic components utilizing beryllia and aluminarareics are used in t
telecommunications infrastructure, medical, indaktcomponents and commercial aerospace and defandescience markets. Dir
competitors include American Beryllia Inc., CBL @srics Limited and CoorsTek, Inc.

Manufacturing facilities for Beryllium and Compasstare located in Ohio, California, Arizona and I&nd.
Beryllium and Composites — Sales and Backlog

The backlog of unshipped orders for Beryllium arahfposites as of December 31, 2013, 2012 and 20§$t&4 million, $20.5 millio
and $16.9 million, respectively. Backlog is genlgraépresented by purchase orders that may bernated under certain conditions. We ex
that substantially all of our backlog of orders tlois segment at December 31, 2013 will be filledry 2014.

Sales were made to over 300 customers in 2013ctDj@/ernment sales accounted for 2% of Berylliurd Eompositessales in 201
less than 2% in 2012 and less than 1% of salesDirl.2Sales outside the United States, principalyetrope and Asia, accounted
approximately 33% of sales in 2013, 31% of sale20h2 and 28% of sales in 2011. Other segment tiegoand geographic information
contained in Note M to the Consolidated Financtat&nents, which can be found in Item 8 of thisnka0K and which is incorporated her
by reference.

Beryllium and Composites — Research and Development

Active research and development programs seek medupt compositions and designs as well as proceswations. Expenditures 1
research and development amounted to $2.8 miltic20iL3, $2.4 million in 2012 and $2.2 million in120 A staff of nine scientists, engine
and technicians was employed in this effort as edirgnd 2013. Some research and development projeqisnéitures for which are r
material, were externally sponsored and funded.




TECHNICAL MATERIALS

Sales for this segment were $69.1 million, or 6%otdl sales, in 2013; $72.7 million, or 6% of tctales, in 2012 and $78.7 million, or
of total sales, in 2011. Value-added sales weretbd@llion, or 7% of total value-added sales, i120$45.4 million, or 7% of total valuadde:
sales, in 2012 and $49.8 million, or 8% of totdlreaadded sales, in 2011. As of December 31, ZD&Ghnical Materials had 189 employees.

Technical Materials' capabilities include clad jnénd overlay metals, precious and base metalref#dated systems, electron beam wel
systems, contour profiled systems and solder-coatgdl systems. These specialty strip metal preducivide a variety of thermal, electrical or
mechanical properties from a surface area or pdaticection of the material. Our cladding andiptatapabilities allow for a precious metal or
other base metal to be applied in continuous &rim only where it is needed, reducing the matexist to the customer as well as providing
design flexibility and performance. Major applicats for these products include connectors, contpotger lead frames and semiconductors,
while the largest markets are automotive electaitd consumer electronics. The energy and madaddets are smaller but offer further
growth opportunities. Technical Materials' prodwats manufactured at our Lincoln, Rhode Islandifg@nd are sold directly and through its
sales representatives. Technical Materials' majompetitors include Heraeus Inc., AMI Doduco, Ined @ther North American continuous strip
plating companies.

Technical Materials — Sales and Backlog

The backlog of unshipped orders for Technical Materas of December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 wa®$hB8lion, $17.6 million an
$16.3 million, respectively. Backlog is generalgpresented by purchase orders that may be terrdinatier certain conditions. We expect
substantially all of our backlog of orders for teesgment at December 31, 2013 will be filled du20d4.

Sales were made to over 200 customers in 2013 niedMaterials did not have any sales to the gowemt for 2013, 2012 or 2011. Si
outside the United States, principally to Europé Asia, accounted for approximately 25% of Techinidaterials’sales in 2013, 22% of sale
2012 and 27% of sales in 2011. Other segment iiegoaind geographic information is contained in Nbteto the Consolidated Financ
Statements, which can be found in Iltem 8 of thisiF20-K and which is incorporated herein by refegen

Technical Materials — Research and Development

Active research and development programs seek medupt compositions and designs as well as proceswations. Expenditures 1
research and development for Technical Materialeweminal in 2013, 2012 and 2011.

GENERAL
Availability of Raw Materials

The principal raw materials we use are aluminunylbem, cobalt, copper, gold, nickel, palladiunapnum, ruthenium, silver and t
Ore reserve data can be found in Item 7 of thisrFd0K. The availability of these raw materials, as wasl other materials used by us
adequate and generally not dependent on any opdiesup

Patents and Licenses

We own patents, patent applications and licendasirg to certain of our products and processesilé\dur rights under the patents |
licenses are of some importance to our operatimmspusiness is not materially dependent on anypaent or license or on all of our patt
and licenses as a group.

Regulatory Matters

We are subject to a variety of laws that regulhgerhanufacture, processing, use, handling, stoteggesport, treatment, emission, rele
and disposal of substances and wastes used omatgsh@r manufacturing. For decades we have opeocateticilities under applicable stande
of inplant and outplant emissions and releases.ftiaation of airborne beryllium particulate maggent a health hazard to certain individuals.

Standards for exposure to beryllium are under vewig the United States Occupational Safety and tHefdiministration (OSHA) and t
other governmental and private standsetting organizations. One result of these revieilldikely be more stringent worker safety standts
Some organizations, such as the California OccopaliHealth and Safety Administration and the Aweami Conference of Governmel
Industrial Hygienists, have adopted standardsatamore stringent than the current standards ¢fA0She development, proposal or adop
of more stringent standards may affect the buyegjgions by the




users of berylliuncontaining products. If the standards are made stoirggent and/or our customers or other downstresens decide to redt
their use of berylliuneontaining products, our results of operationgjitiiy and financial condition could be materiafigversely affected. T
impact of this potential adverse effect would depen the nature and extent of the changes to #melatds, the cost and ability to meet the
standards, the extent of any reduction in custarserand other factors. The magnitude of this pistesdiverse effect cannot be estimated.
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Name

Richard J. Hipple

John D. Grampa

Gregory R. Chemnitz

61

66

56

Executive Officers of the Registrant

Positions and Offices

Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Exeeu@ificer. In May 2006, Mr. Hipple was nam
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive OfficérMaterion Corporation. He had served
President since May 2005. He was Chief Operatirfgc€ffrom May 2005 until May 2006. Mr. Hipp
served as President of Performance Alloys from @92 until May 2005. He joined the Compan
July 2001 as Vice President of Strip Products,d®erénce Alloys and served in that position untily®
2002. Prior to joining Materion Corporation, Mr.gpie was President of LTV Steel Compan)
business unit of the LTV Corporation (integrateglestoroducer and metal fabricator). Prior to rugi
LTV's steel business, Mr. Hipple held numerous leagerpbsitions in engineering, operatio
strategic planning, sales and marketing and proceiné since 1975 at LTV. Mr. Hipple has servec
the Board of Directors of Ferro Corporation sin@@2 and as its Lead Director since 2010. Mr. Hij
has served on the Board of Directors of KeyCorpesiduly 2012.

Senior Vice President Finance and Chief Financidfig®@r . Mr. Grampa was named Senior V
President Finance and Chief Financial Officer irc&aber 2006. Prior to that, he had served as
President Finance and Chief Financial Officer siblmvember 1999 and as Vice President Fin
since October 1998. Prior to that, he had servedi@sPresident, Finance for the Worldwide Mates
Business of Avery Dennison Corporation (producempugssure sensitive materials, office prodt
labels and other converted products) since Marchd 1&8nd held other various positions at Ay
Dennison Corporation from 1984.

Vice President, General Counsdilr. Chemnitz joined Materion Corporation in Sepber 2007 as il
Vice President, General Counsel. Prior to thathde served in various roles in the Law Departme
Avery Dennison Corporation beginning in 1992, imlthg most recently, as Assistant General Cou
Americas, where he had responsibility for the leafdirs of Avery Dennisors business units in Nor
and South America.




Item 1A. RISK FACTORS

Our business, financial condition, results of opers and cash flows can be affected by a numbé&abdrs, including, but not limited -
those set forth below and elsewhere in this ForaK,1l@ny one of which could cause our actual regoltgary materially from recent results
from our anticipated future results. Thereforejrarestment in us involves some risks, including tis&s described below. The risks discu:
below are not the only risks that we may experietfcany of the following risks occur, our busingsssults of operations or financial condi
could be negatively impacted.

The businesses of many of our customers are subieaignificant fluctuations as a result of the cyeal nature of their industries and their
sensitivity to general economic conditions, whicbutd adversely affect their demand for our produasd reduce our sales and profitabilit

A substantial number of our customers are in thesemer electronics, industrial components and camialeaerospace, automot
electronics, defense and science, medical, enttpzommunications infrastructure and applianceistiies. Each of these industries is cyc
in nature, influenced by a combination of factotsch could have a negative impact on our businiesijding, among other things, period:
economic growth or recession, strength or weakoéghe U.S. dollar, the strength of the consumectebnics, automotive electronics
computer industries and the rate of constructioreleicommunications infrastructure equipment angegunent spending on defense.

Also, in times when growth rates in our marketsavsttown, there may be temporary inventory adjustsémt our customers that
negatively affect our business.

Because we experience seasonal fluctuations in sales, our quarterly results will fluctuate, and pannual performance will be affected k
the fluctuations.

We expect seasonal patterns to continue, which caage our quarterly results to fluctuate. For exanthe Christmas season genel
increased demand from our customers that manuéactmsumer products. If our revenue during anytquavrere to fall below the expectatit
of investors or securities analysts, our shareeprauld decline, perhaps significantly. Unfavoradgenomic conditions, lower than normal le
of demand and other occurrences in any of the ajbarters could also harm our results of operatibos example, toward the end of 2(
customers were building inventory in anticipatiohimcreased demand, whereas in the same perio®bf, Zlemand decreased becaust
customers had excess inventory.

A portion of our revenue is derived from the saledefensr-related products through various contracts and sobtracts. These contracts mi
be suspended or canceled, which could have an astvé@npact on our revenues.

In 2013, 6% of our revenue was derived from sadesustomers in the defense and science marketri#fop®f these customers opel
under contracts with the U.S. Government, whichvalleerable to termination at any time, for coneertie or default. Some of the reason:
cancellation include, but are not limited to, budge constraints or rappropriation of government funds, timing of contrawards, violations
legal or regulatory requirements, and changes litiqad agenda. If cancellations were to occury@uld result in a reduction in our revenue.
example, sales to the defense and science marketapproximately 11% lower in 2013 compared to 20t fall-off resulted from a decline
valueadded sales of optics, largely due to governmetdydeand spending cuts. Furthermore, significarditemhal reductions to defer
spending could occur over the next decade, whidkddeave a significant adverse impact on us.

The markets for our products are experiencing rapiianges in technology.

We operate in markets characterized by rapidly gimantechnology and evolving customer specificatiamd industry standards. N
products may quickly render an existing productotdte and unmarketable. For example, for many yeemsnal and mechanical performa
have been at the forefront of device packagingMoeless communications infrastructure deviceseltent years, a tremendous effort has
put into developing simpler packaging solutions posed of copper and other similar components. @uwity and future results of operati
depend in part upon our ability to enhance exisirggucts and introduce newly developed producta timely basis that conform to prevail
and evolving industry standards, meet or exceelntdogical advances in the marketplace, meet chgngustomer specifications, achi
market acceptance and respond to our competitoodugts.

The process of developing new products can be tdobically challenging and requires the accuratécgration of technological ai
market trends. We may not be able to introduce pducts successfully or do so on a timely basiael fail to develop new products that
appealing to our customers or fail to develop pobslwn time and within budgeted amounts, we mayrisble to recover our research
development costs, which could adversely affectnoairgins and profitability.
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We are dependent on our new primary beryllium fatgilfor our future supply of pure beryllium.

In 2008, we entered into an agreement with the Bemmt of Defense to share in the cost of a newllpan plant for primary berylliur
feedstock. Installation and stanp- of our new beryllium facility continued througho2012 and into 2013 at the Elmore, Ohio plarg.
Manufacturing inefficiencies, stamp and maintenance costs and inconsistent produleticels resulted in disruptions to the materialvflanc
lower gross margins. A number of these issues woad into 2013.

Construction was completed in 2012, and we are irggnpp production, but temporary interruptions teke necessary repairs and
delay in further transitioning the operation to atrrequired production levels could negatively atipour sales and/or cost structure.

The availability of competitive substitute matersafor beryllium-containing products may reduce oaustomers’ demand for these products
and reduce our sales.

In certain product applications, we compete wittnofacturers of non-berylliurnentaining products, including organic compositasta
alloys or composites, titanium and aluminum. Owstemers may choose to use substitutes for beryliamaining products in their products
a variety of reasons, including, among other thinlys lower costs of those substitutes, the headthsafety concerns relating to these prou
and the risk of litigation relating to beryllium+t@ining products. If our customers use substitfeseryllium-containing products in the
products, the demand for our beryllium-containingducts may decrease, which could reduce our sales.

Our lengthy and variable sales and development eyolakes it difficult for us to predict if and whes new product will be sold to customers.

Our sales and development cycle, which is the geriom the generation of a sales lead or new prioidiea through the developmen
the product and the recording of sales, may tylyidake up to two or three years, making it verffidlilt to forecast sales and results
operations. Our inability to accurately predict timing and magnitude of sales of our productseeiglly newly introduced products, co
affect our ability to meet our customegg'oduct delivery requirements or cause our resflteperations to suffer if we incur expenses
particular period that do not translate into salesng that period, or at all. In addition, thea@ures would make it difficult to plan future ctgd
expenditure needs and could cause us to fail ta owecash flow requirements.

The availability and prices of some raw materiale wse in our manufacturing operations fluctuate, drincreases in raw material costs can
adversely affect our operating results and our fimgal condition.

We manufacture advanced engineered materials wsirgus precious and n@recious metals, including aluminum, beryllium, at
copper, gold, nickel, palladium, platinum, ruthenjwsilver and tin. The availability of, and prides, these raw materials are subject to vola
and are influenced by worldwide economic conditjcspgeculative action, world supply and demand lwaaninventory levels, availability
substitute metals, the U.S. dollar exchange raitayztion costs of United States and foreign coitgret anticipated or perceived shortages
other factors. Precious metal prices, includinggsifor gold and silver, have increased signifigaint recent years. These higher prices
cause adjustments to our inventory carrying valwdssther as a result of quantity discrepanciesmabmanufacturing losses, difference
scrap rates, theft or other factors, to have atgrempact on our profitability and cash flows. élghe price of our products has increase
tandem with the rising metal prices, as a resulthinges in precious metal prices that are passedgh to our customers, which could d
them from purchasing our products and adversebcafiur sales.

Further, we maintain some precious metals on aiged inventory basis. The owners of the precioesaia charge a fee that fluctus
based on the market price of those metals and &dhtars. A significant increase in the market @riaf precious metals or the consignmen
could increase our financing costs, which couldéase our operating costs.

Utilizing precious metal in the manufacturing pross creates challenges in physical inventory valoas that may impact earnings.

We manufacture precious, non-precious and speaiadtal products and also have metal cleaning dpasaand inhouse refineries th
allow for the reclaim of precious metals from imt&lly generated or customer scrap. We refine toapsthrough our internal operations
externally through outside vendors.

When taking periodic physical inventories in ouinery operations, we reconcile the actual precimasals to what was estimated pric
the physical inventory count. Those estimates aged on assays or samples of precious metals thiémg the refining process. If thc
estimates are inaccurate, we may have an invemvogy (more physical precious metal than what we éstimated) or short (less phys
precious metal than what we had estimated). Thies¢uéitions could have a material impact on ouaritial statements and may img
earnings. For example, during the second and thiedters of 2013, procedural errors occurred inr¢oerding of the results of the Compa
regular quarterly physical inventory count. Theoesrunderstated




the Company's book-tphysical adjustment and, therefore, understatetiafosales in the second and third quarters of 28&3a result, 201
second and third quarter net income was overstageabproximately $4.8 million and $0.1 million, pestively. Higher precious metal prir
may magnify the value of any potential inventorgdar short.

We have determined that a material weakness existsur system of internal control over financial porting, which could have a materi
impact on our business.

Our ability to implement our business plan and clygmygth regulations requires an effective plannargd management process. We ex
that we will need to improve existing operationatidinancial systems, procedures and controls,imptement new ones, to manage our fu
business effectively. Any implementation delaysdi@ruption in the transition to new or enhancestawys, procedures or controls, could t
our ability to forecast sales, manage our suppirgtand record and report financial and managemésnrmnation on a timely and accurate be

We are required to maintain internal control ovaaificial reporting to provide reasonable assuraagarding the reliability of financi
reporting and the preparation of our consolidatedricial statements in accordance with generalbgpied accounting principles. Based on
assessment, management identified a deficiendyeitCobmpanys internal control over financial reporting thahsttutes a material weaknes:
of December 31, 2013. Specifically, our managemeview controls failed to detect errors in the pbgisinventory count reconciliation proc:
at one of our facilities on a timely basis duringerim periods of 2013. As a result of this matesieaakness, management concluded that w
not maintain effective internal control over fin@lgeporting as of December 31, 2013.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combimatf deficiencies, in internal control over finglcreporting, such that there i
reasonable possibility that a material misstatenoérdur annual or interim financial statements widit be prevented or detected on a tir
basis. Until the control deficiency is fully rematid, it may be more difficult for us to manage business, our results of operations coul
harmed, our ability to report results accuratelgt an time could be impaired, investors may losthfai the reliability of our statements, and
price of our securities may be materially affected.

Any failure to implement and maintain required nemimproved controls, or any difficulties we enctamin their implementation, cot
result in additional significant deficiencies or teréal weakness. Any such failure could adversélgca the results of periodic managen
evaluations and annual auditor attestation repagsrding disclosure controls and the effectivenassur internal control over financ
reporting.

Because we maintain a significant inventory of pieas metals, we may experience losses due to erapleyror and theft

Because we manufacture products that contain preaietals, we maintain a significant amount of joex metals at certain of ¢
manufacturing facilities. Accordingly, we are setij to the risk of precious metal shortages resylfrom employee error and theft.
example, in 2013, the Company has filed a clainf vt insurance carrier for a theft of approximat®l0 million of silver at its Albuquerqt
New Mexico refinery

While we maintain controls to prevent employeetthatluding physical security measures, if ourteols do not operate effectively or
structured ineffectively, our profitability couletadversely affected, including any charges thamight incur as a result of the shortage of
inventory and by costs associated with increasedrig, preventative measures and insurance.

We have a limited number of manufacturing facilitse and damage to those facilities could interruptraperations, increase our costs of
doing business and impair our ability to deliver oproducts on a timely basis.

Some of our facilities are interdependent. Foraineg, our manufacturing facility in EImore, Ohidies on our mining operation for
supply of beryllium hydroxide used in production mibst of its berylliumeontaining materials. Additionally, our Reading,nRgylvania
Fremont, California and Tucson, Arizona manufacirfacilities are dependent on materials producgdir Elmore, Ohio manufacturi
facility, and our Wheatfield, New York manufactugifacility is dependent on our Buffalo, New York medacturing facility. The destruction
closure of any of our manufacturing facilities arr anine for a significant period of time as a résilfire, explosion, act of war or terrorism
other natural disaster or unexpected event mayrigteour manufacturing capabilities, increase eapital expenditures and our costs of d
business and impair our ability to deliver our proid on a timely basis. In such an event, we marie resort to an alternative sourc
manufacturing or to delay production, which couldrease our costs of doing business. Our propartyade and business interruption insur
may not cover all of our potential losses and matycontinue to be available to us on acceptablagegif at all.

Equipment failures and other unexpected events at tacilities may lead to manufacturing curtailmestor shutdowns

The manufacturing processes that take place imining operation, as well as in our manufacturiagilities, depend on critical pieces
equipment. This equipment may, on occasion, beobservice because of unanticipated failure, amdesequipment is not readily available
replaceable. In addition to equipment failures, fagilities are also subject to the risk of los® do unanticipated events such as fires, explo
or other disasters. Material plant shutdowns oucédns in operations could harm our ability tofifubur customers’demands, which cou
harm our sales and cause our customers to find stippliers.
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Further, remediation of any interruption in prodostcapability may require us to make large captglenditures, which may have a negze
effect on our profitability and cash flows. Our mess interruption insurance may not cover alhef lbst revenues associated with interrup
in our manufacturing capabilities.

Many of our manufacturing facilities are dependeph single source energy suppliers, and interruptionenergy services may cau
manufacturing curtailments or shutdowns.

Many of our manufacturing facilities depend on @oerrce for electric power and for natural gas. &ample, Utah Power is the s
supplier of electric power to the processing facifor our mining operations in Utah. A significaimterruption in service from our enel
suppliers due to equipment failures, terrorism iy ather cause may result in substantial lossesateanot fully covered by our busin
interruption insurance. Any substantial unmitigatetérruption of our operations due to these caowlét could harm our ability to meet «
customers’ demands and reduce our sales.

If the price of electrical power, fuel or other engy sources increases, our operating expenses cauldease significantly

We have numerous milling and manufacturing faelitand a mining operation, which depend on eledtgower, fuel or other ener
sources. Our operating expenses are sensitiveattgels in electricity prices and fuel prices, inglgdhatural gas prices. Prices for electricity
natural gas may increase and can fluctuate widély availability and demand levels from other us&mring periods of peak usage, supplie
energy may be curtailed, and we may not be abfautohase energy at historical market rates. Whaehave some longerm contracts wi
energy suppliers, we are exposed to fluctuatiorengrgy costs that can affect our production cddteough we enter into forwarfixed price
supply contracts for natural gas and electricityuse in our operations, those contracts are afdaduration and do not cover all of our fue
electricity needs. Additionally, price increasesfirel and electricity costs, such as those incieagleich may occur from climate chai
legislation or other environmental mandates, mayeiase our cost of operations.

Disruptionsor volatility in global financial markets could adrsely impact our financial performance.

Global economic conditions may cause volatility afisruptions in the capital and credit markets. Uthalobal economic conditio
deteriorate or access to credit markets be reduredpmers may experience difficulty in obtainirdgquate financing, thereby impacting
sales. Our exposure to bad debt losses may alseas® if customers are unable to pay for producsiqusly ordered. The recent glo
economic crisis and the resulting recession hase ehused higher unemployment rates, which cowe bha adverse impact on demanc
consumer electronics, which comprised 30% of olessim 2013. Any additional negative or uncertairaficial and macroeconomic conditi
may have a significant adverse impact on our sgledijtability and results of operations. For exdenpf the current economic conditions
Europe further deteriorate, it could trigger a gllobconomic downturn similar to the one experience@008 and 2009. This could hav
negative impact on our sales to Europe, which ateolfor approximately 14% of our sales in 2013.

A lower interest rate environment coupled with lebsn expected investment performance may requiseta increase our pension liability at
expense, which may require us to fund a portionafr pension obligations and divert funds from othpptential uses.

We provide defined benefit pension plans to elgibmployees. Our pension expense and our requirgdhtions to our pension ple
are directly affected by the value of plan asgbts projected rate of return on plan assets, theahate of return on plan assets and the act
assumptions we use to measure our defined bergfgign plan obligations, including the rate at \ahfiature obligations are discounted f
present value, or the discount rate.

Lower investment performance of our pension plaetsresulting from a decline in the stock markeid significantly increase the defi
position of our plans. Should the pension asseirmefall below our expectations, it is likely thiture pension expenses would increase.
actual return on our plan assets for the year efmEmbmber 31, 2013 was a gain of approximately%5Bor 2014, for pension account
purposes, we assumed a 7.25% expected rate af @iysension assets.

We establish the discount rate used to determiagtasent value of the projected and accumulatadfibebligation at the end of e¢
year based upon the available market rates for digtity, fixed income investments. An increasdhia discount rate would reduce the fu
pension expense and, conversely, a lower discat@twould raise the future pension expense. Aseakeihber 31, 2013, for pension accour
purposes, we assumed a 4.875% discount rate fatarnestic defined benefit plan compared to 4.0%Heryear ended December 31, 2012.

Based on current guidelines, assumptions and dstmiacluding stock market prices and interesgs;aive anticipate that we will me
cash contributions of approximately $19.0 milliam @ur pension plan in 2014. If our current assuamgiand estimates are not cori
contributions in 2014 and beyond may be greatar thex current or future projections.

We cannot predict whether changing market or ecaneonditions, regulatory changes or other factitsfurther increase our pensi
expenses or funding obligations, diverting fundsweeild otherwise apply to other uses.
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Our expenditures for postetirement health benefits could be materially highthan we have predicted if our underlying assurigpis prove tc
be incorrect.

We provide postetirement health benefits to eligible employeesr @tiree health expense is directly affectedhsydssumptions we
to measure our retiree health plan obligationdutting the assumed rate at which health care sufitincrease and the discount rate use
calculate future obligations. For retiree healtbcamting purposes, we have used a graded assunsgtiedule to assume the rate at which h
care costs will increase. At December 31, 2013 Redember 31, 2012, we assumed rates of 7.5% afd, 8&spectively, for each of t
following years. We have assumed that this healtk cost increase trend rate will decline in 0.8%éments to the ultimate trend rate of &
by 2019.

Assumed health care cost trend rates have a signifieffect on the amounts reported for the hezdtle plans. A one percentage p
increase in assumed health care cost trend ratekl wiave increased the pasrployment benefit obligation by $0.6 million atdaenber 3!
2013.

We cannot predict whether changing market or ecamaonditions, regulatory changes or other facteils further increase our retir
health care expenses or obligations, diverting $umd would otherwise apply to other uses.

Our financial results are likely to be negativelynpacted by an impairment of goodwill should our skholder equity exceed our market
capitalization for a number of quarters.

A goodwill impairment charge may be triggered bgeduction in actual and projected cash flows, whichld be negatively impacted
the market price of our common shares. Our goodvélhnce at December 31, 2013 was $88.8 milliory Peguired norcash impairmel
charge could significantly reduce this balance lzenek a material impact on our reported financiaitan and results of operations.

A major portion of our bank debt consists of varig-rate obligations, which subjects us to interestedluctuations.

Our credit facilities are secured by substantiallyof our assets (other than norining real property and certain other assets). v@rking
capital line of credit includes variabtate obligations, which expose us to interest riates. If interest rates increase, our debt serghd@ation:
on our variableate indebtedness would increase even if the ammymowed remained the same, resulting in a deerigasur net income. V
have developed a hedging program to manage theaidociated with interest rate fluctuations, butgsogram may not effectively eliminate
of the financial exposure associated with interast fluctuations. Additional information regardingr market risks is contained in Item 7/
this Form 10-K.

We may be unable to access the financial marketdarorable terms.

The inability to raise capital on favorable termarticularly during times of uncertainty in thedimcial markets, could impact our ability
sustain and grow our business and would increaseapital costs. In particular, the substantialatitity in world capital markets due to
global economic crisis has had a significant negatnpact on the global financial markets.

We rely on access to financial markets as a sigamfi source of liquidity for capital requirements satisfied by cash on hand or opere
cash flow. Our access to the financial marketsacbel adversely impacted by various factors, incigdi

« changes in credit markets that reduce availablditove the ability to renew existing credit fadiis on acceptable terr
* adeterioration of our crec

« adeterioration in the financial condition of thenks with which we do busine

e extreme volatility in our markets that increasesgimaor credit requirements; a

» the collateral pledge of substantially all of ossets in connection with our existing indebtednessch limits our flexibility in raisini
additional capital.

These factors have adversely impacted our accefisetdinancial markets from time to time. Negatiwe uncertain global econon
conditions may make it difficult for us to accebe fcredit market and to obtain financing or reftiag, as the case may be, to the e
necessary, on satisfactory terms or at all.

Our failure to comply with the covenants contain@dthe terms of our indebtedness could result in ament of default, which could material
and adversely affect our operating results and durancial condition.

The terms of our credit facilities require us tangy with various covenants, including financialveaants. In the event of a glo
economic downturn, it could have a material advérggact on our earnings and cash flow, which caddersely affect our ability to com)
with our financial covenants and could limit ourtmaving capacity. Our ability to comply with thesevenants depends, in part, on factors
which we may have no control. A breach of any esthcovenants could result in an
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event of default under one or more of the agreesngaverning our indebtedness which, if not curedvaived, could give the holders of
defaulted indebtedness the right to terminate cdmenits to lend and cause all amounts outstanditiy respect to the indebtedness to be
and payable immediately. Acceleration of any of imgiebtedness could result in cross defaults uadeother debt instruments. Our assets
cash flow may be insufficient to fully repay boriiogs under all of our outstanding debt instrumehsome or all of these instruments
accelerated upon an event of default, in which easenay be required to seek legal protection fromapeditors.

The terms of our indebtedness may restrict our ggt@ns, including our ability to pursue our growthnd acquisition strategies.

The terms of our credit facilities contain a numbémestrictive covenants, including restrictiomsdur ability to, among other thin
borrow and make investments, acquire other buskseaad consign additional precious metals. Thesenemts could adversely affect
business by limiting our ability to plan for or otao market conditions or to meet our capital seext well as adversely affect our abilit
pursue our growth, acquisition strategies and ditrategic initiatives.

We may not be able to complete our acquisition sty or successfully integrate acquired businesses.

We have been active over the last several yeapsiisuing niche acquisitions. For example, we cotedl¢he acquisition of Aerospe
Metal Composites Ltd. in 2012 and EIS Optics Ltdl.2011. We intend to continue to consider furtheswgh opportunities through t
acquisition of assets or companies and routinelieve acquisition opportunities. We cannot predittether we will be successful in purst
any acquisition opportunities or what the consegasnof any acquisition would be. Future acquisitionay involve the expenditure
significant funds and management time. Dependiranupe nature, size and timing of future acquis&iove may be required to raise additi
financing, which may not be available to us on ptalele terms. Further, we may not be able to sgtudsintegrate any acquired business
our existing businesses or recognize any expecteahdages from any completed acquisition.

In addition, there may be liabilities that we fail, are unable, to discover in the course of perfiog due diligence investigations on
assets or companies we have already acquired oantpyre in the future. We cannot assure thatsighindemnification by the sellers of th
assets or companies to us, even if obtained, wiktforceable, collectible or sufficient in amouwstppe or duration to fully offset the poss
liabilities associated with the business or prgpadquired. Any such liabilities, individually an the aggregate, could have a materially ad
effect on our business, financial condition andiitesof operations.

Payment of dividends will depend on our future finaial condition and performance

Although our Board of Directors currently intendsdontinue the payment of regular quarterly casfiddnds on shares of our comn
stock, the timing and amount of future dividend$ dépend on the Board's assessment of our opesatimancial condition, projected liabilitir
our compliance with contractual restrictions in auedit agreement, restrictions imposed by applcddws and other factors. We car
guarantee that we will continue to declare divideatithe same or similar rates.

We are subject to fluctuations in currency exchangdes, which may negatively affect our financiakgormance.

A significant portion of our sales is conductedriternational markets and priced in currencies rothan the U.S. dollar. Revenues fi
customers outside of the United States (princip&ilyope and Asia) amounted to 31% of sales in 23186 in 2012 and 25% in 20:
Significant fluctuations in currency values relatito the U.S. dollar may negatively affect our ficial performance. In the past, fluctuation
currency exchange rates, particularly for the et the yen, have impacted our sales, margins rafitbpility. The fair value of our net liabili
relating to outstanding foreign currency contragés $0.1 million at December 31, 2013, indicatingt the average hedge rates were favo
compared to the actual yeand market exchange rates. While we may hedgewtercy transactions to mitigate the impact of ency pric
volatility on our earnings, hedging activities magt be successful. For example, hedging activitiey not cover the Comparsycomplet
exposure which could have an unfavorable impaduwiresults of operations.

Our products are deployed in complex applicatiormedamay have errors or defects that we find onlyeaftieployment.

Our products are highly complex, designed to beloyep in complicated applications and may contaidetected defects, errors
failures. Although our products are generally téstaring manufacturing, prior to deployment, they only be fully tested when deployec
specific applications. For example, we sell benyllicopper alloy strip products in a coil form to socustomers, who then stamp the alloy fc
specific purpose. On occasion, it is not until saostomer stamps the alloy that a defect in theya#i detected. Consequently, our custol
may discover errors after the products have beetoged. The occurrence of any defects, errorsaiures could result in installation dele
product returns, termination of contracts with oustomers, diversion of our resources, increasedcseand warranty costs and other loss:
our customers, end users or to us. Any of thesarmmaces could also result in the loss of, or délaynarket acceptance of our products
could damage our reputation, which could reducesales.
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Our business could be adversely impacted if we faibdequately address information security issues.

We have taken measures to protect the integrityuoftechnology infrastructure and the privacy affaential information. However, o
technology infrastructure is potentially vulneratite physical or electronic breaks, viruses or similar problems. If a person otitg
circumvents our security measures, they could jebpa the security of confidential information sdron our systems, misappropr
proprietary information or cause interruptions ir @perations. We may be required to make subateeiditional investments and efforts
protect against or remedy security breaches. Sgduneaches that result in access to confidenti@rination could damage our reputation
expose us to a risk of loss or liability.

We conduct our sales and distribution operations amvorldwide basis and are subject to the risksaasated with doing business outside the
United States.

We sell to customers outside of the United States four United States and international operatidvis.have been and are continuin
expand our geographic reach in Europe and Asign$its to customers outside of the United Stategusxted for approximately 31% of «
sales in 2013, 31% in 2012 and 25% in 2011. Weigiatie that international shipments will accountdasignificant portion of our sales for
foreseeable future. Revenue from international atp@rs (principally Europe and Asia) amounted tpragimately 18% of our sales in 20
16% in 2012 and 14% in 2011. There are a numbesksd associated with international business dw#iincluding:

« burdens to comply with multiple and potentially @ianting foreign laws and regulations, includingpaxt requirements, tariffs and ot
barriers, environmental health and safety requirgsand unexpected changes in any of these factors;

« difficulty in obtaining export licenses from the ited States Governme
« political and economic instability and disruptioms;luding terrorist attack

+ disadvantages of competing against companies framtdes that are not subject to U.S. laws andlatigns, including the Forei
Corrupt Practices Act (FCPA);

« potentially adverse tax consequences due to oyengpr differing tax structures; a

« fluctuations in currency exchange ra

Any of these risks could have an adverse effecbuminternational operations by reducing the demfandur products or reducing |
prices at which we can sell our products, whichld¢weasult in an adverse effect on our businessnfifal position, results of operations or ¢
flows.

In addition, we could be adversely affected by afioins of the FCPA and similar worldwide anti-bripé&aws. The FCPA and similar anti-
bribery laws in other jurisdictions generally prioihicompanies and their intermediaries from makingroper payments to ndd:S. officials fo
the purpose of obtaining or retaining business. ghlicies mandate compliance with these anthery laws. We operate in many parts of
world that have experienced governmental corruptiiosome degree and, in certain circumstancest soimpliance with antbribery laws ma
conflict with local customs and practices. We cdrassure you that our internal controls and progeialways will protect us from the reckl
or criminal acts committed by our employees or &geifiwe are found to be liable for FCPA violatiprwe could suffer from criminal or ci
penalties or other sanctions, which could have &nahadverse effect on our business.

Changes in laws or regulations or the manner of thanterpretation or enforcement could adversely jpact our financial performance and
restrict our ability to operate our business or exge our strategies.

New laws or regulations, or changes in existingslawregulations or the manner of their interpietabr enforcement, could increase
cost of doing business and restrict our abilityoperate our business or execute our strategies. ifitludes, among other things, the pos
taxation under U.S. law of certain income from fgreoperations, compliance costs and enforcemeth¢ruthe Dodd-rank Wall Street Refor
and Consumer Protection Act, and costs associatdd aemplying with the Patient Protection and Affable Care Act of 2010 and
regulations promulgated thereunder.

We are exposed to lawsuits in the normal coursédwos$iness, which could harm our business.

During the ordinary conduct of our business, we rbagome involved in certain legal proceedings,uditig those involving produ
liability claims, thirdparty lawsuits relating to exposure to berylliund ataims against us of infringement of intellectpedperty rights of thir
parties. Due to the uncertainties of litigation, @an give no assurance that we will prevail atabeclusion of future claims. Certain of th
matters involve types of claims that, if they résalan adverse ruling to us, could give rise tbssantial liability which could have a mate
adverse effect on our business, operating resuftaancial condition.
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We are presently uninsured for beryllium-relategimk where the claimantfitst exposure to beryllium occurred on or aftenuay 1
2008, and we have not undertaken to estimate tipadtmof any such claims, which have yet to be ssdetn addition, some jurisdictic
preclude insurance coverage for punitive damagerdswvaiccordingly, our profitability could be advehg affected if any current or futt
claimants obtain judgments for any uninsured coregtEmy or punitive damages. Further, an unfavorabtleome or settlement of a penc
beryllium case or adverse media coverage couldwgage the commencement of additional similar Itioya

Health issues, litigation and government regulatismelating to our beryllium operations could sigitantly reduce demand for our product
limit our ability to operate and adversely affeatioprofitability.

If exposed to respirable beryllium fumes, dustpawder, some individuals may demonstrate an atlesgction to beryllium and may la
develop a chronic lung disease known as chronigllhen disease, or CBD. Some people who are diaggagith CBD do not develop clinic
symptoms at all. In others, the disease can leaddring and damage of lung tissue, causing elisigmptoms that include shortness of bre
wheezing and coughing. Severe cases of CBD care chsebility or death.

Further, some scientists claim there is evidencanofissociation between beryllium exposure and damger, and certain standareking
organizations have classified beryllium and bemptlicompounds as human carcinogens.

The health risks relating to exposure to beryllihave been, and will continue to be, a significasue confronting the beryllium-
containing products industry. The health risks eisged with beryllium have resulted in product il claims, employee and thirgarty
lawsuits. As of December 31, 2013, we had two CBEes outstanding.

The increased levels of scrutiny by federal, statesign and international regulatory authoritiesiid lead to regulatory decisions rela
to the approval or prohibition of the use of bewyti-containing materials for various uses. Concerns OBD and other potential adverse he
effects relating to beryllium, as well as concemegarding potential liability from the use of béiyin, may discourage our customeuse of ou
beryllium-containing products and significantly uvee demand for our products. In addition, adversdiancoverage relating to our beryllium-
containing products could damage our reputatiocaoise a decrease in demand for beryllzontaining products, which could adversely a
our profitability.

Our bertrandite ore mining and beryllium-related mafacturing operations and some of our customersidinesses are subject to extensive
health and safety regulations that impose, and veitintinue to impose, significant costs and liaki#is, and future regulation could increase
those costs and liabilities or effectively prohilpitoduction or use of beryllium-containing products

We, as well as our customers, are subject to lagslating worker exposure to beryllium. Standaaiseikposure to beryllium are un
review by OSHA, the Department of Energy and byepth.S. and foreign governmental and private stahsletting organizations. One resul
these reviews will likely be more stringent worlsaffety standards. Some organizations, such asdlif@r@ia Occupational Health and Sai
Administration and the American Conference of Gawmeental Industrial Hygienists, have adopted staigldéinat are more stringent than
current standards of OSHA. The development, prdpmsadoption of more stringent standards may &ffeg/ing decisions by the users
beryllium-containing products. If the standards are made stoirggent and/or our customers or other downstresens decide to reduce their
of beryllium-containing products, our results of operationsjilliy and financial condition could be materiadlgiversely affected. The impac
this potential adverse effect would depend on titane and extent of the changes to the standdresost and ability to meet the new stand.
the extent of any reduction in customer use andrdtttors. The magnitude of this potential adveffect cannot be estimated.

Our bertrandite ore mining and manufacturing operiahs are subject to extensive environmental regidas that impose, and will continue
impose, significant costs and liabilities on us, &future regulation could increase these costs diabilities or prevent production of
beryllium-containing products.

We are subject to a variety of governmental reguratrelating to the environment, including thoskting to our handling of hazarde
materials and air and wastewater emissions. Someoemental laws impose substantial penalties fon-compliance. Others, such as
federal Comprehensive Environmental Response, Casagion, and Liability Act, or CERCLA, impose stricetroactive and joint and seve
liability upon entities responsible for releasedatardous substances. Bertrandite ore mining@ssalbject to extensive governmental reguli
on matters such as permitting and licensing reqmerds, plant and wildlife protection, reclamatiamdaestoration of mining properties,
discharge of materials into the environment andetffiects that mining has on groundwater quality amdilability. Future requirements co
impose on us significant additional costs or oltigyes with respect to our extraction, milling anegessing of ore. If we fail to comply w
present and future environmental laws and reguiatie could be subject to liabilities or our opierss could be interrupted. In addition, fut
environmental laws and regulations could restrigt @bility to expand our facilities or extract dugrtrandite ore deposits. These environm
laws and regulations could also require us to aeqastly equipment, obtain additional financiagwsance, or incur other significant expenst
connection with our business, which would increasecosts of production.
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Natural disasters, equipment failures, work stopgag bankruptcies and other unexpected events mag leur customers to curtail productic
or shut down their operations.

Our customersimanufacturing operations are subject to conditlmggnd their control, including raw material shges, natural disaste
interruptions in electrical power or other energyvices, equipment failures, bankruptcies, worlpgémges due to strikes or lockouts, inclui
those affecting the automotive industry, which e @f our major markets, and other unexpected sv€otr example, the tsunami that hit Je
in March 2011 caused widssale destruction of the Tohoku region and led matufacturers in the area, most notably thoshératitomotiv
and consumer electronics markets, to slow or haliyction. Similar events could also affect othgu@iers to our customers. Such events ¢
cause our customers to curtail production or td glown a portion or all of their operations, whiobuld reduce their demand for our prod
and reduce our sales.

Unexpected events and natural disasters at our nineld increase the cost of operating our business.

A portion of our production costs at our mine dxed regardless of current operating levels. Owarating levels are subject to conditi
beyond our control that may increase the cost afingifor varying lengths of time. These conditionslude, among other things, fire, nati
disasters, pit wall failures and ore processingigea. Our mining operations also involve the hawgdind production of potentially explos
materials. It is possible that an explosion co@lsuit in death or injuries to employees and others material property damage to third pa
and us. Any explosion could expose us to adverbéiqity or liability for damages and materially agely affect our operations. Any of th
events could increase our cost of operations.

Terrorist attacks and other acts of violence or way directly harm our operations.

Terrorist attacks or other acts of violence or weay directly impact our facilities. For exampley @&imore, Ohio facility is located ne
and derives power from, a nuclear power plant, Wwigiould be a target for a terrorist attack. In &ddj terrorist attacks, related armed conf
or prolonged or increased tensions in the Middlst Ba other regions of the world could cause corsuronfidence and spending to decre
decreasing demand for consumer goods that contaiiproducts. Further, when the United States arfoexs are involved in active hostilit
or largescale deployments, defense spending tends to fomous on meeting the physical needs of the troopd, @anned expenditures
weapons and other systems incorporating our predualy be reduced or deferred. Any of these occoesenould also increase volatility in
United States and worldwide financial markets, Wthdould negatively impact our sales.

Item 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.
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Item 2. PROPERTIES

We operate manufacturing plants, service and ddwdlities throughout the world. During 2013, we dreeffective use of our product
capacities at our principal facilities. We belighat the quality and production capacity of ouiilfées is sufficient to maintain our competiti
position for the foreseeable future. Informatiorod®ecember 31, 2013, with respect to our sigaififacilities that are owned or leased, ani
respective segments in which they are includesketiorth below:

Approximate

Number of
Location Owned or Leased Square Feet
Corporate and Administrative Offices
Mayfield Heights, Ohio (1)(2)(3)(5) Leased 79,00(
Manufacturing Facilities
Albuquerque, New Mexico (1) Owned/Leased 13,000/28,80
Bloomfield, Connecticut (1) Leased 23,40(
Brewster, New York (1) Leased 75,00(
Buellton, California (1) Leased 35,00(
Buffalo, New York (1) Owned 97,00(
Delta, Utah (2) Owned 86,00(
Elmore, Ohio (2)(3) Owned/Leased 681,000/191,0C
Farnborough, England (3) Leased 10,00(
Fremont, California (3) Leased 40,00(
Limerick, Ireland (1) Leased 18,00(
Lincoln, Rhode Island (4) Owned/Leased 130,000/12,00
Lorain, Ohio (2) Owned 55,00(
Milwaukee, Wisconsin (1) Owned 98,75(
Reading, Pennsylvania (2) Owned 123,00(
Santa Clara, California (1) Leased 5,80(
Shanghai, China (1) Leased 101,40(
Singapore (1) Leased 30,00(
Subic Bay, Philippines (1) Leased 5,00(
Suzhou, China (1) Leased 22,40(
Taipei, Taiwan (1) Leased 11,50(
Tucson, Arizona (3) Owned 53,00(
Tyngsboro, Massachusetts (1) Leased 38,00(
Westford, Massachusetts (1) Leased 78,00(
Wheatfield, New York (1) Owned 35,00(
Windsor, Connecticut (1) Leased 34,70(
Service and Distribution Centers
Elmhurst, Illinois (2) Leased 28,50(
Fukaya, Japan (2)(3)(4) Owned 35,50(
Reading, England (2)(3) Leased 9,70(
Singapore (2)(3)(4) Leased 2,50(
Stuttgart, Germany (2) Leased 24,80(
Tokyo, Japan (2)(3)(4) Leased 7,20(
Warren, Michigan (2) Leased 34,50(

(1) Advanced Material Technolog
(2) Performance Alloy

(3) Beryllium and Composit:

(4) Technical Material

(5) All Other
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In addition to the above, the Company holds cemaiimeral rights on 7,500 acres in Juab County, Wtaim which the berylliunbearing
ore, bertrandite, is mined by the open pit meti#odortion of these mineral rights are held undesé& Ore reserve data can be found in Iten
this Form 10-K.

Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Our subsidiaries and our holding company are stibfien time to time, to a variety of civil and adnstrative proceedings arising out
our normal operations, including, without limitatioproduct liability claims, health, safety and eammental claims and employmermtatec
actions. Among such proceedings are cases allghiaigplaintiffs have contracted, or have been mlaae risk of contracting, berylliu
sensitization or chronic beryllium disease or otherg conditions as a result of exposure to benylli(“beryllium cases”)The plaintiffs ir
beryllium cases seek recovery under negligencevaridus other legal theories and demand compensatat often punitive damages, in m
cases of an unspecified sum. Spouses of someifftaataim loss of consortium.

Beryllium Claims
As of December 31, 2013, our subsidiary, MaterioasB Inc., was a defendant in two beryllium caassjescribed more fully below.

As of December 31, 2012, there was one pendinglibenycase (involving two plaintiffs), and as of &@mber 31, 2013, there were -
beryllium cases (involving five plaintiffs).

During 2013, one beryllium case (involving threaiptiffs) was filed.

The Company is one of two defendants in a casénatly filed on September 25, 2012 in the CourtGafmmon Pleas of Philadelp
County, Pennsylvania titled Schwartz v. AccuratugpOration et al, and subsequently removed to the United Statesi@i€ourt for th
Eastern District of Pennsylvania (No. 12-6189).irRifi alleges that she contracted chronic berylidisease from “take-homefxposure
resulting from her husband’'s employment at faeiitiat the Company and of defendant Accuratus Corporation, and asserts clén
negligence and strict liability. She seeks compemgaand exemplary damages in unspecified amoundés. husband claims a loss
consortium.

The Company is one of five defendants in a case fin October 4, 2013 in the Superior Court ofStete of Arizona, Maricopa Coun
titted Parmar et al. v. Dolphin, Inc. et alCV 2013012980. One plaintiff alleges that he contractewic beryllium disease from exposures
resulted from his employment at manufacturing fieesl of Karsten Manufacturing Corporation (“Karsiein Arizona, and asserts claims
negligence, strict liability and fraudulent coneeaht. His wife claims a loss of consortium. Anotpkintiff alleges that he has been diagn
with beryllium sensitization that resulted from hesnployment at Karsten, and asserts a claim forigakdnonitoring. Plaintiffs see
compensatory and punitive damages and/or medicaitanmg in unspecified sums.

Item 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Information concerning mine safety violations ohet regulatory matters required by Section 1508fadhe DoddFrank Wall Stree
Reform and Consumer Protection Act and Item 10Regfulation S-K (17 CFR 229.104) is included in Bih®5 to this Form 10-K.
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PART II

Item 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOC KHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information and Dividends

The Company's common shares are listed on the Nawk Stock Exchange under the symbol “MTRMS of February 21, 2014, the
were 1,105 shareholders of record. The table bed@summary of the range of market prices witpeesto common shares during each qu
of fiscal years 2013 and 2012 and the dividend$aded per common share.

Stock Price Range

Fiscal Quarters High Low Dividends
2013
First $ 2981 $ 26.2( $ 0.07¢
Second 31.4¢ 24.5¢ 0.08(
Third 33.6¢ 27.0¢ 0.08(
Fourth 32.7: 25.7¢ 0.08(
2012
First $ 3291 $ 2477 $ —
Second 29.3i 20.3i 0.07¢
Third 25.57 17.5¢ 0.07¢
Fourth 25.9¢ 18.8¢ 0.07¢

We began paying dividends in June 2012. We exmepay cash dividends in the future, subject todhetinuing determination by c
Board of Directors that paying dividends remainthim best interest of our shareholders. The agnetsngeverning our credit facilities restrict
amount of cash dividends that we can pay. Any detetions by our Board of Directors to pay cashd#iads in the future will take into acco
various factors, including our financial conditioesults of operations, current and anticipatedh ceeds, plans for expansion and restric
under the agreements governing our credit fagliiad any agreement governing our future debt. $vaat provide assurance that divide
will be paid in the future or that, if paid, thevidiends will be at the same amount or frequency.
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Performance Graph

The following graph sets forth the cumulative shatder return on our common shares as comparduetoumulative total return of t
S&P SmallCap 600 Index and the Russell 2000 IndeMaterion Corporation is a component of thesecesli

200

Dolkare

Materion Cor

S&P SmallCap 600

Russell 2000

—CF— Materion ‘Cérporation
—é— Rssdl 3000
150 —+— 35D SmallCap 800 /
m W
o0 M/
a y v " y ,
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
poration $100 $34 $50 $104 $66 $70 $85
$100 $69 $87 $109 $110 $128 $182
$100 $66 $84 $107 $102 $119 $165

The above graph assumes that the value of our conginares and each index was $100 on December 87, &l that all applicak
dividends were reinvested.
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Item 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Materion Corporation and Subsidiaries

(Thousands except per share data) 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
For the year
Net sales $ 1,166,88. $ 1,273,000 $ 1,526,73 $ 1,302,31. % 715,18t
Cost of sales 978,90: 1,074,29! 1,311,40! 1,079,66! 623,76-
Gross margin 187,97¢ 198,78: 215,32: 222,641 91,42:
Operating profit (loss) 26,83: 36,77t 57,07¢ 73,63 (29,489
Interest expense - net 3,03¢ 3,13¢ 2,81: 2,66¢ 1,29¢
Income (loss) before income taxes 23,79¢ 33,64: 54,26¢ 70,96¢ (20,789
Income taxes (benefit) 4,08¢ 8,97¢ 14,28" 24,54 (8,429
Net income (loss) 19,70" 24,66¢ 39,97¢ 46,42 (12,359
Earnings per share of common stock:
Basic 0.9¢ 1.21 1.9¢ 2.2¢ (0.67)
Diluted 0.94 1.1¢ 1.9: 2.2t (0.61)

Dividends per share of common stock 0.31¢ 0.22¢ — — —
Depreciation and amortization 42,32¢ 37,69¢ 44,19 35,93 32,36¢
Capital expenditures 27,84¢ 34,08¢ 28,18 42,31 44.17:
Mine development expenditures 4,77¢ 10,57: 56C 11,34¢ 80¢
Year-end position
Working capital 265,48 251,92: 231,23( 208,36! 140,48:
Ratio of current assets to current liabiliti 3.1to 1] 27t0: 27t0: 24t0° 20to:
Property and equipment:

At cost $ 782,87¢ $ 779,788 % 752,72t  $ 719,95. % 665,36!

Cost less depreciation, amortization

and depletion 261,89: 272,54. 263,39¢ 265,86! 227,76t
Total assets 777,94! 814,91 772,10: 735,411 621,95:
Long-term liabilities 153,29¢ 203,33 184,14: 157,57: 131,63(
Long-term debt 29,26 44,88( 40,46 38,30¢ 8,30t
Shareholders’ equity 463,32: 414,99! 405,98: 384,35t 339,85!

Weighted-average number of shares of
stock outstanding:

Basic 20,57 20,41¢ 20,36 20,28: 20,19:
Diluted 20,89t 20,67¢ 20,75« 20,59( 20,19:

Capital expenditures shown above include amourgatspnder government contracts for which reimbuesgmwere received from 1
government in the amounts of $1.0 million in 2082.4 million in 2011, $21.9 million in 2010 and $28nillion in 2009.

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Item 7. MANAGEMENT’ S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

OVERVIEW

We are an integrated producer of hjggrformance advanced engineered materials used/amiety of electrical, electronic, thermal i
structural applications. Our products are sold intmnerous markets, including consumer electronigdystrial components and commer
aerospace, automotive electronics, defense andcscimedical, energy, telecommunications infrasitinecand appliance.

Sales of $1.2 billion in 2013 were 8% lower thalesaf $1.3 billion in 2012, with the majority die decline due to the pafsough o
lower metal prices. Shipments into the automotieeteonics, medical and energy markets improve20ib3 over 2012, but these improvem
were more than offset by softer shipments for d&feand science, industrial components and comnharriaspace, and consumer electronics.

Gross margin of $188.0 million declined in 2013nfr@012 as a result of lower yields and manufactueifiiciencies, primarily within o
precious metal operations, an unfavorable shiftraduct mix and other factors.

During 2013, we completed the consolidation of savef our smaller operations under a program weanced and started in 2012. Tt
actions were designed to improve operating effities and customer service, while reducing operadimg) overhead costs over the long t
One-time costs to implement the facility consoliciaiplan totaled $6.0 million in 2013.

As a result of the lower gross margin and the itgcdonsolidation costs, as well as an increasesgearch and development cost:
support key technology projects), operating praéiclined from $36.8 million in 2012 to $26.8 mitlian 2013. Diluted earnings per share v
$0.94 in 2013 and $1.19 in 2012.

Cash flow from operations was a solid $75.9 millior2013, including $37.4 million in the fourth qter 2013. Total debt was redu
$29.5 million in 2013. We increased the quarterlyidend beginning in the second quarter 2013 and $&.5 million in dividends 1
shareholders during the year.

During the second quarter 2013, we secured a neghieg credit facility to replace the existing iy that was scheduled to mature
2016. The borrowing capacity is $50.0 million higlaad the borrowing spreads are lower under the faeilty than they were under the pi
facility. The new facility matures in 2018. In 2Q18e also renewed our precious metal consignmees liextending the maturity dates out f
one to three years.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

(Millions except per share data) 2013 2012 2011

Net sales $ 1,166.¢ $ 1,273 $ 1,526.
Value-added sales 609.1 615.¢ 646.5
Operating profit 26.¢ 36.¢ 57.1
Income before income taxes 23.¢ 33.¢ 54.%
Net income 19.7 240 40.C
Diluted earnings per share 0.94 1.1¢ 1.9:

Saleswere $1.2 billion in 2013, a decline of $106.2 ioill, or 8%, from sales of $1.3 billion in 2012. &aln 2012 were $253.6 million,
17%, lower than sales of $1.5 billion in 2011. Hades comparisons between years were affectedebyatbgthrough of lower metal prices, 1
discontinuation of a non-strategic product linearagres in the use of customer-supplied metal, nedyat development and market demand.

The costs of gold, silver, platinum, palladium agper are typically passed through to customedls taerefore, movements in the pri
of these metals will affect sales, but may not haygoportionate impact on margins. Internally, m&nage our business on a vahdsled sale
basis. Value-added sales is a non-GAAP measuredédiicts the cost of these p#sssugh metals from sales and removes the pot
distortion caused by differences in metal valudd.séalue-added sales were $609.1 million in 20&&pared to $615.6 million in 2012. Value-
added sales in 2012 were 5% lower than value-adaies of $646.5 million in 2011. A reconciliatiohsales to value&dded sales is providec
a later section of this Management’s Discussion/amalysis.

Value-added sales to tllensumer electronics markebur largest market accounting for approximatéi%o2of our total valuedded sale
in 2013, were 3% lower in 2013 than in 2012 and la%er in 2012 than 2011. The decline in vahdded sales in 2013 was due to Ic
shipments of precious metal products offset in pgrincreased shipments of various products foriggraystems and advanced chemical:
LED applications. Valuedded sales in 2012 were 1% lower than 2011 dimwer precious metal sales for microelectronicsliappions offse
in part by the impact of the acquisition of EIS opt_imited (EIS) late in 2011.

End-use applications for our materials in the cameuelectronics market include cell phones, tabgming systems and other hawmele
devices and the market's demand for increased paneminiaturization in these applications favdies tise of our higiperformance materia
As a material supplier, we sell to stamping houses subassembly shops so we are several steps removedteofinal consumer. Our sales
this market in a given period, therefore, are affddy downstream inventory levels and productidredules and changes in market share «
intermediaries within the supply chain and not sea€ly by changes in sales of the final produdnazonsumer demand in that period. W
our marketing staffs work closely with various demagenerators to develop new applications, teclyiedocan be closely guarded
competitive reasons and we may lose applicatiom® fiime to time due to rapid changes in technokgied applications that have short
spans.

Value-added sales to thefense and science markedre approximately 6% lower in 2013 than in 20112e Tall-off resulted from a declit
in value-added sales of optics, largely due to guwent delays and spending cuts, offset in padrbincrease in valuadded sales of berylliv
materials. Defense and science value-added sal31i were approximately 10% lower than vahdagled sales in 2011 as shipments of o
and beryllium products declined driven mainly bygamment budget cuts and the impact of the seqiEstr Valueadded sales to the defe
and science market accounted for approximately @fiétir total value-added sales in 2013.

Industrial components and commercial aerospace starklueadded sales softened approximately 4% in 2013 0aP after growin
8% in 2012 over 2011. Valuedded sales for commercial aerospace applicatimopsoved in 2013, but this growth was more thanebffs,
declines in other industrial applications, incluglix-ray windows. The growth in 2012 was driven ligher valueadded sales of materials
heavy equipment, as a result of product developmetitmarket penetration efforts, and improved gerws market conditions.

Medical markevalue-added sales improved 11% in 2013 over 2012 andh42012 over 2011 due to increased sales for blbgmbge stri
applications. Value-added sales of other mateiiats this market declined in both 2013 and 2012 dMa& market value&dded sales we
approximately 10% of our total value-added sale20ih3.

Energy markevalueadded sales grew 5% in 2013 over 2012 after sofge®io in 2012 from 2011. The growth in 2013 wagedy due t
higher valueadded sales for oil and gas applications in thersgdalf of the year from improved market condii@as the rig count increas
The lower value-added sales in 2012 were due tchné in the oil and gas rig count and
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weaker conditions in the solar energy sector. Teegy market represented approximately 8% of diat t@lue-added sales in 2013.

Value-added sales to tlaeitomotive electronicearket grew at a doubMgigit rate in 2013 over 2012 after declining slighih 2012 fron
2011. The growth in 2013 was due to a combinatfomproved market conditions in the U.S. and Eurap@v product development and o
factors. The decline in 2012 was largely due téescfales for an optics application. Valdded sales to this market accounted for approgig
11% of our total value-added sales.

As part of our product rationalization actions, exéted the silver investment bar business in 20h% nonstrategic product line genera
extremely low margins that could not support theoamted level of working capital and overhead sTdgtion resulted in a reduction of sale
approximately $9.3 million in 2013 from 2012 and4$ million in 2012 from 2011 with an immaterial pact on valuexdded sales a
profitability.

The acquisitions of Aerospace Metal Composites tath{AMC) in the first quarter 2012 and EIS in floerth quarter 2011 had a mit
impact on the comparison of sales and value-adaled ;1 2012 versus 2011.

Our sales are affected by metal prices, as changt® prices we pay for precious metals and varioaise metals, primarily copper,
generally passed on to our customers. The averaggsgor the metals we purchased in 2013 and 282 lower than the respective prior y
The net change in metal prices resulted in an estth$85.7 million decrease in sales in 2013 fr@h22and accounted for the majority of
reduction in sales for the year. The net changeétal price pasthirough accounted for an estimated $5.3 milliorrel@se in sales in 2012 fr
2011.

Gross marginwas$188.0 million, or 16% of sales, in 2013, $198.8ion, or 16% of sales, in 2012 and $215.3 million,14% of sales
2011. Gross margin was 31% of value-added sal2818, 32% of value-added sales in 2012 and 33%loEvadded sales in 2011.

Lower manufacturing yields and an unfavorable cleaingproduct mix within our precious metal operasiaccounted for the majority
the gross margin decline in 2013. Manufacturingdficiencies in our ElImore, Ohio strip manufacturiogerations also contributed to the dec
Inefficiencies and inconsistent production outpomtihued from the new beryllium facility in 2013 #sdid in 2012, but improvements wi
made throughout the year. We also made manufagturiprovements at our Lincoln, Rhode Island fagilit 2013.

Improved pricing in portions of our business pr@dda margin benefit in both 2013 and 2012, whike ldwer valueadded sales volur
reduced margins in both years. The cost of berii@iode was higher and had a negative impact ossgrargin in 2013 and 2012 as compar:
the respective prior years.

The 2013 gross margin was reduced by net quamnésigical inventory adjustments totaling $2.2 miiliat the Albuguerque, New Mexi
facility within the Advanced Material Technologissgment. The majority of this loss was recordeithénfirst quarter 2013. The gross margi
2012 was also reduced by a net physical inventdjysément of $7.4 million recorded in the fourthager at the Albugquerque facility. Physi
inventories were taken at this facility in the fiasnd second quarters in 2012 that resulted im@aeed net short of $0.2 million.

We believe that a portion, which may have beergaifstant portion, of the inventory loss at Albuggee may be due to theft. We h
filed an insurance claim and discussions with tieiiance carrier were ongoing as of the first gn&2014. Since the amount of any reco
was still uncertain, an insurance recoverable veasatorded in 2013 or 2012 and the benefit fromiasurance proceeds will be recorded
future period. Shipments to customers were nottdteby the physical inventory losses.

The acquisitions of EIS and AMC provided additiogedss margin dollars in 2012 over 2011. The changeoduct mix was favorable
2012 partially due to higher sales of precious mataducts for medical applications and pure baml metal products that generally gene
higher margins. Improved yields on nickel produgtmerated a margin benefit in 2012 compared to .20h& comparison of gross marg
between 2012 and 2011 was also affected by a metanable inventory valuation adjustment of $3.#ion recorded in the fourth quarter 20:

The annual expense on the domestic defined bgrexfion plan was $13.3 million in 2013, $9.8 millio 2012 and $8.0 million in 201
The increase in the pension expense in 2013 an? @@dr the respective prior years was due to claimgthe discount rate, the performanc
the plan assets and other factors and affectedafosdles, selling, general and administrative egpe and, to a lesser extent, researcl
development expenses. See “Critical Accountingdred! below.

During 2013 and 2012, we took steps to consolidatesral of our smaller operations, rationalize puaduct lines and reduce overh
costs. Specifically:
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« We shut down our microelectronics packaging busiedMlassachusetts and transferred the operatio8ngapore in order to mc
effectively serve our customer base in Asia. Thecegion and customer qualifications were complétetthe third quarter 2013;

* We shut down the precision cleaning facility in tBeech Republic in the fourth quarter 2012. Thestaxy customer base is n
serviced from our Irish operations. The Czech dpmrdnad been unprofitable;

« The majority of the ongoing operations at our apfiacility in Buellton, California were transferréd our Westford, Massachust
operations in the fourth quarter 2013. Buellohusiness had declined due to changes in markditimms and we had excess capa
The Buellton operations remained open on a redbest to service a key application with one custofanpower reductions we
also made at the Westford and Shanghai, Chinatfesiin efforts to right-size the optics operapn

« The Albuquerque operations were consolidated froun feased facilities into two in the fourth quar®13 in order to improve wa
flow and manufacturing efficiencies. Portions df thperations were also transferred to our Whediftiééw York facility; and

« Manpower reductions were made in the managemenpgrbthe Advanced Material Technologies segmetheénfourth quarter 2013
order to reduce costs and streamline the operations

Costs associated with these actions, includingraeee, equipment writeffs, equipment relocations and other related itetsled $6.
million in 2013, with $1.8 million recorded in cost sales, $2.8 million recorded in selling, geherad administrative expense and $1.4 mi
in othernet expense. Related costs for these actions dogdl& million in 2012 with $1.6 million recorded ¢ost of sales, $1.6 million recorc
in selling, general and administrative expense $hé million recorded in otheret expense. These actions resulted in a reduictiercess ¢
200 employees, or approximately 7% of our total kvimrce. All of the facilities affected by thesetians are within our Advanced Matel
Technologies segment.

Selling, general and administrative (SG&A) expendetaled $133.3 million (11% of sales) in 2013, $B3&iillion (11% of sales) in 20:
and $131.4 million (9% of sales) in 2011. SG&A expes were 22% of value-added sales in 2013 and &0d20% of valuadded sales
2011.

The incentive compensation expense on plans thainpeash was $0.5 million lower in 2013 than iM2Gand $3.5 million lower in 20
than in 2011. The changes in the annual expensesbpatyears were caused primarily by the performaftee individual operations relative
their plans’ objectives. Stodkased compensation expense, including the expenstoick appreciation rights, restricted stock padormanc
restricted shares, was $5.7 million in 2013, $5iian in 2012 and $5.0 million in 2011. The comjsan of stockbased compensation expe
between years may be affected by changes in plaigrdethe number of grants in a given year, acpgaformance relative to the plans’
objectives, movement in our stock price, forfeigjneesting schedules and other factors.

Various corporate costs increased in 2013 over 201Rin 2012 over 2011. A portion of the highertsagas due to various initiativi
including a new centralized procurement functiomattare designed to produce Iolegm savings and improve profitability across
organization. Other costs increased in 2013, inetyddministration, legal, information technologydebusiness development, in order to suj
a more diverse organization. Corporate costs alsloded legal and investigation expenses associgtbdthe Albuquerque inventory loss ¢
the related insurance claim totaling $1.3 milliar2D13.

SG&A savings from the plant consolidations andtezlafforts totaled an estimated $2.9 million i120
Expenses incurred by EIS and AMC subsequent to dleguisitions increased SG&A expenses by $5.Janilh 2012 over 2011.

Legal, administrative and marketing expenses aatgutiwith the change of our name to Materion Cafpam in the first quarter 20
totaled $3.9 million in 2011. One-time acquisiticated expenses for legal, accounting and dugeditie services totaled $1.8 million in 2011.

Research and development (R&D) expensgese $13.4 million in 2013, a 7% increase from ¢lxpense of $12.5 million in 2012. R¢
expenses totaled $11.1 million in 2011. R&D expensgere over 1% of sales in 2013 compared to less 16 of sales in the prior two yei
R&D expenses were approximately 2% of vaauzled sales for all three years presented. Thehigtpense in 2013 as compared to 201Z2
largely due to increased activity in our beryllilmased business segments on key projects for fates growth. The majority of the increas
the expense in 2012 over 2011 was primarily du¢ghtoexpenses incurred by EIS after its acquisit@aor R&D staff works closely wit
production engineers, sales engineers and markétingupport the development of new products andicgtipns as well as to ma
improvements in the current product portfolio.

Other-net expensetaled $14.5 million in 2013, $15.6 million in ZD&and $15.8 million in 2011. See Note N to the @tidated Financi:
Statements for the details of the major componeintgher-net expense for each of the three years. |
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addition to the previously discussed charges rexbiid conjunction with the plant consolidation efép the major differences in othee:
expense between the years include the following:

The metal consignment fee was $1.8 million lowerR013 than in 2012 and $0.9 million lower in 20hart in 2011, mainly due
differences in the rate charged by the financisiiintions and the value of the metal on hand.

Other-net in 2013 included orniene bank fees of $0.9 million associated with terewal of the metal consignment facilities in thied
quarter 2013.

The net foreign currency exchange and translatonsgotaled $1.5 million in both 2013 and 2012 panad to net losses of $2.8 millior
2011. These gains and losses result from moventetite value of the U.S. dollar versus other cuiesy primarily the euro and yen, and
related impact on certain foreign currency denoteith@ssets, liabilities and transactions and thenaof foreign currency hedge contracts.

Othernet in 2011 included a $1.3 million benefit frone tfavorable resolution of a lawsuit that we haddikhgainst a utility provider f
raising our billing rates in violation of our coatt. In the fourth quarter 2011, the court ruleaim favor and we received $1.3 million in-
satisfaction of our claim. Otheret in 2011 also included a $1.1 million benefdtthesulted from our determination that the renmgjriair valu
of the earn-out liability associated with the asition of Barr Associates, Inc. in 2009 was zero.

Operating profitwas $26.8 million (2% of sales) in 2013 comparefi36.8 million (3% of sales) in 2012 and $57.1 iwill (4% of sales) |
2011. The lower profit in 2013 was largely due e tecline in gross margin as a result of manufagiunefficiencies and other operat
factors. The $20.3 million decline in profitability 2012 was due to the lower gross margin as @ltre$ the reduced volumes, the phys
inventory differences and other factors, the chargeorded for the plant consolidations and hi@®&A expenses. Operating profit was 49
value-added sales in 2013, 6% of value-added sal%12 and 9% of value-added sales in 2011.

Interest expense - netias $3.0 million in 2013, $3.1 million in 2012 afi@d.8 million in 2011. The lower expense in 2013utesl fron
lower average outstanding debt levels offset irt pgra higher average borrowing rate. The increasexpense in 2012 over 2011 was
primarily to higher average debt levels and, tessér extent, an increase in the average borraatag

Income before income taxeandincome tax expenstor each of the past three years were as follows:

(Millions) 2013 2012 2011
Income before income taxes $ 238 % 33€ % 54.2
Income tax expense 4.1 9.C 14.:
Effective tax rate 17.2% 26.71% 26.2%

The effects of percentage depletion (a tax bemeBulting from our mining operations), foreign smurincome and deductions,
production deduction, discrete events and othersterere major causes of the differences betweeafteetive and statutory rates in each of
three years.

The research and experimentation credit providistk &enefit in 2011, but this credit was not exeshdly the federal government for 2
until January 2013. Accounting regulations requiseto record tax expense based upon the lawseéntedf the end of the year and, even thi
the research and experimentation credit was usedeétarmine our actual liability on our 2012 taxuret the 2012 benefit of this credit was
recorded in our Consolidated Statement of Incomé 2613. The effective tax rate in 2013 also imga the benefit of this credit for 2(
activity.

Tax expense included net favorable discrete itestading $1.4 million in 2013, $0.3 million in 201&hd $2.0 million in 2011. Discre
items included reductions to the tax reserves dukd lapse of the statute of limitations and adjesits to the respective prior yeatax return
in each of these three years. Discrete items ir83 2040 included the favorable impact from filingamended return for a prior period while
2012 discrete items included the impact of a chamdiee Japanese tax rates on the carrying valeertdin deferred tax assets.

See Note Q to the Consolidated Financial Statenfentsreconciliation of the statutory and effeetiax rates.

Net incomewas $19.7 million, or $0.94 per share diluted ii20compared to $24.7 million, or $1.19 per shaeet!, in 2012 and $4C
million, or $1.93 per share diluted, in 2011.
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Segment Disclosures

Results by segment are shown in Note M to the Gmaged Financial Statements. TAd Other column in Note M includes our par
company expenses, other corporate charges andpmating results of Materion Services Inc., a whalivned subsidiary, that provic
administrative and financial oversight servicesto other businesses on a cost-plus basis.

The All Other column shows an operating loss o6$illion in 2013 versus $6.6 million in 2012 antd$l million in 2011.

Costs incurred increased in 2013 over 2012 dubedegal and administrative expenses associatddtigt investigation of the poten
Albuquerque theft, an increase in the expense etedowith longterm compensation plans, the consolidation andresipa of the procureme
department at the corporate office and increasepémding in other corporate support functions.s€hiacreases were more than offset b
increase in charges to the units.

The reduction in the loss in 2012 from 2011 wastdude costs associated with the company namegehiacurred in 2011 and an incre
in costs charged to the units offset in part bynarease in various corporate costs and otherr&cto

Advanced Material Technologies

(Millions) 2013 2012 2011
Net sales $ 7442 % 847.¢ % 1,051.¢
Value-added sales 270.C 278.t 278.(
Operating profit 4.7 16.7 33.t

Advanced Material Technologiemanufactures precious, n@necious and specialty metal products, includingovadeposition targe
frame lid assemblies, clad and precious metal pmefp high temperature braze materials, Uitma- wire, advanced chemicals, opt
performance coatings and microelectronic packadémse products are used in wireless, semicondugtootonic, hybrid and oth
microelectronic applications within the consumercaionics and telecommunications infrastructureketar Other key markets for these prod
include medical, defense and science, energy ahdgiral components. Advanced Material Technologiee has metal cleaning operations
in-house refineries that allow for the reclaim a@eg@ous metals from internally generated or custsimgcrap. This segment has dome
facilities in New York, Connecticut, Wisconsin, Né#exico, Massachusetts and California and inteonai facilities in Asia and Europe.

Sales from Advanced Material Technologies of $74dillon in 2013 were $103.6 million, or 12%, lowran sales of $847.8 million
2012. Sales in 2012 declined $204.0 million, or 18%m sales of $1.1 billion in 2011.

We adjust our selling prices to reflect the price pay for the precious and various mrecious metals sold. Metal prices on average
lower in 2013 than 2012 and we estimate that thetanetal price pasbrough accounted for approximately $82.7 millidritee $103.6 milliol
decline in sales in 2013. Metal prices were slighigher in 2012 than 2011 and the metal price-fiasigh increased sales by approxime
$3.2 million in 2012 from 2011. The previously dissed discontinuation of investment bar sales la@déhpact of changes in custonsemppliet
metal flowed through this segment’s sales.

Value-added sales from Advanced Material Technologiegedt$270.0 million in 2013, $278.5 million in 204@d $278.0 million in 201

Value-added sales to the consumer electronics marke¢atssd 1% in 2013 from 2012 after growing 9% in 261&r 2011. The majori
of the sales into the consumer electronics market this segment are vapor deposition targets, Wite, optics, other related precious and non-
precious metal products and advanced chemicakefoiconductors and other microelectronic applicatid hese materials are used in wire
LED, handheld devices and other applications as agein a number of applications within the defeard science market. Since we are an up
front material supplier, changes in our consumectebnics sales levels do not necessarily corresgonchanges in the entse consum
demand in the same period due to down stream iarepbsitions, the time to develop and deploy neadpcts and manufacturing lead tir
and scheduling. While our product and market deprakent efforts allow us to capture new applicatioms,may lose existing applications
customers from time to time due to the rapid chaingechnologies and other factors. Consumer alpits is this segmerst’'largest marke
accounting for over 35% of the total value-addddssian 2013.

Value-added sales of precious metal products into theuwoar electronics market were down slightly in 28&fpared to 2012, primar
for LED, data storage and semiconductor applicatidine decline in precious metal valgded sales to the consumer electronics marke
partially offset by increased sales of optics awdaaced chemicals in 2013. The growth in opticuueradded sales resulted from
development of a gesture control application inamigpg system by EIS, our Shanghai, China operatfatue-added sales of our advan
chemicals for LEDs increased in 2013 over 2012tdwhanges in technology
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and product development activities. Total vaulled sales of advanced chemicals, which are peddatcour Wisconsin facility and are ¢
used in optics, security, photovoltaic and othediaptions, improved 16% in 2013 over 2012.

The growth in consumer electronics vahaided sales in 2012 was largely due to the acmuisif EIS late in 2011. In addition to gam
applications, EIS manufactures optical coatings r@feted products for projection display and ottedated applications. Offsetting a portior
this growth from the EIS acquisition in 2012 wadegline in precious metal value-added sales for lagplications.

Value-added sales to the medical market increadétl ih 2013 over 2012 and 17% in 2012 over 2011. Mlagority of this segmerd’
value-added sales into the medical market are goecprecious metaloated polymer films for blood glucose test stigplecations. The grow
in both years was largely due to application dgwelent efforts and share gains within the existingt@mer base. A portion of the growtt
2013 was due to increased shipments to a key cestasna result of a quality problem encounteredri®/of our competitors with that custon
as we were able to increase production to meetttira demand. This additional growth may not tstagnable in future periods depending L
the performance of our competitor. Valagded sales also grew in 2012 over 2011 due torgebig expansion efforts. The medical ma
accounted for approximately 20% of Advanced Matdrechnologies’ value-added sales in 2013.

Value-added sales to the defense market declined appatedy22% in 2013 from 2012 and 12% in 2012 fro220The majority of th
decline was due to lower sales of optics as atre§glovernment spending patterns and cutbackslddseof a government defense contract
key customer was a main driver behind our decigdaronsolidate the small optical coating operatoBuellton.

Value-added sales to the telecommunications infrastractunrd energy markets improved by minor amountsOib32over 2012 aft
declining in 2012 from 2011.

Refine and chamber cleaning valagded sales declined slightly in 2013 from 2012igllr as a result of the lower precious metal s
reducing the value of the metal that we retaineghaas of the standard pricing arrangements with reine customersRefine and chamb
cleaning value-added sales was lower in 2012 th&011 in part due to the lower business levethanowelosed Czech operation. Refin
value-added sales can be affected by the quarititietal on the market available to be reclaimed.

Advanced Material Technologies generated a grosgimaf $93.6 million in 2013 (13% of sales), $1®4illion in 2012 (12% of sale
and $112.2 million (11% of sales) in 2011. Grossgimawas 35% of value-added sales in 2013, 37%abfeadded sales in 2012 and 409
valueadded sales in 2011. The previously discussed plamsolidation costs affected the comparison ofginarbetween years within tl
segment.

The $10.6 million decline in gross margins in 2@:8n 2012 was due in part to the lower vahdsded sales in 2013. The decline in g
margin in 2013 was also caused in part by physinedntory losses and lower manufacturing yieldsum precious metal operations, incluc
the refining and shield kit cleaning operations.

The change in product mix was unfavorable in 20dBgared to 2012 and contributed to the lower gnesigin dollars. Due to competiti
pricing pressures, new applications generally ggedpwer margins than the applications they replparticularly in precious metal produ
Our selling prices typically include a small spreaetr the cost of the precious metal and the madeibf this spread can vary based on va
factors, including the market price of the metdtiqavhich on average was lower in 2013 than in 20l addition, margins generated by
refining and shield kit cleaning operations weredo due to the impact of the lower market pricesttus metal that we retain as part of
standard pricing arrangements with our customenes@& negative mix factors more than offset the fitsrfeom the increase in highenargir
medical value-added sales in 2013.

The decline in gross margin dollars in 2012 fromiR2@vas largely due to the physical inventory lasshie fourth quarter 2012 at -
Albuquerque facility. This was partially offset liye benefits from owning EIS for a full year, lowmanufacturing overhead expenses a
favorable change in product mix, which resultedvfrthe increase in medical market value-added saldsa decline in investment bar value-
added sales in 2012 as compared to 2011.

SG&A, R&D and othemet expenses were $88.9 million (12% of salesPitBZompared to $87.5 million (10% of sales) in2ahd $78.
million (7% of sales) in 2011. These expenses 888 of value-added sales in 2013, 31% of value-dddées in 2012 and 28% of valaddel
sales in 2011The expense totals included $4.2 million of plaosolidation costs in 2013 and $3.2 million in 2@k®l the resulting savings
$2.9 million in 2013. Significantly larger benefése expected to be generated from these actid2li.

Precious metal consignment fees decreased $1iémriill 2013 from 2012 after declining $0.9 million2012 than in 2011. This segment’
portion of the one-time bank fee associated withektended consignment facilities totaled $0.4iomilin 2013.
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Incentive compensation expense was $0.5 milliorhdrign 2013 than in 2012 and $2.5 million lower2612 than in 2011 due
differences in performance relative to the plastgectives. R&D costs were relatively unchangeas£2013, 2012 and 2011. Corporate chi
were $1.3 million higher in 2013 than in 2012 add7$million higher in 2012 than 2011. Various sgjliand administrative expenses increas
2013 over 2012 due to various projects, inflatiod ather factors.

A full year of owning EIS was a main cause for therease in expenses in 2012 over 2011. The expetalein 2011 included ti
previously discussed $1.1 million favorable adjwstiof earn-out liability from an earlier acquisiti

Operating profit generated by Advanced Materialhrexdogies of $4.7 million in 2013 was $12.0 millitower than operating profit
$16.7 million in 2012. The decline in operating fiiravas due to the lower gross margin as a restilthe reduced valuadded sale
manufacturing inefficiencies, the unfavorable cheing product mix and other factors, and the highgrenses caused by the additional |
consolidation costs and other items.

Operating profit was $16.8 million lower in 2012aththe operating profit of $33.5 million in 201 1edio the margin differences from
physical inventory losses, product mix shifts atiteo factors affecting gross margins and the iregén expenses. Operating profit was 1¢
sales in 2013, 2% of sales in 2012 and 3% of $al2811. Operating profit was also 2% of value-atigales in 2013, 6% of valaelded sales
2012 and 12% of value-added sales in 2011.

Performance Alloys

(Millions) 2013 2012 2011
Net sales $ 292 $ 292t % 335.:
Value-added sales 235.2 231.¢ 257.¢
Operating profit 23.4 24.C 27.2

Performance Alloysmanufactures and sells three main product families:

Strip products, the largest of the product families, include thgeuge precision strip and thin diameter rod ang.wihese copper a
nickel alloys provide a combination of high condwuty, high reliability and formability for use asonnectors, contacts, switches, rel
shielding and bearings. Major markets for stripdorcts include consumer electronics, telecommumicatinfrastructure, automotive electror
appliance and medical;

Bulk productsare copper and nick&lased alloys manufactured in plate, rod, bar, autzbother customized forms that, depending upc
application, may provide superior strength, coonsir wear resistance, thermal conductivity orikity. Applications for bulk products inclu
oil and gas drilling components, bearings, bushingsding rods, plastic mold tooling and undersgiadommunications housing equipm
Major markets for bulk products include industéamponents and commercial aerospace, energy awbtemunications infrastructure; and,

Beryllium hydroxidds produced at our milling operations in Utah froor bertrandite mine and purchased beryl ore. Haedxide is use
primarily as a raw material input for strip andloproducts and, to a lesser extent, by the Bemlland Composites segment. Sales of hydr«
are also made on a limited basis.

Strip and bulk products are manufactured at fédliin Ohio and Pennsylvania and are distributéermationally through a network
company-owned service centers and outside distniband agents.

Performance Alloyssales were $292.2 million in 2013 compared to safek?292.5 million in 2012. Sales in 2012 were $4illion, ol
13%, lower than sales of $335.3 million in 2011.

Strip product volumes shipped (as measured in puimdproved 2% in 2013 over 2012 after decliningolth 2012 from 2011. Tt
majority of the growth in 2013 was in the lower ylkum-containing strip alloys. Bulk product volumes deeli 2% in 2013 from 2012 and

in 2012 from 2011. While shipments of traditionalkballoys declined in 2013 and 2012 from the pyiear, shipments of ToughMet®, our non-

beryllium-containing bulk alloy, established rectiighs both years, although the growth rate wasnmeer in 2013 than it was in 2012.

Average selling prices increased in both 2013 &R 2over the prior year as a result of pricing ioy@ment programs, but the fore
currency translation impact on sales was unfaverabboth years.

Copper prices were lower on average in 2013 tha0it? and the lower metal price pasugh reduced sales by an estimated
million. Copper prices were also lower in 2012 tira2011 and the reduced copper price ghssdgh accounted for an estimated $8.4 millic
the decline in sales between periods.
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Value-added sales were $235.2 million in 2013, airdfrovement over the value-added sales of $231ll®min 2012. Valueadded sale
were $257.8 million in 2011.

Value-added sales to the automotive electronics markihapily strip products sold in North America andrBpe, grew approximate
20% in 2013 over 2012 and 7% in 2012 over 2011 assalt of improved market conditions and the depelent of new applications.
addition, increased consumer demand for highemaaitile quality has led to stronger demand for awdpcts in Europe in 2013. Automot
applications for Performance Alloys include under hood electronic connectors and other sensadrsatyaire a high degree of reliability.

Value-added sales into the energy market, primarily utdducts for oil and gas applications, grew 2% 042 over 2012 after declini
8% in 2012 from 2011. Valuadded sales to the oil and gas sector were stfongghout 2011 and into the first half of 2012, then decline
beginning in the third quarter 2012 due to a reidacin the rig count. Market conditions remainedt $o the first half of 2013 and improv
during the second half of 2013 and in the fourtartgr 2013 in particular. Our products are usedawnhole drilling tool, instrument housi
and related applications due to their high strengim-galling and non-magnetic characteristics.

Value-added sales to the consumer electronics mavkéch accounted for 20% of Performance Alloyatat valueadded sales, improv
5% in 2013 over 2012. This growth was due to neadpct development, including two gaming system igppbns, and a stronger mix a
result of increased sales of thinner gauge and bigher-priced materials.

The fall-off in Performance Alloys’ total valugdded sales in 2012 was largely due to weaker defioarstrip products from the consur
electronics and appliance markets. Vaaeled sales to the consumer electronics markanddcl 7% in 2012 from 2011. Our materials are
in the early stages of the manufacture of consiwetestronics products and our sales to the interaniedi typically are made well in advanci
the sale of the ultimate finished product to thastoner. After a strong first half of 2011, consumlerctronics sales softened in the seconc
of 2011 and then remained relatively flat through2012. Appliance sales declined approximately 4@%both 2013 and 2012 from
respective prior year. While the ende demand for appliance applications is in Euraggowing portion of the component manufacturgdn
Asia, where our products have been facing compaetftom lower-priced alloy systems.

Value-added sales to the industrial component amdntercial aerospace market, Performance Alldggjest market accounting
approximately 31% of the total value-added sale®0iti3, were relatively unchanged in 2013 as contber®012. In 2012, valuadded sales
this market grew approximately 13% over 2011. Dyr2®13, we changed distribution methods for ceriadtustrial component applicatic
from using independent distributors to direct salgsich had a negative impact on our sales as toviess were worked down. The commer
aerospace sector, which accounted for approximatedythird of this market’s total valslded sales, grew modestly in 2013 and offse
decline in industrial component sales. The growtlvalueadded sales to this market in 2012 over 2011 waelladue to increased sales
ToughMet® for heavy equipment and related applicetias a result of market penetration and prodeatidpment efforts.

Sales of hydroxide were unchanged in 2013 from 20i®2grew slightly in 2012 over 2011, but remairgdtively small at less than 4%
total Performance Alloy sales in all three yeaespnted.

Performance Alloys generated a gross margin ofébgtllion, or 23% of sales, in 201368.4 million, or 23% of sales, in 2012 and $
million, or 22% of sales, in 2011. Gross margin \28% of value-added sales in 2013, 30% of valuesddeles in 2012 and 29% of vakgde:
sales in 2011.

The $1.8 million reduction in gross margin in 2@t8npared to 2012 resulted in part from lower yieldd manufacturing performance
affected one product line at the Elmore facilitgriermance had stabilized by yesrd 2013 and we anticipate that yields will imprewel retur
to historical levels by the end of the first quag2614.

Gross margin was also negatively affected in 2G48rbincrease of approximately $0.8 million in bertrandite ore cost in 2013 over 2
due to the higher cost to remove the overburdeimgtine construction of our most recent open pitami

Manufacturing overhead costs at the Elmore facilitgreased approximately 10% in 2013, mainly fompwwver and outside servic
Overhead costs at the Reading, Pennsylvania faalbb increased in 2013.

The impact of the above items on gross marginspastially offset by pricing improvements, the sligincrease in volumes and a favor:
change in product mix in 2013.

The $6.2 million decline in gross margin in 201@nfr2011 was due to the $26.1 million reductionafue-added sales and a $1.8 mill
increase in the cost of bertrandite ore offsetart py higher selling prices, improved yields ookeil products and lower manufacturing overt
costs.
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During 2012, we improved the yields on certain eletontaining products resulting in lower scrap rated rework costs and leading 1
$3.3 million increase in gross margin in 2012 2@t 1.

Manufacturing overhead costs at the Elmore facilitgluding rent, depreciation and outside serviegsre approximately 10% lower
2012 than in 2011.

SG&A, R&D and othemet expenses were $43.2 million in 2013, a 3% réoludrom the expense total of $44.4 million in 201n 2011
these expenses totaled $47.4 million. Expenses W&¥eof sales in 2013 and 2012 and 14% of sal@®1i. Expenses were also 18% of value-
added sales in 2013, 19% of value-added saleslia 20d 18% of value-added sales in 2011.

The lower expense total in 2013 as compared to 24 due to a reduction in incentive compensatiperse, differences in curret
exchange gains and losses and lower selling expehise translation impact on foreign currency experass was favorable in 2013. Th
reductions in expenses were partially offset bynarease in corporate charges and higher R&D costs.

The $3.0 million reduction in expenses in 2012 frd@11 was largely due to differences in exchangesgand losses between years a
reduction in domestic selling expenses. These temhscwere partially offset by higher corporatetsds 2012 and a onme litigation gail
from a lawsuit against a utility provider over hilj rates recorded in 2011. R&D expenses and ineebmpensation costs were relati
unchanged in 2012 as compared to 2011.

Operating profit from Performance Alloys was $28¥lion in 2013 compared to $24.0 million in 201Phis $0.6 million decline i
profitability was caused by the lower gross margihjch was due to manufacturing inefficiencies,Heigore costs and other factors, offst
part by a reduction in expenses. Operating profi2012 was $3.2 million lower than the operatingfiprof $27.2 million in 2011. Operatil
profit was 8% of sales in each of the three yeaesgnted. Operating profit was also 10% of valdded sales in 2013 and 2012 and 11
value-added sales in 2011.

Beryllium and Composites

(Millions) 2013 2012 2011
Net sales $ 61.2 $ 60.C $ 60.€
Operating (loss) (3.5 (3.9 (0.9)

Beryllium and Compositemanufactures berylliurbased metals and metal matrix composites in ragktsifoil and a variety of customiz
forms. These materials are used in applicationsrdguire high stiffness and/or low density andyttend to be premiumriced due to the
unigue combination of properties. This segment alsmufactures beryllia ceramic products. The adipisof AMC in the first quarter 20:
provides a complementary family of non-beryllilbased alloys and composites. Defense and sciertbe igrgest market for Beryllium a
Composites, while other markets served include strétall components and commercial aerospace, medicargy and telecommunicatis
infrastructure. Products are also sold for acosstaptical scanning and performance automotiveiegmns. Manufacturing facilities f
Beryllium and Composites are located in Ohio, @atifa, Arizona and England.

Sales by Beryllium and Composites totaled $61.3ionilin 2013, a 2% increase frosales of $60.0 million in 2012. Sales in 2012\
slightly lower than sales of $60.6 million in 20Beryllium and Composites does not directly passugh changes in the costs of its mate
sold, so under our definition, sales and value-ddaddes for this segment are the same.

Sales to the defense and science market, whichuatzb for more than half of Beryllium and Compasitsales in 2013, gre
approximately 8% in 2013 over 2012 after declinf®g in 2012 from 2011. Defense applications for ¢hpeoducts include strategic mis
defense systems, airborne optical payloads anchadddightweight avionic packaging. Sales for deéapplications are affected by our pro
development and marketing efforts as well as tméngy of program releases and the funding of govemnbudgets in a given year. While
government sequestration had a negative effecuosales and order entry to a certain extent irB20dr defense sales grew in total as a nu
of key projects that utilize our materials, inclouglithe SM-3 missile defense system and t85 Fighter jet, were funded and not subjec
significant cutbacks in 2013.

Sales for nuclear medicine and other science ajuits, which are a major lorigrm growth platform for beryllium products, cobtitec
to the growth in sales in the defense and scierax&ehin 2013. In 2012, softer defense sales warkafly offset by improved sales for scie
applications, including shipments for a nucleaidogest reactor (ITER) and the Large Hadron Celith Europe. Beryllium meta’ nucles
properties make it ideal to serve as a neutroectft and moderator in the design of scientificleaictest reactors.

Industrial components and commercial aerospace ehaedes declined approximately 5% in 2013 from22@fter growing 2% in 20:
from 2011. The lower sales in 2013 were primarikg do weaker demand for industrial x-ray applicaiand lower
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sales of AMC products. Demand for AlBeMet@&,metal matrix composite, for applications in semductor manufacturing and inspec
equipment has been soft for approximately two yddosvever, order entry levels for these applicaionproved in the second half of 2013
shipments in future periods. The growth in salehi®market in 2012 over 2011 was due to the attipi of AMC.

Sales of beryllium speaker domes for acoustic digin assemblies were unchanged in 2013 from 2G&2 gifowing modestly in 20:
and 2011. Berylliums unigue combination of properties reduces mechbdeformation in sound, shifting the resonant diestcies inherent
other materials outside of the audible range. @eaker domes are used in higihd commercial, entertainment and consumer apjglitatinc
while sales remained minor in 2013, we believe thigtapplication represents a long-term growthoopmity for our materials.

Medical market sales declined 19% in 2013 from 284@ 17% in 2012 from 2011. The decline in bothryeeas due to lower sales of x-
ray windows and assemblies and beryllia ceramicenfedical laser applications.

Sales of beryllia ceramic for applications withimettelecommunications infrastructure market shos@d growth in 2013 over 201
rebounding from a slight decline in 2012 from 2011.

Gross margin generated by Beryllium and Composites $12.3 million (20% of sales) in 2013, $11.3lioml (19% of sales) in 2012 a
$12.1 million (20% of sales) in 2011.

Progress was made with the new beryllium facilityoar Elmore plant site during 2013. This operatisndesigned to produce p
beryllium metal from beryllium hydroxide that is meid by our Utah operations allowing us to signifitareduce our dependency upon exte
sources for pure beryllium metal. In prior perioagnufacturing inefficiencies, starp and maintenance costs and inconsistent produletie|
resulted in disruptions to the material flow andiéo gross margins. A number of these issues caediimto 2013, but manufacturing efficienc
improved and the productive output increased sdillgneach quarter during the year. While the pldidl not operate for the full year at
designed level of output and cost, it operated kval during the fourth quarter 2013 that would sadficient to satisfy the projected 2(
demand.

The gross margin in 2013 also benefited from tighsincrease in sales volume as well as a faverab&nge in product mix that resu
from the increase in pure beryllium metal salesictvlgenerate higher margins. Scrap reclamationthadise of purchased scrap provid:
benefit to gross margin in 2013 as well. These fisneere partially offset by an increase in ineatmanufacturing overhead costs at the Eli
operations.

Gross margin in 2012 benefited from a favorablengleain product mix, primarily due to an increasesahes of beryllium metal produ
and a decrease in sales of AlIBeMet@hich typically generate lower margins. Improvedtiog on beryllia ceramic products also provide
margin benefit in 2012 compared to 2011. Offsettimgse benefits was the negative impact of thétijidower sales volume and the rele
lower production volumes. Manufacturing overheadt€dncreased $0.6 million in Elmore in 2012 ovet P, largely depreciation and utilit
associated with the new facility. Manufacturing dwead costs at the Fremont, California facilityoalscreased, including manpower and out
services.

Total SG&A, R&D and othenet expenses were $15.8 million (26% of sales)0h32 $15.2 million (25% of sales) in 2012 and $
million (21% of sales) in 2011. The main causetfa higher expenses in 2013 was increased actntR&D projects, including bulk metal
glass, amorphous metals and investment castingaéagyy projects. Corporate charges were also high2013 than in 2012, while other sell
and administrative costs declined slightly.

The expenses incurred by AMC subsequent to itsisitign were a major cause of the increase in exgenn 2012 over 2011. Ré
expenses grew 8% in 2012 over 2011 due to increastddty and various projects. Corporate charges acreased in 2012 over 2011 w
incentive compensation declined in 2012 due tesdwment’s performance against the design of thespla

Beryllium and Composites generated an operating d6s$3.5 million in 2013 compared to an operatogs of $3.9 million in 2012. Tr
segment also had an operating loss of $0.8 miiid2011. The slight improvement in the operatingslin 2013 compared to 2012 resulted |
the higher gross margin (due to efficiency gainghi@ new plant, a favorable product mix and otlaetdrs) offset in part by an increast
expenses. The increased operating loss in 2012lua$o the reduced gross margin, caused by the leales volume and other factors, anc
additional expenses.
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Technical Materials

(Millions) 2013 2012 2011
Net sales $ 69.1 $ 7250 % 78.7
Value-added sales 42.¢€ 45.¢ 49.¢
Operating profit 6.S 6.€ T8

Technical Materials’ capabilities include clad inlay and overlay metglsgcious and base metal electroplated systemstraebear
welded systems, contour profiled systems and saldated metal systems. These specialty strip metalugts provide a variety of therrr
electrical or mechanical properties from a surfaoea or particular section of the material. Ouddiag and plating capabilities allow fo
precious metal or other base metal to be appliezbiminuous strip form only where it is needed,uedg the material cost to the custome
well as providing design flexibility and performandvajor applications for these products includeretors, contacts, power lead frames
semiconductors, while the largest markets are antiomelectronics and consumer electronics. Thegynand medical markets are smaller
offer further growth opportunities. Technical Maaés’ products are manufactured at our Rhode Isfanitity.

Sales by Technical Materials were $69.1 millior2013, a decline of 5% from sales of $72.7 millior2D12. Sales in 2012 were 8% lo
than sales of $78.7 million in 2011.

Sales of inlay products, Technical Materidlr'gest product line, increased in 2013 over 2®il2,this increase was more than offse
declines in selected plated and welded products.majority of Technical Materialgroduct lines showed a decline in sales in 2018, thie
largest decline in inlay products.

Value-added sales from Technical Materials tot$42.6 million in 2013, $45.4 million in 2012 and%$8 million in 2011.

Value-added sales to the consumer electronics market desve in excess of 30% in 2013 from 2012 after idewy approximately 2% |
2012 from 2011. This decline was largely due tonges in technologies and the phase out of the mudesign of a disk drive arm applicat
that began in the second half of 2011 offset i paigrowth from new products.

Value-added sales to the automotive electronics marlet gpproximately 7% in 2013 over 2012 after deon6% in 2012 from 201
The growth in 2013 was due to new products andorngat market conditions both domestically and iragamally. The decline in automoti
electronics sales in 2012 was largely due to weadgket conditions in Europe.

Value-added sales into the energy market, including ¢eélland other alternative energy applicationsy gsew in 2013 over 2012 af
softening in 2012 from 2011.

Technical Materials generated a gross margin of8pifillion (23% of sales) in 2013, $16.0 million2® of sales) in 2012 and $1
million (21% of sales) in 2011. Gross margin aecent of valuexdded sales has improved in each of the last tasyecreasing from 33%
2011 to 35% in 2012 and to 37% in 2013.

The slight decline in gross margin dollars in 20&& due to lower valuadded sales and increased manufacturing overhetsl awludin
higher manpower and security costs. The margin @npiathese items was largely offset by a combaratf improved yields and efficiencies
inlay products, which resulted from lean sigma i$foand price increases.

The $0.6 million reduction in the gross margin B2 was due to lower volumes offset in part by wifable change in product m
Manufacturing overhead costs were relatively ungedrin 2012 as compared to 2011.

SG&A, R&D and othemet expenses were $8.9 million in 2013 compare®bt8 million in 2012 and $9.4 million in 2011. Tlkesxpense
were 13% of sales in 2013 and 2012 and 12% of ga2811. Expenses were also 21% of value-added #a2013 and 2012 and 19% of value-
added sales in 2011.

Expenses were slightly lower in 2013 than in 2012 ¢b differences in manpower levels and reductiongarious administrative cos
including legal expenses. These cost benefits pargally offset by an increase in incentive congaion expense and higher corporate cha

Expenses were managed in 2012 to be relativelyvlht the prior year given the softer sales volunfeslecline in incentive compensat
was partially offset by an increase in corporatarghs.

Technical Materials earned an operating prafi$6.9 million in 2013, a 4% improvement over thgerating profit of $6.6 million in 201
Operating profit was $7.3 million in 2011. Opergtirofit was 10% of sales in 2013, 9% of salesdh2and 2011 and 16% of valadded sale
in 2013 and 15% of value-added sales in 2012 atd.20
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International Sales and Operations

We operate in worldwide markets and our internaiaustomer base continues to expand geographidallisia, we have strategice
located our facilities in Japan, Singapore, Chitarea, Taiwan and the Philippines while our Eurapésilities are in Germany, the Uni
Kingdom and Ireland. Our two most recent acquisg&cAMC and EIS, are based overseas.

Our international operations provide a combinatdbmanufacturing, finishing operations, local sadepport and distribution services .
are designed to provide a cadtective method of capturing the growing oversgasiand for our products over the long term. We alsgmer
our sales and distribution efforts with an estdiglts network of independent distributors and agémtaighout the world.

The following table summarizes total internatiosalles by region for the last three years:

(Millions) 2013 2012 2011

Asia $ 175« % 219.¢ % 203.¢
Europe 157.7 137.¢ 147.¢
Rest of world 23.1 33.7 31.t
Total $ 356.:. % 3911 % 383.(
Percent of total sales 31% 31% 25%

International sales include sales from internafimperations and direct exports from our U.S. ofi@na. The international sales in
above chart are included in the individual segnsaigs previously discussed.

Total international sales declined 9% in 2013 fr@12 as Asian sales declined approximately 20%enBilropean sales grew 15%
portion of the growth in Europe was due to improdetnand from the automotive electronics marketJevhiportion of the lower Asian sa
was due to the weaker yen in 2013. Total internaficales improved approximately 2% in 2012 ovet120This growth was due to f
acquisitions of EIS and AMC as sales from the @éxgsbperations were lower in 2012 than in 2011. Tdveer sales to Europe in 2012 w
reflective of the weaker economic conditions areldhcline in shipments to the appliance market.

Sales from the European and certain Asian opesation denominated in their local currencies. Expioom the U.S. and the balance of
sales from the Asian operations are typically deinated in U.S. dollars. Local competition generdityits our ability to adjust selling pric
upwards to compensate for short-term unfavorabtbaxge rate movements.

We have a hedge program with the objective of miziimg the impact of fluctuating currency valuesaur consolidated operating prc
See “Critical Accounting Policies”.
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Value-Added Sales - Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Mease

A reconciliation of sales to value-added salespa®AAP measure, for each reportable segment anchébCompany in total for 201
2012 and 2011 is as follows:

(Millions) 2013 2012 2011
Sales

Advanced Material Technologies $ 744 $ 847.t $ 1,051.¢
Performance Alloys 292.2 292t 335.8
Beryllium and Composites 61.2 60.C 60.€
Technical Materials 69.1 72.1 78.7
All Other — 0.1 0.3
Total $ 1,166.¢ $ 1,273..  $ 1,526."

Less: pass-through metal cost

Advanced Material Technologies $ 474 $ 569.: $ 773.¢
Performance Alloys 57.C 60.€ 77.5
Beryllium and Composites — — —
Technical Materials 26.5 27.5 28.€
All Other — — —
Total $ 557.¢ $ 657.t $ 880.2

Value-added sales

Advanced Material Technologies $ 270.C % 278t $ 278.(
Performance Alloys 235.2 231.¢ 257.¢
Beryllium and Composites 61.: 60.C 60.€
Technical Materials 42.¢ 45.4 49.¢
All Other — 0.1 0.3
Total $ 609.1 $ 615.¢ $ 646.5

The cost of gold, silver, platinum, palladium arapper can be quite volatile. Our pricing policytasdirectly pass the cost of these me
on to the customer in order to mitigate the impEanetal price volatility on our results from opgoas. Trends and comparisons of sale:
affected by movements in the market prices of thestals, but changes in sales due to metal priceements may not have a proportiol
impact our profitability.

Internally, management reviews sales on a valuedddsis. Value-added sales is a non-GAAP measareléducts the value of the pass-
through metals sold from sales. Valagded sales allows management to assess the iofpdifferences in sales between periods, segme
markets and analyze the resulting margins andtpbility without the distortion of the movementstire pasghrough metal values. The do
amount of gross margin and operating profit is aféécted by the valuadded sales calculation. We sell other metals aagnmals that are n
considered direct pass-throughs and their costsatrdeducted from sales when calculating valuesdddles.

Our sales are also affected by changes in the fusestomersupplied metal. When we manufacture a preciousirpatduct, the custom
may purchase metal from us or may elect to proigdewn metal, in which case we process the metal wll basis and the metal value doe
flow through sales or cost of sales. In either cagegenerally earn our margin based upon ourdation efforts. The relationship of that mau
to sales can change depending upon whether theigirags made from our metal or the customer’'s méta use of valuadded sales remo\
the potential distortion in the comparison of s@l@ssed by changes in the level of customer-supptlietal.

By presenting information on sales and vadhggled sales, it is our intention to allow userswf financial statements to review our s
with and without the impact of the pass-throughatset

Legal Proceedings

One of our subsidiaries, Materion Brush Inc., defendant from time to time in proceedings in vasigtate and federal courts brough
plaintiffs alleging that they have contracted chedveryllium disease or other lung conditions asslt of
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exposure to beryllium. Plaintiffs in beryllium casgenerally seek recovery under negligence anduwsrother legal theories and s
compensatory and punitive damages, in many casas wfispecified sum. Spouses, if any, often clasa bf consortium.

Two beryllium cases were outstanding as of y@at-2013. One of these cases was filed in 2013tlendther was filed in 2012. \
recorded a loss reserve of $0.1 million in the aggte as of December 31, 2013 for these two cabese were no cases dismissed or s¢
during 2013 and 2012. There were no new casesdiyaihst us in 2011. Two beryllium cases were antihg in 2011 that were filed in a pi
year; one of these was dismissed and the othewaaeaettled for less than $0.1 million during 2C

Additional beryllium claims may arise. Managemeelidves that we have substantial defenses in tigpss of cases and intends to cot
the suits vigorously should they arise. Employezesain which plaintiffs have a high burden of fydave historically involved relatively sm
losses to us. Thirgarty plaintiffs (typically employees of customenscontractors) face a lower burden of proof thanechployees or form
employees, but these cases are generally coverearing levels of insurance.

Although it is not possible to predict the outcoafeany litigation, we provide for costs relatedtese matters when a loss is probable
the amount is reasonably estimable. Litigationubject to many uncertainties, and it is possibkt some of these actions could be dec
unfavorably in amounts exceeding our reserves. Aflaworable outcome or settlement of a berylliumecas adverse media coverage ci
encourage the commencement of additional simiigation. We are unable to estimate our potentipbsure to unasserted claims.

Based upon currently known facts and out experigvitte beryllium cases and assuming collectibilifyimsurance, we do not believe t
resolution of future beryllium proceedings will leaa material adverse effect on our financial camdibr cash flow. However, our results
operations could be materially affected by unfabteaesults in one or more of these cases.

Regulatory Matters. Standards for exposure to beryllium are under veviy the United States Occupational Safety and tH
Administration (OSHA) and by other governmental amivate standardetting organizations. One result of these revieilislikely be more
stringent worker safety standards. Some organizsitisuch as the California Occupational Health Safitty Administration and the Americ
Conference of Governmental Industrial Hygienistsyehadopted standards that are more stringenttiieagurrent standards of OSHA. ~
development, proposal or adoption of more stringgemtdards may affect the buying decisions by gersuof berylliumsontaining products.
the standards are made more stringent and/or toroers or other downstream users decide to retheie use of berylliuneontaining
products, our results of operations, liquidity dimdncial condition could be materially adverseffeated. The impact of this potential adve
effect would depend on the nature and extent ofctianges to the standards, the cost and abilitpeet the new standards, the extent of
reduction in customer use and other factors. Thgnihade of this potential adverse effect canno¢&témated.

FINANCIAL POSITION

Net cash provided from operatiortstaled $75.9 million in 2013 as a result of netome, the effects of depreciation and amortizat
decline in accounts receivable and the net movesrianmbther working capital items. Cash providedrfroperations in the fourth quarter 2
was $37.4 million, almost half of the total casbyided from operations for the full year.

Cash provided from operations was $38.6 millior2@12 as net income and the effects of depreciatiore than offset a net increas
working capital items. Cash provided from operaiovas a strong $46.0 million in the fourth qua@8d2 partially due to the collection
accounts receivable and a reduction in inventory.

In 2011, cash provided from operations was $5618omi Cash used in operations totaled $11.7 millibrough the first three quarters
2011 as a result of increases in receivables amhtory, contributions to the domestic pension piaryment of the 2010 incentive compens:
and changes in other items. In the fourth quaf®ri2 however, a decline in receivables, coupleti wiher improvements, resulted in cash -
from operations of $68.5 million in that period.

As previously noted, changes in the cost of prexiand base metals are essentially passed on toneerst Therefore, while sudc
movements in the price of metals can cause a teanponbalance in our cash receipts and paymenrgghier direction, once prices stabilize
cash flow tends to stabilize as well.

Working Capital

Cashtotaled $22.8 million as of December 31, 2013,ramdase of $6.7 million from the cash balance & $illion as of December :
2012. Cash increased $3.8 million in 2012 as coatptr 2011.

Accounts receivabléotaled $112.8 million as of year-end 2013, a aeclhf $13.7 million, or 11%, from the yeand 2012 balance
$126.5 million. This decline was largely due to kbwer sales in the fourth quarter 2013 comparetiedourth quarter
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2012. In addition to the impact of the lower salasthe receivable balance, the days sales outsaDiSO), a measure of how fast receive
are collected, improved from approximately 37 datythe end of 2012 to 36 days at the end of 2013.

The yearend 2012 accounts receivable balance was $8.bmillir 7%, higher than the accounts receivablenbalaf $117.8 million as
yeaend 2011. This growth was primarily due to a fivay dlow down in the DSO. The slower DSO was dupairt to a decline in sales
precious metal products, which typically have ay\arort collection period. The 37 day collectiomipe is within our normal operating range.

The expense for accounts written off to bad debtsaanges in the allowance for doubtful accoumtsained low at $0.1 million in 20
and $0.4 million in 2012.

We have procedures in place to closely monitoramaounts receivable aging and to follag-on past due accounts. We evaluate the
position of new customers in advance of the ingi@le and we evaluate our existing customemsdit positions on an ongoing basis. We
revise credit terms offered to our customers aglitions warrant in order to minimize our exposur€sedit terms may vary by country ba
upon local customary practices and competitionlirgj$ for precious metals tend to have tighter payiterms than billings for other produ
Advance billings are used from time to time to h&lguce credit exposures and speed up the coleatioash.

Inventorieswere $213.4 million as of ye&nd 2013, an increase of $7.3 million, or 4%, dherinventory balance of $206.1 million a:
yearend 2012. The inventory turnover ratio, a meastit®w quickly inventory is utilized, slowed downrihg the year.

The inventory increase was within the Beryllium &amposites segment as its inventory balance oftd38lion as of yeaend 2013 we
higher than yeaend 2012 as a result of the purchase of feedstockglthe year to augment production from the newlium plant in order t
meet demand, the strong output from the new platthé fourth quarter that was still in work-in-pess inventory as of yeand, shipmen
originally planned for the fourth quarter 2013 lietlayed into 2014 and other factors. Beryllium &@wmmposites also has a relatively |
manufacturing processing time. Inventory at ourhUtaine and mill grew 15% during 2013 due to thenipg of a new pit and increas
extraction activity, the higher ore cost and inesrth support the additional production requirersa@itthe beryllium plant in Elmore.

Inventories within the other reportable segmentdined during 2013 as a result of lower sales, ity control efforts and other causes.

Inventories increased $18.9 million, or 10%, in 2@l er the inventory balance of $187.2 million &yearend 2011, as the turnover r:
slowed down during that year as well.

The inventory increase in 2012 was predominatelhiwiPerformance Alloys with only minor changesiiwventories within the oth
segments. Performance Alloys inventory, which exta$123.6 million at yeaend 2012, increased as a result of product mixsstgfowth i
various bulk products that have longer processingg, strategic inventory investments and the Ilaaling of production schedules. Inventc
at our Utah operations, which are part of the Parémce Alloys segment, increased $1.7 million in20@ver 2011, partially due to the hig
cost of ore mined.

The acquisition of AMC in 2012 contributed a snmiatirease in our total inventory balances in thatryehile the delayed stamp of the
beryllium facility in EImore had a minor impact tme inventory growth in 2012.

For further information on inventory values and léw&-in, first-out (LIFO) accounting method, ségritical Accounting Policies” below.

Intangible assetdotaled $24.2 million as of the end of 2013 comgare$28.9 million as of the end of 2012. The $4illion decline wa
due to amortization of $6.2 million offset in past new deferred financing costs of $1.5 milliontaimgible assets declined $6.1 million in 2
due to amortization of $6.6 million offset in past intangible assets of $0.5 million acquired wWAtKIC.

See Note E to the Consolidated Financial Statenientslditional details on our intangible assets.

Other liabilities and accrued itemsf $25.1 million as of December 31, 2013 were $tilion lower than the balance as of Decembe
2012 due to the payments for work on a small enwvirental remediation project, lower workecgmpensation accruals and other items.
2012 year-end balance of $27.0 million was $1.lionil higher than the previous yeand due to changes in activity levels and no
movements in the accruals.
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Other Long-term Liabilities

Other long-term liabilities of $16.5 million as péar-end 2013 were $0.3 million higher than therygal 2012 balance as the increa:s
the long-term portion of a compensation plan wasiglly offset by the normal amortization of capitease balances. Other loteym liabilities
declined $0.3 million during 2012 from the year-&@@d.1 balance largely due to the normal amortiratiocapital lease balances.

Retirement and Post-employment Benefits

The long-term retirement and post-employment bemnéfigationwas $80.3 million at December 31, 2013 and $126llom Decembe
31, 2012. The majority of this change was dueredaiction in the liability for the domestic definbdnefit plan. The liability for this plan, whi
covers a significant portion of our domestic empley, was $35.7 million at year-end 2013 and $7%9®mat yearend 2012. The project
benefit obligation was $202.7 million at year-erfid2 compared to $236.9 million at yesmel 2012. The decrease was largely due to an sE
in the discount rate. See “Critical Accounting Beti”. The liability also declined as a result of the Hargayments made during the year of
in part by the current year expense. The marketevaf the plan assets increased from $157.6 millioyear-end 2012 to $167.0 million at year-
end 2013 as a result of contributions totaling $@iion and investment earnings of $23.2 milli@s$ benefit payments and expenses of !
million. The plan assets generated a return of25r82013 and 13.0% in 2012.

A portion of our domestic retirees and current eppés are eligible to participate in a retiree r&dbenefit plan. The plan is unfunt
and the liability was $31.4 million at year-end 30With $2.7 million classified as short-term argB& million classified as lontgrm. The pla
liability was $34.2 million at year-end 2012, wiR.7 million classified as short-term and $31.5iomil classified as longerm. The plan expen
was $1.7 million in 2013 and $1.8 million in 2012.

Our subsidiary in Germany has an unfunded retiré¢ipkam for its employees, while our subsidiary imgEand has a funded retirement pl
See Note | to the Consolidated Financial Statenfentsdditional details on our retirement obligato
Capital Expenditures

A summary of capital expenditures over the 201203 timeframe is as follows:

(Millions) 2013 2012 2011

Capital expenditures $ 276 % 341 % 28.2
Mine development 4.¢ 10.€ 0.€
Subtotal 32.¢ 44 28.¢
Reimbursement for spending under government cdntrac — 1.C 5.4
Net spending $ 32¢ ¢ 437 % 23.L

Capital spending by Advanced Material Technologies $10.9 million in 2013, $11.8 million in 2012dafi8.0 million in 2011. Majc
projects in 2013 included the expansion of our bdpas for manufacturing optics, infrastructuradaother investments to accommodate
relocation of equipment as part of the plant cadatibn efforts and additional security systems.

Performance Alloys’ capital spending totaled $18iBion in 2013, $19.9 million in 2012 and $10.6 million in120 Major projects in 20!
included new vertical casting equipment to increaasecapacity to manufacture ToughMegi®ducts at our Lorain, Ohio facility, upgradeshe
rolling equipment at the Reading, Pennsylvania atp@ns to allow for improved quality of thin gausteip product, and upgrades to the strip
bulk product processing equipment at the EImorditiacSpending on mine development was lower ii2@s the open pit mine that was ul
construction throughout 2012 was completed dutirgfirst half of 2013. We began extracting ore frimis mine in the second half of 2013.

During 2013, we completed a multi-year $2.4 millimoject to purchase and install a new welding &#heur Lincoln facility.

We have a Title Il contract with the U.S. Departrhef Defense (DoD) for the design and developnoeémt new facility for the productic
of primary beryllium. The equipment was installedigplaced in service prior to 2013. The total ajshis multiyear project was approximat
$104.9 million, with the DoD providing approximatef0% of the funding, primarily for equipment angartion of the initial project desi
costs. Our portion of the project cost includedipopent and the building and other ncapitalizable items. Capital spending on the bienyl
facility outside of the Title Il contract totale®ll.4 million
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in 2013. Spending on the facility was $5.0 million2012 and is included in the $34.1 million totalthe above table while spending on
project totaled $5.1 million in 2011.

Reimbursements from the DoD are recorded as unganceme, a liability on the Consolidated Balan¢e&. See Critical Accounting
Policies” below for further discussion. The spending and beireement received from the government may diffea igiven year due to t
normal lag between when the spending occurs angahernment issues the reimbursement.

We worked on various software upgrades and impléatiens during the 2011 to 2013 timeframe, inclgdannew sales and operati
planning software package in 2013.

Acquisitions

In addition to the above capital expenditures, eguared the following businesses in the 2011 toXheframe:

Acquired
(Millions) Year Cost Goodwill
Aerospace Metal Composites Limited 2012 $ 33 % 1.6
EIS Optics Limited 2011 24.F 13.¢

The EIS acquisition cost includes $0.6 million thets paid in 2012 as a result of the resolutionaddiation adjustments in accordance
the purchase agreement. The acquisition costs shosvnet of cash acquired, if any. Both of thespisitions were financed with a combina
of cash on hand and borrowings under the revoleredit agreement. See Note B to the Consolidatear€ial Statements.

Debt

Total outstanding debt decreased from $94.3 millibgear-end 2012 to $64.8 million as of yead 2013 as a result of the cash prov
from operations.

Debt increased $12.9 million in 2012, largely dadhe net growth in inventory and other workingitaljtems, capital expenditures,
acquisition of AMC and the payment of dividends.

Short-term debt was $35.5 million at December 31,32versus $49.4 million at December 31, 2012. Limng debt was $29.3 million
yearend 2013 compared to $44.9 million at year-end2201

Shareholders’ Equity

Shareholders’ equity was $463.3 million at year-20d3, an increase of $48.3 million over the yerad-2012 balance of $415.0 milli
Equity increased $9.0 million in 2012. Major caufasthe changes in equity in both years includethgrehensive income, share repurchi
option exercises and the payment of dividends.

Comprehensive income was $48.2 million in 2013 $8d million in 2012. As a result of a change ic@mting regulations, beginning
2012, comprehensive income is presented in a deplimancial statement as opposed to being detailedfootnote. Comprehensive incom
net income plus items that are charged or crediietttly to shareholdergquity, including the cumulative translation adjosnt, changes in t
fair value of derivative financial instruments amjustments to the pension and other retiremerdftiebligations.

Our Board of Directors implemented a dividend pamgrin the second quarter 2012. Dividends declartded $6.6 million ir2013 an
$4.6 million in 2012.

We received $1.2 million from the exercise of apprately 74,000 options 2013 and $0.2 million from the exercise of apqmately
16,000 options in 2012.

We repurchased approximately 6,000 shares of aunmm stock at a cost of $0.1 million in 2012. Thesgurchases were made und
share buyback program initially approved by therBa# Directors in 2008. We did not repurchase simgres in 2013.

Equity was also affected by stobesed compensation expense, the tax benefits ok abonpensation realization and other factors it
2013 and 2012.
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Off-balance Sheet Obligations

We maintain the majority of the precious metalsuge in production and a portion of our copper neuénts on a consignment basi
order to reduce our exposure to metal price movésnand to reduce our working capital investment S@uantitative and Qualitati
Disclosures about Market Risk”. The notional vatiighe off-balance sheet metal was $255.8 millisrofayearend 2013 versus $286.9 milli
as of yearend 2012. This decrease was due to lower metadges of December 31, 2013 compared to prices Bsadmber 31, 2012 offset
part by an increase in ounces on hand.

We were in compliance with all of the covenantstaored in the consignment agreements as of DeceBih@013.
Contractual Obligations

A summary of payments to be made under ltarga debt agreements, operating leases, signifaagpital leases, pension plan contribut
and material purchase commitments by year is &sisi

There-

(Millions) 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 after Total

Long-term debt $ 0€ $ 0.7 $ 9.C ¢ 07 $ 15.6 $ 31 ¢ 29.¢
Non-cancelable lease payments 6.C 6.2 5.2 4.C 3.4 12.1 37.¢
Capital lease payments 1.1 1.1 1.1 1.C 1.C 4.7 10.C
Pension plan contribution 19.C — — — — — 19.C
Purchase commitments 4.2 — — — — — 4.2
Total $ ICHIR 8C $ 152 $ 57 % 20z $ 19¢ $ 101.(

The revolving credit agreement matures in 2018 tedlongterm debt repayment in 2018 in the above charudesd $15.0 millio
borrowed under this agreement as of year-end 2018e past, we have renegotiated a new facilitgrpgio the maturity of the theexisting
credit facility, and we anticipate that we would the same in the future. However, we cannot guaeatitat a replacement facility will he
similar terms as the existing facility. See NotEhe Consolidated Financial Statements for aalufiti debt information.

The noneancelable lease payments represent payments opeeating leases with initial lease terms in exadsme year as of Decem!|
31, 2013. The capital lease payments include aibgilat the Elmore site and other material capédakes. See Note G to the Consolid
Financial Statements for further leasing details.

The pension plan contribution of $19.0 million retabove table represents our best estimate abtfitebution to be made to the dome
defined benefit plan as of early 2014. See "Ligyldidiscussion below.

The purchase commitments of $4.2 million are fqpited equipment to be acquired in 2014 based omrsrglaced with vendors as
December 31, 2013.

Liquidity

We believe that cash flow from operations plus dlailable borrowing capacity and the current caslarice are adequate to sup
operating requirements, capital expenditures, ptefe pension plan contributions, the current din@tleand share repurchase progr:
environmental remediation projects and strategigiesiions.

A summary of key data relative to our liquiditycinding the outstanding debt, cash balances, dlailzorrowing capacity and the debt-to-
debt-plus-equity ratio, as of the end of each eflétst three years is as follows:

December 31,

(Dollars in millions) 2013 2012 2011

Total outstanding debt $ 64.6 % 94 % 81.4
Cash 22.¢ 16.1 12.2
Debt net of cash $ 42C $ 782z % 69.1
Available borrowing capacity $ 1866 $ 189.F % 274.¢
Debt-to-debt-plus-equity ratio 12% 19% 17%

Debt net of cash is a ndBAAP measure. We are providing this informationéhese we believe it is more indicative of our ovdiaéncial
position. It is also a measure our managementtosessess financing and other decisions.
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The cumulative cash flow provided from operation2012 and 2013 totaled $114.5 million and is rfetamtributions to the domes
defined benefit plan of $21.1 million. This cashwl allowed us to fund capital expenditures of $7@i8ion, the acquisition of AMC ar
dividends of $11.1 million, while debt net of caddrlined $27.1 million during these two years.

The debt-to-debt-plusguity ratio improved to 12% as of December 31,32f0@m 19% as of December 31, 2012 due to the medli dek
and the growth in equity. This ratio is lower th@m longterm average, and we believe that, given our tygiash flow from operations, we ¢
support a higher leverage ratio in future periods.

The available borrowing capacity in the table abmresents the additional amounts that could beowed under the revolving cre
facility and other secured lines existing as of &aber 31 of each year depicted. The applicable cd®enants have been taken into acc
when determining the available borrowing capaditgluding the covenant that restricts the borrowgagacity to a multiple of the twelrmaentt
trailing earnings before interest, income taxeqreeation and amortization and other adjustmehite main cause for the reduction in
available borrowing capacity in 2013 and 2012 wasitnpact of this covenant and our lower profitiil

We negotiated a new revolving credit facility irtbecond quarter 2013 that replaced the prioiitiatilat was scheduled to mature in 2(
The new facility is secured and provides up to $37&illion of borrowing capacity, an increase of0¥5 million over the prior facilit
Borrowing rates are based on a spread over LIBOR, tive spreads being slightly lower under the rfiagility than they were under the
facility. The financial covenants remained unchah@ée new facility matures in 2018.

We were in compliance with all of our debt covesaas of December 31, 2013 and as of early in teeduarter 2014, we do not know
any future or pending changes that will cause Ut non-compliance with any of our debt coveaamthe near term.

The working capital ratio, which compares curresgteds to current liabilities, was 3.1 to 1.0 agesfr-end 2013 versus 2.7 to 1.0 as of year
end 2012.

We intend to pay a quarterly dividend under thegpm initiated in 2012 on an ongoing basis, subjech continuing strong capi
structure and a determination that the dividendaiamin the best interest of the shareholders.Wieased the dividend from $0.075 per she
$0.08 per share beginning in the second quarte3.ZlMe dividend payments subsequent to this ineremsraged approximately $1.7 million
quarter.

In January 2014, our Board of Directors authoritedpurchase of up to $50.0 million of our commtatk. This authorization replaced
prior authorization to purchase up to 1,000,000eshaf stock, of which approximately 600,000 shduad been purchased. We may use se
methods to purchase stock, including open markethases, negotiated block transactions, accelerstteade purchases or open ma
solicitations for shares, some of which may be coitetl through Rule 10bbplans. The timing of the share purchases wilkdédpupon sever
factors, including market and business conditians,cash flow, debt levels and other investmenbodppities. There is no minimum requi
purchase quantity for a given year and the purchasgy be discontinued at any time. We did not pasetany of our common stock in 2013.

Our domestic defined benefit pension plan is urideded as of yeaend 2013. Contributions in future periods will bepdndent upc
regulatory requirements, the plan funded rationpilavestment performance, discount rates, actuasaLmptions, plan amendments,
contribution objectives and other factors. Fedkrgislation enacted during 2012 resulted in a réedndn mandatory contributions in the st
term from the levels under the previous regulatidng we may elect to contribute funds in excesshef mandatory levels in a given y
depending upon our cash flow from operations artkrotonsiderations. As of early in the first quar2014, we anticipate contributi
approximately $19.0 million to the defined benefin in 2014. This estimate, which is in excesthefmandatory contributions, includes a
million contribution that was deferred from the fttuquarter 2013 to the first quarter 2014. Thighlerr contribution level is designed to minin
our PBGC premium payments as well as to maintarptan funded ratio in line with our long-term atijees.We also anticipate funding thc
contributions with cash on hand, cash generaten fsperations or borrowings under existing lineci@dit. It is not practical to estimate
required contributions beyond 2014 at the presemd.t

The closure of the domestic defined benefit plangw entrants in the second quarter 2012 will redua plan funding requirements in
long term, but it has a minimal impact on our furgdrequirements in the short term.

During 2013, we offered a onigne opportunity for terminated deferred vestedipigmants in the domestic defined benefit planlectior
of a lump sum payment in 2013 in lieu of an annuippn retirement. The resulting lump sum payout$1f.8 million were made from t
pension plan assets during 2013 and no additiomatribution from the Company was required to fuhd payments. The lump sum pay
option was part of a long term program to redusk aissociated with the pension plan assets anttiesh
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Portions of our business utilize dilance sheet consignment arrangements to findmede rhetal requirements. Expansion of busi
volumes and/or higher metal prices can put pressarthe consignment line limitations from time tmé. As a result, we have negotie
increases in the available capacity under exidiimgg, added additional lines and extended the rinatdates of the existing lines in recent ye
The available and unused capacity under the nmatiding lines totaled approximately $165.6 millasof December 31, 2013.

We have an active environmental compliance progh&im estimate the probable cost of identified emrnental remediation projects ¢
establish reserves accordingly. The environmergalediation reserve balance was $4.8 million at Bibee 31, 2013 and $5.3 million
December 31, 2012. Payments for environmental giojetaled $0.8 million in 2013 and $0.3 million2012. Environmental projects tend tc
long term and the associated payments are typiocwlye over a number of years. See Note J to thedlidated Financial Statements.

Cash on hand does not affect the covenants ordfreviing capacity under our debt agreements. Rutinf the cash balances may
invested in high-quality, highly liquid investmentith maturities of three months or less from titadime.
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ORE RESERVES

We have proven and probable reserves of beryllaring bertrandite ore in Juab County, Utah. Wa approximately 95 percent of -
proven reserves, with the remaining reserves letisatithe State of Utah. Approximately 87 perceinthe beryllium in ore is recovered in-
extraction process at our facility in Utah. We aegitnour proven reserves of bertrandite ore thrahglpurchase of imported beryl ore from t
to time. This ore, which is approximately four gartberyllium, is also processed at the Utah etitradacility.

Proven and probable reserves are based on exteirdlireg, sampling, mine modeling and metallurditasting from which we determi
economic feasibility. The term “proven reserves2ans reserves for which (a) the quantity is costbfitom dimensions revealed in outcr
trenches, workings or drill holes; grade and/orliggare computed from the results of detailed skmgp (b) the sites for inspection, sampl
and measurement are spaced so closely and theggeolaracter is so well defined that size, shappth and mineral content of reserves
well-established and (c) are commercially recovergirough open-pit methods.

The term “probable reservesieans reserves for which quantity and grade awogiality are computed from information similar tathuse:
for proven reserves, but the sites for inspectsampling, and measurement are farther apart arthegwise less adequately spaced. The d
of assurance, although lower than that for proesenves, is high enough to assume continuity betweints of observation. A summary of
proven and probable reserves is as follows:

Proven Probable Total
As of December 31, 2013
Tonnage (in thousands) 6,17: 3,51¢ 9,69
Grade (% beryllium) 0.26% 0.232% 0.252%
Beryllium pounds (in millions) 32.4¢ 16.3: 48.81
As of December 31, 2012
Tonnage (in thousands) 6,25( 3,51¢ 9,76¢
Grade (% beryllium) 0.26%% 0.232% 0.252%
Beryllium pounds (in millions) 33.0C 16.3: 49.3:

Based upon average production levels in recentsyaad our neaterm production forecasts, proven reserves woudtl daer 75 year
Efforts are underway to further analyze, quantifiy @evelop the reserves classified as probable.ifidiesion of probable reserves as prc
reserves could provide more than 25 years of awditireserve life. The table below details our pitiin of beryllium at our Utah locati
during the 2011 to 2013 timeframe.

(Thousands of Pounds of Beryllium) 2013 2012 2011
Domestic ore 514 48¢ 52C
Non-domestic ore 17 17 28
Unyielded total 531 503 54¢
Annual yield 85% 87% 88%
Beryllium produced 45( 43¢ 482

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The preparation of financial statements requiresitiherent use of estimates and manageméuigment in establishing those estimi
The following are the most significant accountirgigies we use that rely upon management’s judgment

Accrued Liabilities. We have various accruals on our balance sheeatbhdiased in part upon managengejutigment, including accru;
for litigation, environmental remediation and warKecompensation costs. We establish accrual balaricibe dest estimate determined t
review of the available facts and trends by managgrand independent advisors and specialists a®@gte. Absent a best estimate,
accrual is established at the low end of the eséicheeasonable range in accordance with accougtiidgelines. Litigation and environmer
accruals are established only for identified andisserted claims; future claims, therefore, coule gise to increases to the accruals.
accruals are adjusted as facts and circumstanea®ehas well as for changes in our strategieseopétinent regulatory requirements. S
these accruals are estimates, the ultimate regoluti
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may be greater or less than the established aduaiaice for a variety of reasons, including cdexisions, additional discovery, inflation lev
cost control efforts and resolution of similar as€hanges to the accruals would then result indalitional charge or credit to income in
period when the change was made. See Note J @atheolidated Financial Statements.

Legal claims may be subject to partial or compiesarance recovery. The accrued liability is reedrdt the gross amount of the estim
cost and the insurance recoverable, if any, isrdszbas an asset and is not netted against thiétyiabhe accrued legal liability includes 1
estimated indemnity cost only, if any, to resolle tlaim through a settlement or court verdict. Tegal defense costs are not included ir
accrual and are expensed in the period incurretth, the level of expense in a given year affectedh®ynumber and types of claims we
actively defending.

Non-employee claims for beryllium disease maderpi@o2022 where any of the alleged exposure pegaggrior to yearend 2007 al
covered by insurance. The insurance covers defarse and indemnity payments (resulting from setiets or court verdicts) and is subject
$1.0 million annual deductible. In 2013 and 201&fedse and indemnity costs were less than the tbluc

Pensions.Carrying values of the defined benefit pension maeets and liabilities are determined on an aeluaasis using numera
actuarial and financial assumptions. Differencesvben the assumptions and current period actualtseare typically deferred into the
pension asset or liability value and amortized mgfafuture income under established guidelines. déferral process generally reduces
volatility of the recognized net pension assetialility and current period income or expense. dlized gains or losses are recorded in «
comprehensive income (OCI), a component of shadehslequity.

Management, in conjunction with our actuaries alinuaview key pension plan assumptions, including expected return on plan as:
the discount rate, the average projected wageimatease and mortality levels, against actual testrlends, Company strategies, interest
curves, the current and projected investment enmiemnt, industry standards and other regulations makle adjustments accordingly. -
actuaries will make calculations and adjust variagsumptions to reflect changes in demographicscgimer factors, including employ
turnover, annually as warranted. These adjustmmeaisthen lead to a higher or lower expense in éupariods.

We establish the discount rate used to determmerésent value of the projected and accumulateefiv@bligation at the end of each y
based upon the available market rates for highityudiked income investments whose maturities ratee plans projected cash flows.
increase to the discount rate would reduce theeptesalue of the projected benefit obligation antife pension expense and, converse
lower discount rate would raise the benefit oblatand future pension expense. For our domesfioatkbenefit pension plan, we electe:
use a discount rate of 4.875% as of December 3B, 20 increase from the 4.0% assumption as ofbleee31, 2012.

Our pension plan investment strategies are govegea policy adopted by the Board of Directors.ehisr management team overse
group of outside investment analysts and brokefiages that implement these strategies. The futetarn on pension assets is dependent
the plans asset allocation, which changes from time to tiama the performance of the underlying investmeft¢sa result of our review
various factors, we reduced the expected ratetofrr@n plan assets assumption to 7.25% as of DeeeB1, 2013 from 7.50% as of Decen
31, 2012. This change is reflective of managemenéw of the longterm returns in the market place as well as chaigeisk profiles an
available investments. Management believes thahgterm rate of return of 7.25% is reasonable. Shthddassets earn an average returr
than 7.25% over time, in all likelihood the futyrension expense would increase. Investment earningscess of 7.25% would tend to rec
the future expense.

The impact on the pension expense of a changesaoudint rate or expected rate of return assump#arvary from year to year depenc
upon the undiscounted liability level, the currdigicount rate, the asset balance, other changes fgan and other factors. If the Decembe
2013 discount rate were reduced by 25 basis pir25%) and all other pension assumptions remainedtant, then the 2014 projected per
expense would increase by approximately $0.6 millib the expected rate of return assumption wasiged by 25 basis points and all o
pension assumptions remained constant, the 20]dcped pension expense would increase by approglyn®0.4 million.

See Note | to the Consolidated Financial Statenfentsdditional details on our pension and oth&rement plans.

LIFO Inventory. The prices of certain major raw materials that we, uncluding copper, nickel, gold, silver and otheecious metal
fluctuate during a given year. Where possible, sdohnges in material costs, in either directiore generally reflected in selling pr
adjustments, particularly with precious metals eoplper.

The prices of labor and other factors of produgtianluding supplies and utilities, generally irase with inflation. Portions of these ¢
increases may be offset by manufacturing improvesnand other efficiencies. From time to time, wd vavise our billing practices to inclu
an energy surcharge in attempts to recover a poofi@ur higher energy costs from our customers.
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However, market factors, alternative materials empetitive pricing may limit our ability to offsatl or a portion of a cost increase with hig
prices.

We use the LIFO method for costing the majorityoaf domestic inventories. Under the LIFO methodlationary cost increases
charged against the current period cost of goolisisarder to more closely match the cost with dssociated revenue. The carrying valt
the inventory is based upon older costs and, asudtr the LIFO cost of the inventory on the batasbeet is typically, but not always, lower t
it would be under most alternative costing methdds LIFO cost may also be lower than the curreptacement cost of the inventory. -
LIFO inventory value tends to be less volatile dgryears of fluctuating costs than the inventoyeavould be using other costing methods.

The LIFO impact on the income statement in any myiyear is dependent upon the inflation rate eftectraw material purchases
manufacturing conversion costs, the level of pusekan a given year and changes in the inventoxyamd quantities. Assuming no chang
the quantity or mix of inventory from the DecemiBdr, 2013 level, a 100 basis point change in theianinflation rate would cause a chang
approximately $0.7 million in the LIFO inventorylua.

Deferred Tax AssetsWe record deferred tax assets and liabilities baget the temporary difference between the findmejgorting an
tax bases of assets and liabilities. We reviewettggration dates of the deferrals against projegtedme levels to determine if the deferral
or can be realized. If it is determined that itnsre likely than not that a deferral will not balized, a valuation allowance would be establi
for that item. Certain deferrals do not have aniratpn date. We will also evaluate deferred tage#s for impairment due to cumulal
operating losses by jurisdiction and record a t&unaallowance as warranted. A valuation allowan@®y increase tax expense and reduc
income in the period it is recorded. If a valuatallowance is no longer required, it will reduce &pense and increase net income in the p
that it is reversed.

We had valuation allowances of $4.8 million assedawith state and foreign deferred tax assetsf ggarend 2013 primarily for n
operating loss carryforwards.

See Note Q to the Consolidated Financial Statenfentsdditional deferred tax details.

Unearned revenue Billings to customers in advance of the shipmenthaf goods are initially recorded as unearned ng¥ewhich is
liability on the balance sheet. This liability isbsequently reversed and the revenue, cost of aategross margin are recorded when the ¢
are shipped, title passes to the customer andhal oevenue recognition criteria are satisfiede Télated inventory also remains on our bal
sheet until these revenue recognition criterianagé Advanced billings are typically made in asatien with products with long manufactur
times and/or products paid with funds from a custdsncontract with the government. Billings in advané¢he shipments allow us to coll
cash earlier than billing at the time of the shipt&nd, therefore, the collected cash can be uséeélp finance the underlying inventory.
unearned revenue balance was $0.5 million as ofemead 2013.

Unearned income.Expenditures for capital equipment to be reimburseder the Title Il contract with the governmenere initially
recorded in construction in process. Reimbursenfemts the government for those expenditures wererded in unearned income, a liability
the balance sheet. The total cost of the assdds tmnstructed under this contract included cesisbiursed by the government as well as
borne by us. The assets were placed in serviceapithlized in 2012. Depreciation expense was tatledi and recorded based upon the asset:
total cost and their useful lives. The unearnedrme liability was reduced and credited to cost alés on a ratable basis with the an
depreciation expense on the associated assetbenledit from reducing the unearned income liabilitgffect reduces the net expense charg
the income statement to an amount equal to theedigion on the portion of the cost of the assetad by us. Depreciation and amortizatiol
the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows is prederdt of the current period reduction in the unedincome liability.

Reimbursements recorded in unearned income faedhgpment purchased totaled $63.5 million, all bfck was received prior to 2013.

We reduced the liability by $4.7 million in 2013ca$2.3 million in 2012 and credited cost of salestiee Consolidated Statemen
Income in both years. The unearned income balaaseb®6.5 million as of year-end 2013 and $61.2aonilas of year-end 2012.

Precious metal physical inventory countsWe take and record the results of a physical irorgntount of our precious metals o
quarterly basis. Our precious metal operationsuitela refinery that processes precious nwiataining scrap and other materials from
customers as well as our own internally generateaps We also outsource portions of our refiningureements to other vendors, particul
those materials with longer processing times. Titegipus metal content within these various refitieasns may be in solutions, sludges
other nonhomogeneous forms and can vary over time based thpdanput materials, yield rates and other propasameters. The determinal
of the weight of the precious metal content wittlie refine streams as part of a physical inventmynt requires the use of estimates
calculations based upon assays, assumed
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recovery percentages developed from actual histiotiata and other analyses, the total estimatadnad of solutions and other materials wi
the refinery, data from our refine vendors and ofhetors. The resulting calculated weight of tliegious metals in our refine operations |
differ, in either direction, from what our recorutglicate that we should have on hand, which woh&htresult in an adjustment to our peae-
income in the period when the physical inventoryg waken and the related estimates were made.

Derivatives. We may use derivative financial instruments to leedgr foreign currency, commodity and precious Ingtiae and intere
rate exposures. We apply hedge accounting whefffegtiee hedge relationship can be documented aaidtained. The effective portion of 1
change in a cash flow hedge’s fair value is readrioleother comprehensive income (OCI), a compomérghareholdersequity, until th
underlying hedged item matures. If a hedge doegjnalify as effective, changes in its fair value aecorded against income in the cu
period. If a derivative is deemed to be a hedgtheffair value of a balance sheet item, the chamglee derivatives value will be recorded
income and will offset the change in the fair vaiieghe hedged item to the extent that the hedgééstive.

We secure derivatives with the intention of hedgaxisting or forecasted transactions only and doemgage in speculative trading
holding derivatives for investment purposes. Hedgetracts are typically held until maturity unlébgsre is a change in the underlying hec
transaction. Our annual budget, quarterly forecaststhly estimates, customer agreements and attedyses serve as the basis for determ
forecasted transactions. The use of derivativegoiserned by policies established by the Audit Cottaeiof the Board of Directors. Thi
policies provide guidance on the allowable typehe@dge contracts, the allowable duration of thetregts, the maximum allowable notio
amount of the outstanding contracts and othera@élatatters. Hedge contracts are approved by skméorcial managers at our corporate off
The level of derivatives outstanding at a particplaint in time may also be limited by the availdyiof credit from financial institutions.

Our practice has been to secure hedge contractsmilesited in the same manner as the underlying exepfor example, a yen expos
will only be hedged with a yen contract and notwétsurrogate currency and a silver exposure wilf be hedged with a silver contract and
a gold contract. We also typically secure contrdatsugh financial institutions that are alreadyt pd our bank group.

See Note H to the Consolidated Financial Staterrsmds'Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures Atidiarket Risk”.
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OUTLOOK

The outlook for the major markets we serve is swlithe near term. Because of their highd performance characteristics, our mate
continue to be the product of choice in a wide eanfjapplications and markets. Our products semenaber of applications that demand |
quality and high reliability in the medical, oil dyas, defense and science, automotive electramidsndustrial markets and we have a well-
established presence in these markets.

We face a challenge in the ongoing trend of lowefiedse spending. While portions of our defenseiegmns tend to be longgrm
strategic programs that are not as affected byentichanges in spending budgets, other portionsioflefense business have declined due
spending cut backs.

We also face pressures from our customers anddia dtream consumers to reduce the cost of thé firmauct. Given the relative
higher price of our materials, particularly our giceis metal products, customers are attemptindvémge designs to utilize lower quantitie
our materials or electing to use lower-performingtenials in some cases.

To counter balance these trends and to further gromsales and the breadth of our product reachhave an active pipeline of n
product development and technologies that are bddsggned to capitalize on our materiag’engths. We believe that these new product
applications will be a key to our growth in the nesam.

As noted, we made various improvements in the benylfacility in EImore during 2013. Output and ieféncies for the full year were r
at the designed level, but the operating levehenfourth quarter 2013, if sustained, will provadbenefit in 2014 in terms of operating costs
inventory flow relative to 2013.

The nonrecurring costs associated with the plant constitidgorogram within the Advanced Material Technadmgsegment are largs
behind us and profitability in 2014 should ben&fim the program’s savings and efficiencies.

With the higher discount rate used in the valuatibthe domestic defined benefit pension plan aSedember 31, 2013 and other chal
in the demographics, the plan expense will be ldw@014 than 2013.

We anticipate that our profitability in 2014 shoufdprove over 2013 due to the growth in our vahdeled sales, the above cost
operational improvements and other factors.

Capital spending, which can be affected by our ¢asin new business opportunities, age of our eapaipt and other factors, is anticipe
to be approximately $30.0 million in 2014.
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Item 7A.  QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK  ET RISK

We are exposed to precious metal and commodity piderest rate, foreign exchange rate and utilitst differences. While the degre:
exposure varies from year to year, our methods @otidies designed to manage these exposures havaned fairly consistent over tin
Generally, we attempt to minimize the effects afsén exposures on our gee¢ income and cash flows through the use of nbhadges, whic
include pricing strategies, borrowings denomindtethe same terms as the exposed assehatdfice sheet financing arrangements and
methods. Where we cannot use a natural hedge, weusgaderivative financial instruments to minimibe effects of these exposures w
practical and cost efficient. The use of b#ftance sheet financing arrangements and derivéitramcial instruments is subject to polic
approved by the Audit Committee of the Board ofebiors with oversight provided by a group of seffioancial managers at our corpol
office.

Precious metals. We use gold and other precious metals in manufact various products. To reduce the exposure aoket pric
changes, the majority of our precious metal requéinets are maintained on a consigned inventory b&ges purchase the metal out
consignment from our suppliers when it is readgh@ to a customer as a finished product. Our @msetprice forms the basis for the p
charged to the customer for the precious metalertrdand, therefore, the current cost is matchetigcselling price and the price exposul
minimized.

We are charged a consignment fee by the finantsditutions that own the precious metals. Thisi$es function of the market price of
metal, the quantity of metal we have on hand aeddlte charged by the institution. Because of middtees and competition, the fee can «
be charged to customers in a limited case#ge basis. Should the market price of preciouslmtitat we have on consignment increase by
from the prices on December 31, 2013, the additipreatax cost to us as a result of an increase in theigoment fee would be approximai
$1.0 million on an annual basis. This calculatisauenes no changes in the quantity of metal helcbasignment or the underlying fee and
none of the additional fees are charged to custemer

To further limit price and financing rate exposyrasder some circumstances, we will require custernt® furnish their own metal {
processing. Customers may also elect to provide dlaen material for us to process on a toll basi®pposed to purchasing our material.

The available capacity of our existing credit linesonsign precious metals is a function of thargitly and price of the metals on hand
prices increase, a given quantity of metal willizéi a larger proportion of the existing creditdi A significant prolonged increase in m
prices could result in our credit lines being fulifilized, and, absent securing additional cradi lcapacity from a financial institution, co
require us to purchase precious metals rather ¢oasign them, require customers to supply their onetal and/or force us to turn do
additional business opportunities. If we were isignificant precious metal ownership position, wahn elect to use derivative financ
instruments to hedge the potential price expostine.cost to finance and potentially hedge the msetl inventory may also be higher thar
consignment fee. The financial statement impadhefrisk from rising metal prices impacting ourditeavailability cannot be estimated at
present time.

In certain circumstances, we may elect to fix thegpof precious metals for a customer for a stateshtity over a specified period of tir
In those cases, we may secure hedge contracts wémse match the terms in the agreement with ostoouer so that the gain or loss on
contract with the customer due to subsequent montsrie the precious metal price will generally Héset by a gain or loss on the he
contract. At yeaend 2013, we had hedge contracts to purchase drgblskewith a notional value of $10.2 million. Aetal price decline of 10
from the year-end price would result in a net adddl pretax expense of approximately $0.1 million in 20THis calculation does not take i
account the additional net gain that would be rdedron the underlying hedged transactions wittctistomer.

Copper. We also use copper in our production processes.nVglossible, fluctuations in the purchase price @fper are passed on
customers in the form of price adders or reductidikile over time our price exposure to coppereésegally in balance, there can be a
between the change in our cost and the pass-thtouglr customers, resulting in higher or lower giras in a given period.

We consign a portion of our copper inventory reguients. As with precious metals, the available capander the existing lines is
function of the quantity and price of metal on ha8tould the market cost of copper increase by #0% the price as of December 31, 2(
the additional préax cost to us as a result of an increase in tisigoment fee would be approximately $0.1 millianan annual basis. Tl
calculation assumes no changes in the quantityvefitory or the underlying fee and that none ofatthditional fees are charged to customers.

Lower of cost or market. In our manufacturing processes, we use variouslsnitat are not widely used by others or activedgléd anc
therefore, there is no established efficient maf&etderivative financial instruments that could bed to effectively hedge the related ¢
exposures. For certain applications, our pricingcpice with respect to these metals is to estaltlishselling price based upon our cos
purchase the material, limiting our price expostt@wever, the inventory
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carrying value may be exposed to market fluctuatidrne inventory value is maintained at the lowfecast or market and if the market ve
were to drop below the carrying value, the inveptopuld have to be reduced accordingly and a cheaigen against cost of sales. This ris
mainly associated with long manufacturing lead titems and with sludges and scrap materials, w@éterally have longer processing time
be refined or processed into a usable form foh&rranufacturing and are typically not coveredjbgcific sales orders from customers. We
not record any material lower of cost or marketrgha in 2013, 2012 or 2011 as a result of markeg ffluctuations on metals in our inventori

Interest rates. We are exposed to changes in interest rates oiop®f our debt and cash balances. This inteagstaxposure is manag
by maintaining a combination of short-term and lkeegn debt and variable and fixed rate instrumeMs.may also use interest rate swaps t
the interest rate on variable rate obligationsyagleem appropriate. There were no interest rateatizes outstanding as of December 31, 2
Excess cash is typically invested in high qualitstiuments that mature in ninety days or less.diments are made in compliance with poli
approved by the Board of Directors. Assuming nangeain the amount or makgs of the outstanding debt as of December 31, 202780 bas
point movement upwards in the interest rates orvatiable rate debt would increase our annualéstezxpense by $0.9 million.

Foreign currencies.Portions of our international operations sell prddipriced in foreign currencies, mainly the eund gen, while th
majority of these productgosts are incurred in U.S. dollars. We are expasezlirrency movements in that if the U.S. dollaesgthens, tr
translated value of the foreign currency sale &edrésulting margin on that sale will be reducee. Wpically cannot increase the price of
products for shorterm exchange rate movements because of local ditimpeTo minimize this exposure, we may purchémeign currenc
forward contracts, options and collars in complemdth approved policies. If the dollar strengthénie decline in the translated value of
margins would be at least partially offset by angan the hedge contract. A decrease in the valdleeoflollar would result in larger margins
potentially a loss on the contract, depending upenmethod used to hedge the exposure. Our cyyadioy limits our hedges to 80% or les:
the forecasted exposure.

The notional value of the outstanding currency @mis was $31.0 million as of December 31, 201thdfdollar weakened 10% against
currencies we have hedged from the December 38 @ddhange rates, the reduced gain and/or incrdasedn the outstanding contracts ¢
December 31, 2013 would reduce pe&-profits by approximately $3.1 million in 2018his calculation does not take into account thecas
in margins as a result of translating foreign cocsesales at the more favorable exchange ratesglzanyges in margins from potential volt
fluctuations caused by currency movements or taestation effects on any other foreign currencyot@nated income statement or bale
sheet item.

Utilities. The cost of natural gas and electricity used inaperations may vary from year to year and fronsgedo season. We attemp
minimize these fluctuations and the exposure tddrigcosts by utilizing fixed price agreements df derations, when deemed appropri
obtaining competitive bidding between regional ggesuppliers and other methods.

Economy.We are exposed to changes in global economic donditind the potential impact those changes mag bawarious facets
our business. We have a program in place to closelgitor the credit worthiness and financial coieditof our key providers of financ
services, including our bank group and insuranceers, as well as the credit worthiness of custenaad vendors and have various conting
plans in place.

We negotiated extensions to our bank lines forigrednsignment and hedging purposes during 201 8eheral, the credit capacity un
these lines has increased. These lines are ebidbhgith a number of different banks in order tdigaite our exposure with any one finan
institution. All of the banks in our bank group har@dit in good standing as of yeamd 2013. The financial statement impact from ible af one
or more of the banks in our bank group droppinglimgs due to their insolvency or other causes athea estimated at the present time.
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Management’s Report on Internal Control over Finangal Reporting

The management of Materion Corporation and sulygidiare responsible for establishing and maimgimidequate internal controls ¢
financial reporting, as such term is defined in lEawge Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). Materiaorg@ration and subsidiariegiterna
control system was designed to provide reasonasigrance to the Compasymnanagement and Board of Directors regarding riyggpation an
fair presentation of published financial statemeatkinternal control systems, no matter how wadkigned, have inherent limitations. Theref
even those systems determined to be effective cavide only reasonable assurance with respectranéial statement preparation
presentation.

Materion Corporation and subsidiaries’ managemssessed the effectiveness of the Compaimgernal control over financial reporting
of December 31, 2013. In making this assessmentuseel the framework set forth by the Committee périSoring Organizations of t
Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria) in Inte@ahtrol -Integrated Framework (1992). Based on our assessmanagement identifiec
deficiency in the Compang’internal control over financial reporting thahstitutes a material weakness as of December 3B. Zpecifically
our management review controls failed to detectenelterrors in the physical inventory count redbation process at one of our facilit
during 2013. As a result of this material weaknesanagement concluded that we did not maintainctfte internal control over financ
reporting as of December 31, 2013.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combamatf deficiencies, in internal control over finsdlcreporting, such that there i
reasonable possibility that a material misstatenoérdur annual or interim financial statements widit be prevented or detected on a tir
basis.

The effectiveness of our internal control over ficial reporting as of December 31, 2013 has beditealiby Ernst & Young LLP, ¢
independent registered public accounting firm,tated in their report.

/'s/ RICHARD J. HIPPLE
Richard J. Hipple
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

/sl JOHN D. GRAMPA

John D. Grampa

Senior Vice President Finance and
Chief Financial Officer
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Materion Corporation

We have audited Materion Corporation and subsisamternal control over financial reporting as of Beter 31, 2013, based on crit
established in Internal Controttegrated Framework issued by the Committee ohSpiong Organizations of the Treadway Commissi®9%
framework) (the COSO criteria). Materion Corporatiand subsidiarieshanagement is responsible for maintaining effecinternal contrc
over financial reporting, and for its assessmenthef effectiveness of internal control over finahaeporting included in the accompany
Management’'s Report on Internal Control over FimgriReporting. Our responsibility is to expressoginion on the compang’internal contre
over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statsdof the Public Company Accounting Oversightidd@nited States). Those stand:
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtaasonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting w
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal corakar financial reporting, assessing the
that a material weakness exists, testing and etiaduthe design and operating effectiveness ofrivalecontrol based on the assessed risk
performing such other procedures as we considezedssary in the circumstances. We believe thaawdit provides a reasonable basis for
opinion.

A companys internal control over financial reporting is ag@ess designed to provide reasonable assuranaeliregthe reliability of financiz
reporting and the preparation of financial statetsidor external purposes in accordance with gelyeeadcepted accounting principles.
companys internal control over financial reporting incledéhose policies and procedures that (1) pertathgéanaintenance of records tha
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettlansactions and dispositions of the assetseofdmpany; (2) provide reasonable assuranc
transactions are recorded as necessary to perepiau@tion of financial statements in accordancé génerally accepted accounting princig
and that receipts and expenditures of the compeaypeing made only in accordance with authorizatiohmanagement and directors of
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurancediagaprevention or timely detection of unauthorizegtjuisition, use or disposition of
company’s assets that could have a material effetihe financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohwver financial reporting may not prevent or detaisstatements. Also, projections of
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods angjext to the risk that controls may become inadegbecause of changes in conditions, o
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combamatf deficiencies, in internal control over fing@laeporting, such that there is a reasor
possibility that a material misstatement of the pany’s annual or interim financial statements will net firevented or detected on a tin
basis. The following material weakness has beentifigd in managemers’ assessment. Management has identified a mategiitness i
controls related to management review controlsftibed to detect material errors in the physicakintory count reconciliation process at or
their facilities during 2013. We also have auditiedaccordance with the standards of the Public @omg Accounting Oversight Board (Uni
States), the consolidated balance sheets as ofibece31, 2013 and 2012, and the related consotidstetements of income, comprehen
loss, shareholder®quity, and cash flows for each of the three yéarthe period ended December 31, 2013. This matesgakness we
considered in determining the nature, timing anémrof audit tests applied in our audit of the 2@hancial statements, and this report doe
affect our report dated March 14, 2014, which esped an unqualified opinion on those financiakstents.

In our opinion, because of the effect of the matenieakness described above on the achievemerteoblijectives of the control critel
Materion Corporation and subsidiaries has not raairtl effective internal control over financial ogjing as of December 31, 2013, baser
the COSO criteria.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Cleveland, Ohio
March 14, 2014
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Materion Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated talsineets of Materion Corporation and subsidiagesf December 31, 2013 and 2012,
the related consolidated statements of income, oeimegpsive income, shareholdeegjuity, and cash flows for each of the three y@arhe
period ended December 31, 2013. Our audits aldadad the financial statement schedule listed aitidex at Item 15(a). These finan
statements and schedule are the responsibilithefGompanys management. Our responsibility is to express @nian on these financi
statements and schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstais of the Public Company Accounting OversighafloUnited States). Those stand.
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtaaisonable assurance about whether the finastataiments are free of material misstater
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, exidesupporting the amounts and disclosures initlaadial statements. An audit also inclL
assessing the accounting principles used and wignifestimates made by management, as well asativeg the overall financial statem
presentation. We believe that our audits provideagonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referrecabove present fairly, in all material respedtg, tonsolidated financial position of Matet
Corporation and subsidiaries at December 31, 206832812, and the consolidated results of its oeraiand its cash flows for each of the tl
years in the period ended December 31, 2013, ifoomity with U.S. generally accepted accountingipiples. Also, in our opinion, the rela
financial statement schedule, when considerediatioa to the basic financial statements taken ab@le, presents fairly in all material resp
the information set forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stdsdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Boddnited States), Materi
Corporation and subsidiaries’ internal control ofieancial reporting as of December 31, 2013, basedriteria established in Internal Control-
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee ofnSpwng Organizations of the Treadway Commissid®®®lframework) and our rep
dated March 14, 2014, expressed an adverse ogiméoeon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Cleveland, Ohio
March 14, 2014
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(Thousands except per share amounts)
Net sales

Cost of sales
Gross margin

Materion Corporation and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Income

Selling, general and administrative expense

Research and development expense
Other — net
Operating profit
Interest expense — net
Income before income taxes
Income tax expense
Net income
Basic earnings per share:
Net income per share of common stock
Diluted earnings per share:
Net income per share of common stock

Cash dividends per share

Weighted-average number of shares of common stockitstanding

Basic
Diluted

Years Ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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2013 2012 2011
1,166,88: $ 1,273,070 $ 1,526,73
978,90 1,074,29! 1,311,40!
187,97¢ 198,78: 215,32!
133,25¢ 133,89 131,38t
13,43 12,50¢ 11,08
14,46: 15,60¢ 15,77
26,83 36,77¢ 57,07¢
3,03¢ 3,13¢ 2,812
23,79¢ 33,64: 54,26¢
4,08¢ 8,97¢ 14,28
19,707 $ 24,66¢ $ 39,97¢
09¢ $ 1.21 $ 1.9¢
094 % 1.1¢ $ 1.9¢
031t $ 0.22t % =
20,57 20,41¢ 20,36¢
20,89¢ 20,67¢ 20,75¢




Materion Corporation and Subsidiaries
Years Ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

(Thousands) 2013 2012 2011
Net income $ 19,707 $ 24.66¢ $ 39,97¢
Other comprehensive income:
Foreign currency translation adjustment (3,790 (870) 95¢
Derivative and hedging activity, net of tax benéditpense) of $160, $385, and ($1,047) (29¢) (715) 1,94¢
Pension and post employment benefit adjustmenpfrtek of ($17,613), $7,676, and
$12,292 32,627 (14,629 (23,509
Net change in accumulated other comprehensive iacom 28,54 (16,219 (20,599
Comprehensive income $ 48,24t § 845 § 19,38(

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Materion Corporation and Subsidiaries
Years Ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(Thousands) 2013 2012 2011
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $ 19,707 $ 24,66¢ % 39,97¢
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cashigeal from operating activities:
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 41,64¢ 37,04¢ 43,63t
Amortization of deferred financing costs in intérespense 67¢ 64¢ 55¢
Stock-based compensation expense 5,741 5,88¢ 5,00(
Deferred tax (benefit) expense (2,442 (2,462) (1,669
Changes in assets and liabilities net of acquisséta and liabilities:
Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable 11,95¢ (8,919 26,81¢
Decrease (increase) in other receivables 16C 4,19 (630
Decrease (increase) in inventory (8,24)) (18,880 (30,01¢)
Decrease (increase) in prepaid and other curreetas 6,64 48% (7,579
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and acexpedses (7,739 1,47 (2,580)
Increase (decrease) in unearned revenue (1,069 (1,499 661
Increase (decrease) in interest and taxes payable 2,391 (2,329 (5,89))
Increase (decrease) in long-term liabilities 6,87¢ (5,057 (15,999
Other — net (401) 3,34 4,50:
Net cash provided from operating activities 75,92: 38,62( 56,80¢
Cash flows from investing activities:
Payments for purchase of property, plant and egeiippm (27,849 (34,089 (28,18
Payments for mine development (4,776 (10,579 (560)
Reimbursement for capital spending under governmemtract — 991 5,38¢
Payments for purchase of business less cash receive — (3,899 (22,449
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 22 — 54
Other investments — net 15 4,201 (4,279
Net cash (used in) investing activities (32,589 (43,369 (50,029
Cash flows from financing activities:
Issuance (repayment) of short-term debt (13,697 8,594 (6,950
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 70,42: 32,40: 118,58:
Repayment of long-term debt (86,03¢) (27,98¢) (116,42Y
Principal payments under capital lease obligations (657) (749 (812
Cash dividends paid (6,499 (4,615 —
Deferred financing costs (1,587 — (2,637)
Repurchase of common stock — (119 (3,77¢)
Issuance of common stock under stock option plans 1,16: 15¢€ 73E
Tax benefit from stock compensation realization 711 817 65¢
Net cash (used in) provided from financing activites (36,172) 8,50: (10,62%
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and gaslrakents (445 41 (@D}
Net change in cash and cash equivalents 6,71¢ 3,801 (3,849
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 16,05¢ 12,25¢ 16,10
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 22,77¢ % 16,05¢ $ 12,25t

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Materion Corporation and Subsidiaries
December 31, 2013 and 2012

Consolidated Balance Sheets

(Thousands) 2013 2012
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 22,77¢ % 16,05¢
Accounts receivable (net of allowance of $1,4212@13 and $1,403 for 2012) 112,76° 126,48
Other receivables 24t 40~
Inventories 213,39: 206,12!
Prepaid expenses 35,76: 41,68¢
Deferred income taxes 9,56¢ 10,23¢
Total current assets 394,50¢ 400,98
Long-term deferred income taxes 4,672 19,94¢
Property, plant and equipment 782,87¢ 779,78!
Less allowances for depreciation, amortization @gletion (520,98¢) (507,24))
Property, plant and equipment — net 261,89: 272,54;
Intangible assets 24,24¢ 28,86¢
Other assets 3,87¢ 3,81¢
Goodwill 88,75! 88,75!
Total Assets $ 777,948 3 814,91
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities
Short-term debt $ 35,56t $ 49,43:
Accounts payable 36,55¢ 42,28:
Salaries and wages 28,20: 27,76¢
Taxes other than income taxes 1,527 1,05¢
Other liabilities and accrued items 25,12; 26,98¢
Unearned revenue 47¢ 1,54:
Income taxes 1,56¢ —
Total current liabilities 129,01¢ 149,06°
Other long-term liabilities 16,53: 16,17
Retirement and post-employment benefits 80,27¢ 125,97¢
Unearned income 56,49( 61,18
Long-term income taxes 1,57¢ 1,51(
Deferred income taxes 1,46¢ 1,13(
Long-term debt 29,267 44,88(
Shareholders’ equity
Serial preferred stock (no par value; 5,000 autlearishares, none issued) — —
Common stock (no par value; 60,000 authorized sh#&sued shares of 27,164 for 2013 and 27,050 for
2012) 197,57¢ 191,16¢
Retained earnings 441 51¢ 428,39
Common stock in treasury (6,274 shares for 20136a6@7 shares for 2012) (118,15) (118,299
Other comprehensive income (loss) (59,88%) (88,429
Other equity transactions 2,26¢ 2,15¢
Total shareholders’ equity 463,32: 414,99!
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity $ 777,948 % 814,91

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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(Thousands)
Balance at January 1, 2011

Net income

Other comprehensive income

Proceeds from exercise of 53 shares under optamspl
Income tax benefit from stock compensation reatrat
Repurchase of 132 shares

Stock-based compensation expense

Shares withheld for employee taxes on equity awards
Directors' deferred compensation

Balance at December 31, 2011

Net income

Other comprehensive income

Cash dividends declared

Proceeds from exercise of 16 shares under optamspl
Income tax benefit from stock compensation reatrat
Repurchase of 6 shares

Stock-based compensation expense

Shares withheld for employee taxes on equity awards
Directors' deferred compensation

Balance at December 31, 2012

Net income

Other comprehensive income

Cash dividends declared

Proceeds from exercise of 74 shares under optamspl
Income tax benefit from stock compensation reabrat
Stock-based compensation expense

Shares withheld for employee taxes on equity awards
Directors’ deferred compensation

Balance at December 31, 2013

Materion Corporation and Subsidiaries
Years Ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity

Common Other Other
Common Retained Stock In Comprehensive Equity
Stock Earnings Treasury Income (Loss) Transactions Total

$ 180,16: $ 368,40: $ (115,09() (51,616 $ 2,50C $ 384,35¢
— 39,97¢ — — — 39,97¢
= = = (20,599 = (20,599
73t — — — — 73t
65€ — — — — 65€
— — (3,77¢) — — (3,77€)
5,00(C — — — — 5,00(C
(641) — — — — (641)
= = 587 = (317) 27C
185,91¢ 408,38( (118,279 (72,21%) 2,18¢ 405,98:
— 24,664 — — — 24,664
_ _ — (16,219 — (16,219
— (4,650 — — — (4,650)
15¢€ — — — — 15¢€
817 — — — — 817
— — (119 — — (119
5,88¢ — — — — 5,88¢
(1,60¢) — — — — (1,60¢)
= = 10C = (24 76
191,16¢ 428,39: (118,299 (88,429 2,15¢ 414,99:
— 19,707 — — — 19,707
— — — 28,54: — 28,54:
= (6,589) = = = (6,589)
1,162 — — — — 1,162
711 — — — — 711
5,741 — — — — 5,741
(1,209) = = = = (1,209)
— — 147 — 107 254
$ 197,57¢ $ 44151t % (118,15) (59,88) $ 2,266 $ 463,32

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Materion Corporation and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note A — Significant Accounting Policies

Organization: The Company is a holding company with subsidgatieat have operations in the United States, EuampkAsia. Thes
operations manufacture advanced engineered matersgd in a variety of markets, including consurlectronics, defense and sciel
industrial components and commercial aerospacenative electronics, telecommunications infrastitet energy, medical and appliance.
Company has four reportable segments:

Advanced Material Technologiesanufactures precious and non-precious vapor diéposargets, frame lid assemblies, advanced
chemicals, performance coatings, optics, microsdeat packages, other precious and non-precioualpegducts and specialty
inorganic materials;

Performance Alloysnanufactures high precision strip and bulk prodércis copper and nickel-based alloys;

Beryllium and Compositggroduces beryllium metal, beryllium and nberyllium metal matrix composites and beryllia cei@s in ¢
variety of forms; and

Technical Materialsmanufactures clad inlay and overlay metals, preciand base metal electroplated systems and otlaec
products.

See Note M to the Consolidated Financial Statemen&additional segment details. The Company isieaty integrated and distributes
products through a combination of company-owneditias and independent distributors and agents.

Use of Estimates: The preparation of financial statements in oomity with accounting principles generally accebia the Unite
States requires management to make estimates authptions that affect the amounts reported in ith@ntial statements and accompan
notes. Actual results may differ from those estanat

Consolidation: The Consolidated Financial Statements inclide accounts of Materion Corporation and its subsies. All of the
Company'’s subsidiaries are wholly owned as of Ddmem31, 2013. Intercompany accounts and transacéimmeliminated in consolidation.

Cash Equivalents: All highly liquid investments with a maturityf three months or lesshen purchased are considered to be
equivalents.

Accounts Receivable: An allowance for doubtful accounts is maintainedtfee estimated losses resulting from the inabdftgustomer
to pay the amounts due. The allowance is based igentified delinquent accounts, customer paymaittepns and other analyses of histo
data and trends. The Company extends credit tormess based upon their financial condition and galyecollateral is not required.

Inventories: Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or miarkhe cost of the majority of domestic inventsiiie determined using t
last-in, first-out (LIFO) method. The remaining entories are stated principally at average cost.

Property, Plant and Equipment: Property, plant and equipment is stated on theslidsiost. Depreciation is computed principallytbg
straight-line method, except certain assets forclwldepreciation may be computed by the units-ofipction or the sum-of-the-yeaddyit
method. The depreciable lives that are used in atimgpthe annual provision for depreciation by slagasset are as follows:

Years
Land improvements 5to 25
Buildings 10to 40
Leasehold improvements Life of lease
Machinery and equipment 3to 15
Furniture and fixtures 4to 15
Automobiles and trucks 2t0 8
Research equipment 6to 12
Computer hardware 3to 10
Computer software 3to 10
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An asset acquired under a capital lease will berdsd at the lesser of the present value of thegexd lease payments or the fair valu
the asset and will be depreciated in accordanck thi¢ above schedule. Leasehold improvements wildépreciated over the life of
improvement if it is shorter than the life of tlease. Repair and maintenance costs are expensediasd.

Mineral Resources and Mine Development: Property acquisition costs are capitalized ageral resources on the balance sheet ar
depleted using the units-pfoduction method based upon recoverable proveerves. Mine development costs are capitalized
mineralization has been classified as proven obaiite reserves. Drilling and related costs aretaliged for an ore body where proven
probable reserves exist if those activities areatéd at obtaining additional information about ¢he body or convert mineralized materials
proven or probable reserves. Drilling costs inadidaring the production phase are allocated toritorg. The cost of removing overburden
waste materials to access the ore body in an openepcapitalized and amortized as the ore isaeted using the units-giroduction methc
based upon the proven reserves in that particitla€psts incurred to access specific ore blockareas that only provide benefit over the lif
that area are amortized over the estimated liteatfspecific ore block area.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets: Goodwill is not amortized, but instead reviewathually as of December 31 of each yea
more frequently under certain circumstances, fgraimment. Goodwill is assigned to the reportingt,wvhich is the operating segment leve
one level below the operating segment. Intangibtets with finite lives are amortized using thaigtitline method or effective interest meth
as applicable, over the periods estimated to beflted, which is generally twenty years or lesnitE-lived intangible assets are also revie
for impairment if facts and circumstances warrant.

Asset Impairment: In the event that facts and circumstances indittae the carrying value of lorgred assets may be impaired,
evaluation of recoverability is performed by conmpgrthe carrying value of the assets to the asttiastimated future undiscounted cash 1
If the carrying value exceeds that cash flow, ttienassets are written down to their fair values.

Derivatives: The Company recognizes all derivatives on #ilarice sheet at their fair values. If the derivat&rdesignated and effect
as a cash flow hedge, changes in the fair valu¢hefderivative are recognized in other comprehengicome (loss), a component
shareholdersequity, until the hedged item is recognized in esys If the derivative is designated as a faiuedhedge, changes in its value
offset against the change in the value of the hédgset, liability or commitment through earningke ineffective portion of a derivative’
change in fair value, if any, is recognized in @aya immediately. If a derivative is not a hedgeamges in its fair value are adjusted thrc
income.

Asset Retirement Obligation: The Company records a liability to recognize ldgal obligation to remove an asset at the theeasset
acquired or when the legal liability arises. Thabiiity is recorded for the present value of themate obligation by discounting the estimi
future cash flows using a credit-adjusted fide interest rate. The liability is accreted otnere, with the accretion charged to expense. Al
equal to the fair value of the liability is recoddeoncurrent with the liability and depreciated otre life of the underlying asset.

Unearned Income: Expenditures for capital equipment to be reimburgeder government contracts are recorded in cartgiruin
process while the reimbursements for those expaneditare recorded in unearned income, a liabifitthe balance sheet. When the assets s
to reimbursement are placed in service, their totalt is depreciated over their useful lives are uhearned income liability is reduced
credited to cost of sales on the Consolidated ®tates of Income ratably with the annual depreamtgpense. Depreciation and amortize
expense on the Consolidated Statement of Cash Fostewn net of the associated current periodatamtuin the unearned income liability.

Revenue Recognition: The Company generally recognizes revenue when dbbesgare shipped and title passes to the custdrhe
Company requires persuasive evidence that a revemaagement exists, delivery of the product hasuwed, the selling price is fixed
determinable and collectibility is reasonably asdubefore revenue is realized and earned. Billingslvance of the shipment of the goods
recorded as unearned revenue, which is a lialglitghe balance sheet. Revenue is recognized fee thhansactions when the goods are shi
and all other revenue recognition criteria are met.

Shipping and Handling Costs: The Company records shipping and handling dostproducts sold to customers in cost of saleshe
Consolidated Statements of Income.

Advertising Costs: The Company expenses all advertising costa@sried. Advertising costs were $1.1 million in 20$1.2 millionin
2012, $3.1 million in 2011.

Stock-based Compensation: All stock-based compensation instruments, including optistogk appreciation rights, restricted stock
performance restricted stock, are viewed collettivéhen determining the accounting treatment ofttheconsiderations upon the realizatio
the benefit by the recipient.
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Capitalized InterestiInterest expense associated with active capitatassstruction and mine development projects stalzed an
amortized over the future useful lives of the mbassets.

Income Taxes: The Company uses the liability method in meaguthe provision for income taxes and recogniziieferred tax asse
and liabilities on the balance sheet. The Compaifiyecord a valuation allowance to reduce the defi tax assets to the amount that is 1
likely than not to be realized, as warranted byf#eés and circumstances. The Company applies a-ikaly-thannot recognition threshold f
all tax uncertainties and will record a liabilitgrfthose tax benefits that have a less than Bi8tthood of being sustained upon examinatiol
the taxing authorities.

Net Income Per Share: Basic earnings per share (EPS) is computed by idiyithcome available to common stockholders by
weightedaverage number of common shares outstanding fopehied. Diluted EPS reflects the assumed conwversfoall dilutive commo
stock equivalents as appropriate under the treadack method.

Reclassification:  Certain amounts in prior years have been rsifled to conform to the 2013 consolidated finahctatemer
presentation.

New Pronouncements: In 2011, the Financial Accounting Standards Bo&#ASB) issued two Accounting Standards Updates (4
which amended guidance for the presentation of cehgnsive income. The amended guidance requiresiity to present components of
income and other comprehensive income in one aomti® statement, referred to as the statement opredransive income, or in two separ
but consecutive statements. The current optioepont other comprehensive income and its comporierke statement of stockholdeegjuity
was eliminated. Although the new guidance chanigeptesentation of comprehensive income, there m@hanges to the components tha
recognized in net income or other comprehensiventeunder existing guidance. The ASU is effectiweiriterim and annual periods beginr
after December 15, 2011 and retrospective appieas required. The Company adopted these ASUsbigj with its disclosures for the fi
quarter 2012.

In February 2013, the FASB issued guidance thatires|an entity to disclose information showing éffect of the items reclassified from
accumulated other comprehensive income on theténes of net income. The provisions of this newdgnice were effective prospectively as of
the beginning of our 2013 fiscal year. Accordinglp, enhanced footnote disclosure for the year ebgegmber 31, 2013 was included.

In July 2013, the Financial Accounting Standardaf8dFASB) issued new accounting guidance thatiresjan entity to net its liability for
unrecognized tax positions against a net opers&sgycarryforward, a similar tax loss or a tax @redrryforward when settlement in this manner
is available under the tax law. The provisionshig hew guidance are effective as of the beginofrig014. Adoption of this new guidance is not
expected to have a material impact on the finarstéeéments.

Note B — Acquisitions

In the first quarter 2012, the Company acquired ddlithe outstanding stock of Aerospace Metal CorntessLimited (AMC) o
Farnborough, England for $3.3 million , net of $i8lion of cash acquired. AMC manufactures ultrafine pattite reinforced metal mat
composites, primarily aluminum materials, that ased in performance automotive, aerospace, def@mdeprecision high speed machir
applications. Goodwill was valued at $1.9 million .

In the fourth quarter of 2011, the Company acquiresl outstanding stock of EIS Optics Limited (Ef8) $23.0 million , net of1.t
million of cash acquired. EIS manufactures optical thim fillters, glass processing, lithography and optizdassemblies that allow for
precision management of light in a broad rangendfiese applications throughout the projection dispéatertainment lighting, sensors, mec
instruments and gaming industries. EIS manufactitseproducts at a 101,000 square foot facilitySimanghai, China. The $23.0 milligre!
purchase price includes $0.6 millipaid by the Company in the first quarter of 2012aa®sult of the resolution of working capital \etior
adjustments in accordance with the purchase agrge@eodwill assigned to the transaction totaled.$million .

Both of these acquisitions were financed with asimiation of cash on hand and borrowings under xiistieg revolving credit agreement.

The results of the above acquired businesses wehagded in the Company’financial statements since their respective atgpi dates
The AMC acquisition is included in the Beryllium du€omposites segment while the EIS acquisitiomduded in the Advanced Matel
Technologies segment. See Note E to the Consdiidétencial Statements for additional informationtbe intangible assets associated
these acquisitions.
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Note C — Inventories

Inventories on the Consolidated Balance Sheetsuamenarized as follows:

December 31,

(Thousands) 2013 2012
Principally average cost:
Raw materials and supplies $ 42,35. $ 42,75:
Work in process 203,10 203,17¢
Finished goods 45,50 51,09¢
Gross inventories 290,96: 297,02
Excess of average cost over LIFO inventory value 77,57( 90,89¢
Net inventories $ 213,39 $ 206,12

Average cost approximates current cost. Gross tovies accounted for using the LIFO method tot§&85.0 millionat December 3
2013 and $195.7 millioat December 31, 2012. The use of the LIFO methsdltisein a better matching of revenue and costs.lifjuidation o
LIFO inventory layers reduced cost of sales by $ildon in 2013 and $0.5 million in 2012.

Note D — Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment on the Consolidatddrize Sheets is summarized as follows:

December 31,

(Thousands) 2013 2012
Land $ 8,097 $ 8,791
Buildings 128,18 127,69:
Machinery and equipment 569,61 570,00:
Software 31,57: 31,64(
Construction in progress 14,36: 15,38¢
Allowances for depreciation (510,719 (503,56()
Subtotal 241,11 249,95!
Capital leases 10,91: 10,91:
Allowances for amortization (2,72¢) (2,440
Subtotal 9,18¢ 9,47
Mineral resources 4,97¢ 4,97¢
Mine development 15,15: 10,37:
Allowances for amortization and depletion (8,540 (2,249
Subtotal 11,59: 13,11
Property, plant and equipment — net $ 261,89 $ 272,54,

The Company has a Title Ill contract with the Depent of Defense (DoD) for the design and develapgnué a primary berylliur
production facility. Construction of the facilityauld not have been economically feasible withogistance from the government. The co:
the project, which included the equipment and logdand project design, administrative and otheregal costs that were not capitalizabl
fixed assets, totaled approximately $104.9 millidine Company capitalized $14.7 million of fixedets and $10.0 millioof capital leases a:
portion of its cost share for the project. Reimeuanents received by the Company from the DoD indug8.5 millionfor its share of the cost
equipment that was purchased by the Company atallétsin the facility. The cost paid by the Compawas recorded in property, plant i
equipment and the reimbursement from the governweastrecorded as unearned income on the Consdlidtlance Sheets. The uneal
income liability will be reduced and credited ted@me ratably with the depreciation expense recooded the useful life the equipment.

The equipment was placed in service during 201pr&=ation expense on the portion of the equipmértse cost was reimbursed by
DoD was $4.7 million in 2013 and $2.3 million in120 Accordingly, unearned income was reduced by $4llion in 2013 and $2.3 milliom
2012 and credited to cost of sales in the Congeliti&tatement of Income, offsetting the impacthef depreciation expense on the assoc
equipment on the Company's cost of sales and grasgin.
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Depreciation expense, including amortization f@ess recorded under capital lease, was $36.1 miti013, $31.0 millionn 2012 an
$37.5 millionin 2011. The expense in 2013 and 2012 is net ohbwe referenced reductions in the unearned indbiity. Depreciatior
depletion and amortization as shown on the Corstaldi Statement of Cash Flows is also net of thectezh in the unearned income liability
2013 and 2012. The net book value of capitalizé¢thsoe as of December 31, 2013 was $7.0 million $8.& millionas of December 31, 20:
Depreciation expense related to software was $illibmin 2013, $1.6 million in 2012 and $1.2 mdh in 2011.

Note E — Intangible Assets
Assets Acquired

The Company incurred $1.6 million for deferred fioeng costs associated with new debt agreemer2918 with a weightedverag
amortization period of 4.8 years.

Assets Subject to Amortization

The cost, accumulated amortization and net bookevaf intangible assets subject to amortizationfd3ecember 31, 2013 and 2012
the aggregate amortization expense for each yearahded is as follows:

(Thousands) 2013 2012
Deferred financing costs

Cost $ 7,79¢ % 6,427

Accumulated amortization (4,507%) (4,04

Net book value 3,281 2,37¢
Customer relationships

Cost 38,42° 38,42"

Accumulated amortization (22,629 (18,709

Net book value 15,80: 19,72«
Technology

Cost 12,09: 12,09:

Accumulated amortization (7,62¢6) (6,53¢)

Net book value 4,46¢ 5,55¢
License

Cost 2,48( 2,48(

Accumulated amortization (1,82¢) (2,340

Net book value 652 1,14(
Non-compete contracts

Cost 55C 55C

Accumulated amortization (550 (530

Net book value — 2C
Trade Name

Cost 62 62

Accumulated amortization (22 (10

Net book value 40 52
Total

Cost $ 61,40f $ 60,03¢

Accumulated amortization (37,157 (31,169

Net book value $ 24,248 % 28,86¢
Aggregate amortization expense $ 6,20¢ % 6,651

The aggregate amortization expense is estimatbd &5.9 million in 2014, $5.8 million in 2015, $5illion in 2016, $4.5 milliorin 2017
and $1.7 million in 2018.
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Assets Not Subject to Amortization

The Companys only intangible asset not subject to amortizatiogoodwill. A reconciliation of the goodwill agtty for 2013 and 2012
as follows:

(Thousands) 2013 2012

Balance at the beginning of the year $ 88,75! $ 84,03¢
Current year additions — 4,717
Balance at the end of the year $ 88,75! $ 88,75!

Goodwill totaling $86.9 million has been assignedhe Advanced Material Technologies segment whiéeremaining $1.9 milliomas
been assigned to the Beryllium and Composites segme

The goodwill acquired in 2012 was not deductibletéx purposes.

Note F — Debt

Long-term debt on the Consolidated Balance Sheetsrmmarized as follows:

December 31,

(Thousands) 2013 2012

Revolving credit agreement $ 15,000 $ 30,00(
Fixed rate industrial development revenue bondslplayin annual installments through 2021 6,57¢ 7,15¢
Variable rate industrial development revenue bgaisble in 2016 8,30¢ 8,30¢
Total outstanding 29,88( 45,46:
Current portion of long-term debt (61%) (587)
Total $ 29,267 % 44,88(

Maturities on long-term debt instruments as of Deloer 31, 2013 are as follows:

2014 $ 613
2015 652
2016 9,00(
2017 732
2018 15,77:
Thereafter 3,10¢
Total $ 29,88(

In July 2013, the Company entered into an amendedrestated credit agreement (Credit Agreement) wiit financial institutions th:
expires in 2018 and provides for a $375.0 milliemalving credit facility comprised of sulbeilities for revolving loans, swing line loanstter:
of credit and foreign borrowings. The Credit Agrexhalso provides for an uncommitted incrementzilifg whereby, under certain conditio
the Company may be able to borrow additional tevam$ in an aggregate amount not to exceed $100i0rmiBorrowings under the revolvi
credit facility are secured by substantially alltbé assets of the Company and its direct subggdjawith the exception of namining rea
property and certain other assets. The Credit Ageee allows the Company to borrow money at a premowver LIBOR or the prime rate anc
varying maturities. The premium resets quarterlgoading to the terms and conditions available urideragreement. At December 31, 2
there was $39.5 million outstanding against theetstof credit sulfacility. The Company pays a variable commitmert fleat resets quarte
(0.225% as of December 31, 2013) of the availabtunborrowed amounts under the revolving creut |

The Credit Agreement contains restrictive covenamtiiding incurring additional indebtedness, asdign limits, dividend declaratio
and stock repurchases. In addition, the Credit &gent includes covenants over a maximum leveratie aad a minimum fixed char
coverage ratio. The Company was in compliance alltbf its debt covenants as of December 31, 2013.
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The following table summarizes the Company’s skemt lines of credit. Amounts shown as outstandirggincluded in shoterm debt o
the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012
(Thousands) Total Outstanding Available Total Outstanding Available
Domestic $ 320,51 $ 6,291 $ 314,21¢ $ 256,79¢ $ 8,00 $ 248,79¢
Foreign 13,32( — 13,32( 15,26¢ 1,41 13,85:
Precious metal 28,66: 28,66: — 39,43¢ 39,43! —
Total $ 362,49. $ 34,95! $ 327,53¢ % 311,50 $ 48,85( $ 262,65(

While the available borrowings under the individeadisting credit lines total $327.5 millionthe covenants in the domestic cr
agreement restrict the aggregate available borigsvio $186.8 million as of December 31, 2013.

The domestic line is committed and includes all-fadiities in the $375.0 milliormaximum borrowing under the revolving cre
agreement. The Company has various foreign linesredit, one of which is for 3.5 millioeuros is committed and secured. The rema
foreign lines are uncommitted, unsecured and redeavenually. The average interest rate on short-téelnt was 2.47% and 2.43%s o
December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

In April 2011, the Company entered into an agregméth the Toledo-Lucas County Port Authority ame tDaytonMontgomery Count
Port Authority, who co-issued $8.0 millian taxable development revenue bonds, with a fexeubrtization term that will mature in 2021. ~
interest rate on these bonds is fixed at 4.9% badihamortized balance of the bonds was $6.6 miflidecember 31, 2013.

In November 1996, the Company entered into an aggaewith the Lorain Port Authority, Ohio to issfi8.3 million in variable rat
industrial revenue bonds, maturing in 2016. Théabde rate ranged from 0.19% to 0.38% in 2013 aoohf0.26% to 0.46% in 2012.

Note G — Leasing Arrangements

The Company leases warehouse and manufacturing,spagd manufacturing and computer equipment unplerating leases with teri
ranging up to 25 years . Operating lease expensrigted to $9.4 million , $9.0 million , and $8.9llen during 2013, 2012, and 20:
respectively. The future estimated minimum paymentder capital leases and ncancelable operating leases with initial lease $einmexces
of one year at December 31, 2013, are as follows:

Capital Operating
(Thousands) Leases Leases
2014 $ 1,07¢ $ 6,931
2015 1,06¢ 6,227
2016 1,06¢ 5,257
2017 1,06¢ 4,032
2018 1,06¢ 3,43¢
2019 and thereafter 4,701 12,11(
Total minimum lease payments 10,03t $ 37,99!
Amounts representing interest 2,157
Present value of net minimum lease payments $ 7,881

The Company was in compliance with all of the cargn contained in the lease agreements as of Dece3hp2013.

Note H — Fair Value Information and Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company measures and records financial instritea their fair value. A hierarchy is used favgl instruments measured at fair v
that distinguishes between assumptions based upoketrdata (observable inputs) and the Companglsngstions (unobservable inputs).
hierarchy consists of three levels:

Level 1 — Quoted market prices in active marketsdentical assets and liabilities;
Level 2 — Inputs other than Level 1 inputs thateither directly or indirectly observable; and
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Level 3 — Other significant unobservable inputs developedigigstimates and assumptions developed by the Gogmpdich reflec
those that a market participant would use.

The following table summarizes the financial instents measured at fair value in the Consolidatddrida Sheet as of December
2013:

Fair Value Measurements

Quoted Prices

in Active Other
Markets for Significant Significant
Identical Observable Unobservable
Assets Inputs Inputs
(Thousands) Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Financial Assets
Directors’ deferred compensation investments $ 53t § 53t § — 3 —
Precious metal forward contracts 11 — 11 —
Foreign currency forward contracts 29z — 29z —
Total $ 83t $ 53t $ 30 % =
Financial Liabilities
Directors’ deferred compensation liability $ 53t $ 53t $ —  $ =
Precious metal swaps 3C — 3C —
Foreign currency forward contracts 37¢ — 37¢ —
Total $ 944 % 53t $ 40¢ % —

The Company uses a market approach to value tlesaamsd liabilities for outstanding derivative aawts in the table above. Fore
currency and precious metal hedge contracts aredahrough models that utilize market observabfrits including both spot and forw.
prices for the same underlying currencies and metdde carrying values of the other working capttahs and debt on the Consolidated Bal.
Sheet approximate their fair values as of DecerBheP013.

The Company uses derivative contracts to hedgéoperof its foreign currency exposures and may atsoderivatives to hedge a por
of its precious metal exposures. The objectivesstiradegies for using derivatives in these areassaifollows:

Foreign Currency. The Company sells products to overseas custinetheir local currencies, primarily the euro ayeh. Thi
Company secures foreign currency derivatives, mdomnward contracts and options, to hedge thesiipated sales transactions. -
purpose of the hedge program is to protect ag#tiesteduction in the dollar value of foreign cuggrsales from adverse exchange
movements. Should the dollar strengthen signifigatiie decrease in the translated value of theigorcurrency sales should be parti
offset by gains on the hedge contracts. Dependiun uhe methods used, the hedge contract may timibenefits from a weakeni
U.S. dollar.

The use of forward contracts locks in a firm ratd aliminates any downside from an adverse rateemewt as well as any benefit fr
a favorable rate movement. The Company may fror tiontime choose to hedge with options or a tandeaoptions known as a coll;
These hedging techniques can limit or eliminate dbenside risk but can allow for some or all of thenefit from a favorable re
movement to be realized. Unlike a forward contragbremium is paid for an option; collars, whick arcombination of a put and «
option, may have a net premium but they can betstred to be cash neutral. The Company will pritpdredge with forward contrac
due to the relationship between the cash outlaytteatevel of risk.

Precious Metals. The Company maintains the majority of its ppeisimetal production requirements on consignmeatder to reduc
its working capital investment and the exposurentgal price movements. When a precious metal ptadui@bricated and ready -
shipment to the customer, the metal is purchasedfaronsignment at the current market price. Tiieeppaid by the Company forms
basis for the price charged to the customer. Ttathodology allows for changes in either directiorthe market prices of the precii
metals used by the Company to be passed throute ttustomer and reduces the impact changes iespeimuld have on the Compal
margins and operating profit. The consigned matalned by financial institutions who charge thempany a financing fee based u
the current value of the metal on hand.

In certain instances, a customer may want to ashattie price for the precious metal at the timeedhles order is placed rather than &
time of shipment. Setting the sales price at sedsfit date than when the material would be purchpeeentially creates an exposur
movements in the market price of the metal. Theegfim these limited situations, the Company magteo enter into a forward contr
to purchase precious metal. The forward contrdatvalthe Company
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to purchase metal at a fixed price on a specitierbudate. The price in the forward contract seagethe basis for the price to be cha
to the customer. By doing so, the selling price pmthase price are matched and the Company'sexumsure is reduced.

The Company refines precious metal containing rissefor its customers and typically will purchase refined metal from tl
customer at current market prices. In limited ainstances, the customer may want to fix the prideetpaid at the time of the orde:
opposed to when the material is refined. The custamay also want to fix the price for a set pewbtime. The Company may then e
to enter into a hedge contract, either a forwandtreat or a swap, to fix the price for the estirdatgiantity of metal to be purcha:
thereby reducing the exposure to adverse moverniretite price of the metal.

The Company may from time to time elect to purchpserious metal and hold in its inventory rathemrntlon consignment due
potential credit line limitations or other factofithese purchases are typically held for a showtér. A forward contract will be secul
at the time of the purchase to fix the price tawubed when the metal is transferred back to theigoment line, thereby limiting any pri
exposure during the time when the metal was owned.

A team consisting of senior financial managersawsi the estimated exposure levels, as defined tgdis, forecasts and other inte
data, and determines the timing, amounts and imgtnts to use to hedge that exposure. Managemelgzasdhe effective hedged rates anc
actual and projected gains and losses on the hgdiginsactions against the program objectivesetacgrates and levels of risk assumed. Fo
currency contracts are typically layered in ateafiht times for a specified exposure period in otdeminimize the impact of market r.
movements.

The use of derivatives is governed by policies &etbpy the Audit Committee of the Board of Direstofhe Company will only enter ir
a derivative contract if there is an underlyingniifiéed exposure. Contracts are typically held tatumity. The Company does not engag
derivative trading activities and does not usevdgiies for speculative purposes. The Company usds hedge contracts that are denomil
in the same currency or metal as the underlyingsuye.

The fair values of the outstanding derivativesramrded as assets (if the derivatives are in @ g@sition) or liabilities (if the derivativ
are in a loss position). The fair values will als® classified as short term or long term dependjmn their maturity dates. The following te
summarizes the notional amount and the fair vafuheoCompanys outstanding derivatives and their balance sHassitication as of Decemt
31, 2013 and 2012:

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012
Notional Fair Notional Fair
(Thousands) Amount Value Amount Value
Prepaid expenses
Foreign currency forward contracts - yen $ 4951 $ 29z % 8,02¢ % 65(C
Precious metal forward contracts 5,66 11 14,62 197
Total 10,61« 30: 22,64’ 847
Other liabilities and accrued items
Foreign currency forward contracts - euro 25,11: (3649) 21,04° (397
Precious metal swaps 4,511 (30) 11,67 (100
Total 29,62 (399 32,72( (497)
Other long-term liabilities
Foreign currency forward contracts - euro 952 (15) — —
Total $ 41,18¢ $ (10¢) $ 55,367 $ 35C

All of the foreign currency and precious metal dafive contracts outstanding at December 31, 20tB2912 were designated i
effective as cash flow hedges.

There was naneffectiveness associated with the derivative ramt$ outstanding at December 31, 2013 and 2012nparineffectivene:
expense was recorded in 2013, 2012 or 2011.

The change in the fair value of derivative consaetcorded in accumulated other comprehensive iacomtaled ($0.1) millioras o
December 31, 2013. The Company expects to relighstantially all of this balance to expense on @mmsolidated Statement of Income
2014. The change in fair value of derivative coetgan accumulated other comprehensive incomeet®d.4 million at December 31, 2012.
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Note | — Pensions and Other Post-retirement Beneft

The obligation and funded status of the Compangissipn and other posttirement benefit plans are shown below. The ParBenefit
column aggregates defined benefit pension plarthenU.S., Germany and England and the U.S. supplednestirement plans. The Otl
Benefits column includes the domestic retiree maddiad life insurance plan.

Pension Benefits Other Benefits
(Thousands) 2013 2012 2013 2012
Change in benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 253,83¢ $ 210,99¢ $ 3429 $ 33,20¢
Service cost 9,72¢ 7,91¢ 30t 28t
Interest cost 9,93¢ 9,91 1,242 1,43¢
Plan amendments _ 117 _ _
Actuarial (gain) loss (28,587 32,59: (2,396 1,49:
Benefit payments from fund (22,899 (7,529 — =
Benefit payments directly by Company (136) (129 (2,279 (2,437
Expenses paid from assets (619 (293 = —
Medicare Part D subsidy — — 22% 29¢
Foreign currency exchange rate changes 472 24¢ — —
Benefit obligation at end of year 221,74 253,83¢ 31,39¢ 34,29¢
Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 163,43 140,34« — —
Actual return on plan assets 23,82¢ 18,53¢ — —
Employer contributions 9,61°F 12,21¢ — —
Benefit payments from fund (22,899 (7,527) — =
Expenses paid from assets (619 (293) — —
Foreign currency exchange rate changes 12t 15€ — —
Fair value of plan assets at end of year 173,49: 163,43t — —
Funded status at end of year $ (48,259 $ (90,409 $ (31,399 $ (34,29
Amounts recognized in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets consist of:
Other assets $ 1,321 % 1,11: $ — 3 —
Other liabilities and accrued items (1,139 (475) (2,669 (2,669
Retirement and post-employment benefits (48,43) (91,040 (28,73Y) (31,63))
$ (48,259 $ (90,409 $ (31,399 $ (34,299
Afmounts recognized in other comprehensive income éffore tax) consist
of:
Net actuarial loss $ 78,98: $ 127,020 $ 52 % 2,47
Net prior service (credit) cost (1,739 (2,075 — 11&
$ 77,24¢ % 124,95 $ 52 % 2,581
Am)ortizations expected to be recognized during nextscal year (before
tax):
Amortization of net loss $ 5100 $ 7,731 % — % —
Amortization of prior service credit (434) (341 — 11E
$ 4,66€ $ 739 % — 8 118
Additional information
Accumulated benefit obligation for all defined b&npension plans $ 21358 $ 242,85: — —
For defined benefit pension plans with benefit gdions in excess of plan
assets:
Aggregate benefit obligation 216,56 249,07 — —
Aggregate fair value of plan assets 166,99: 157,56( — =
For defined benefit pension plans with accumuldtedefit obligations in
excess of plan assets:
Aggregate accumulated benefit obligation 208,40: 238,09( - =

Aggregate fair value of plan assets 166,99: 157,56(
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Components of net periodic benefit cost and othemaounts recognized in other comprehensive income (OC

Pension Benefits Other Benefits
(Thousands) 2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011
Net periodic benefit cost
Service cost $ 9,72¢ % 7,918 % 6,95t $ 308§ 28t % 284
Interest cost 9,93¢ 9,91 9,78¢ 1,24: 1,43¢ 1,59¢
Expected return on plan assets (12,26)) (11,939 (11,050 — — —
Amortization of prior service cost
(benefit) (340 (335 (335 11t 87 (3€)
Recognized net actuarial loss 7,91 5,60¢ 3,92( — — —
Net periodic benefit cost $ 14,97 % 11,16: $ 9,27¢ $ 1,66: $ 1,811 $ 1,84«
Pension Benefits Other Benefits
(Thousands) 2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011
Change in other comprehensive
income
OCI at beginning of year $ 124,95 $ 104,05¢ $ 69,71t $ 2,581 % 1,18 $ (275)
Increase (decrease) in OCI:
Recognized during year — prior
service cost (credit) 34C 33t 33t (115 (87) 36
Recognized during year -ret actuaris
(losses) gains (7,912 (5,605 (3,920 — — —
Occurring during year — prior service
cost — 117 43C — — —
Occurring during year — net actuarie
losses (gains) (40,149 25,99¢ 37,54: (2,397) 1,49¢ 1,41¢
Other adjustments 3 — — (23 — —
Foreign currency exchange rate
changes 12 57 (48) — — —
OCI at end of year $ 77,24¢ % 124,95 % 104,05¢ $ 52 $ 2,587 $ 1,18(
Summary of key valuation assumptions
Pension Benefits Other Benefits
2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011
Weighted-average assumptions use!
to determine benefit obligations at
fiscal year end
Discount rate 4.8(% 3.9%% N/A 4.5(% 3.7%% N/A
Rate of compensation increase 4.4% 4.44% N/A 4.5(% 4.5(% N/A
Weighted-average assumptions used
to determine net cost for the fiscal
year
Discount rate 3.91% 4.81% 5.4% 3.75% 4.5(% 5.1%%
Expected long-term return on plan
assets 7.48% 7.65% 7.88% N/A N/A N/A
Rate of compensation increase 4.42% 4.45% 3.97% 4.5(% 4.5(% 4.0(%

The Company uses a December 31 measurement déle faibove plans.

Effective January 1, 2014, the Company revisecepected londerm rate of return assumption used in calculatimgannual expense
its domestic defined benefit pension plan, decrggisito 7.25% from 7.50% . Effective January 1120he Company revised the expected long-
term rate of return assumption used in calculatiregannual expense for its domestic defined
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benefit pension plan, decreasing it to 7.50% fronb% , and effective January 1, 2012, this assumptias decreased to 7.75% from 8.000h
each instance, the impact was accounted for aarsgehin estimate.

Management establishes the domestic expectedtésngrate of return assumption by reviewing itstdrisal trends and analyzing !
current and projected market conditions in relatmthe plan$ asset allocation and risk management objectivessideration is given to bc
recent plan asset performance as well as plan psgdetmance over various lorigrm periods of time, with an emphasis on the apsiom being
a prospective, lonterm rate of return. Management consults with amkiclers the opinions of its outside investmentiss and actuari
when establishing the rate and reviews its assomptvith the Audit Committee of the Board of Diast Management believes that tha5%
domestic expected lortgrm rate of return assumption is achievable arabawable given current market conditions and fatscaass:
allocations, investment policies and investmerk oigjectives.

The rate of compensation increase assumption waasgeld to 4.5%or 2012 and years after in the domestic definatebiepension pla
and the domestic retiree medical plan. Previowstyraded assumption was used that resulted insamasion of 4.0% for the 2011.

In the second quarter 2012, the Company closedoitsestic defined benefit pension plan to new etgra@urrent plan participants v
continue to accrue benefits under the existing idasiwhile new hires will be offered an enhancefthéd contribution plan.

Assumptions for the defined benefit pension planéermany and England are determined separataty fhe U.S. plan assumptio
based on historical trends and current and prajeti@ket conditions in Germany and England. Tha plaGermany is unfunded and the pla
England has assets that are approximately 4.0%ec€bompany’s aggregated total fair value of plasetssas of year-end 2013.

Assumed health care trend rates at fiscal year end 2013 2012

Health care trend rate assumed for next year 7.50% 8.00%
Rate that the trend rate gradually declines tanfalte trend rate) 5.00% 5.00%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate 2019 2019

Assumed health care cost trend rates have a signifieffect on the amounts reported for the hezdtie plans. A one-percentageint
change in assumed health care cost trend ratesiwwauk the following effects:

1—Percentage- 1-Percentage-

Poaint Increase Point Decrease
(Thousands) 2013 2012 2013 2012
Effect on total of service and interest cost congms $ 3¢ $ 35 % (26) $ (31
Effect on post-retirement benefit obligation 602 827 (567) (729)
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Plan Assets

The following tables present the fair values of @@mpanys defined benefit pension plan assets as of Deaedihe013 and 2012
asset category. See Note H to the Consolidated&imaStatements for definitions of fair value laiexhy.

(Thousands)

Cash

Equity securities:

U.S. (a)
International (b)
Emerging markets (c)

Fixed income securities:
Intermediate-term bonds (d)
Short-term bonds (e)
Global bonds (f)

Other types of investments:

Real estate fund (g)

Multi-strategy hedge funds (h)

Private equity funds

Total

(Thousands)

Cash

Equity securities:

U.S. (@)
International (b)
Emerging markets (c)

Fixed income securities:
Intermediate-term bonds (d)
Short-term bonds (e)
Global bonds (f)

Other types of investments:

Real estate fund (g)

Multi-strategy hedge funds (h)

Private equity funds

Total

December 31, 2013

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
$ 6,56¢ 6,56¢ $ — —
63,32 54,09¢ 9,22¢ —
27,40: 23,91 3,49: —
14,16¢ 13,90¢ 257 —
21,87 14,48: 7,39z —
11,60¢ 11,60¢ — —
12,72¢ 10,87¢ 1,84¢ —
9,94: 9,88- 61 —
5,467 — — 5,467
417 — — 417
$ 173,49: 145,33. $ 22,27 5,88¢
December 31, 2012
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
$ 7,38¢ 7,38¢ % = -
54,69: 45,02¢ 9,66¢ —
22,68 19,65( 3,03: —
14,78¢ 14,53 251 —
26,74¢ 18,37¢ 8,371 —
11,65¢ 11,65¢ — —
12,854 11,18¢ 1,66¢ —
7,798 7,76¢ 25 —
4,191 — — 4,191
64t — — 64t
$ 163,43t 135,58! $ 23,01¢ 4,83¢

(a) Mutual funds that invest in various sectors ofth8. marke
(b) Mutual funds that invest in nds-S. companies primarily in developed countries #ia generally considered to be value st

(c) Mutual funds that invest in ndd-S. companies in emerging market count

(d) Includes a mutual fund that employs a valdented approach to fixed income investment mameage and a mutual fund that inve

primarily in investment-grade debt securities.

(e) Includes a mutual fund that seeks a market oatreturn for a fixedacome portfolio with low relative volatility of tarns, investin

generally in U.S. and foreign debt securities maguin five years or less .

(H Mutual funds that invest in domestic and fgresovereign securities, fixed income securitiesitgage-backed and asseteked bond
convertible bonds, high yield bonds and emergingkatdbonds.
(g) Includes a mutual fund that typically inveatdeast 80%f its assets in equity and debt securities of cmgs in the real estate indu:
or related industries or in companies which owmigicant real estate assets at the time of investme
(h) Includes a hedge fund that employs multiple stiatetp multiple asset classes with low correlati
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The following table summarizes changes in the ¥aiue of the Compang’ defined benefit pension plan Level 3 assets medsusin
significant unobservable inputs during 2013 and2201

Multi- Private
strategy Equity
(Thousands) Hedge Funds Funds Total
Balance as of January 1, 2012 $ 3,98¢ % 68z $ 4,671
Actual return:
On assets still held at reporting date 38¢€ 17 40z
On assets sold during the period (57 4 (53)
Purchases, sales and settlements (127) (58) (185)
Balance as of December 31, 2012 $ 4,191 % 64t % 4,83¢
Actual return:
On assets still held at reporting date 1,27¢ (93) 1,18
On assets sold during the period — 22¢ 22¢
Purchases, sales and settlements — (364) (369
Balance as of December 31, 2013 $ 5467 $ 417 % 5,88¢

Capital may be withdrawn from the multi-strategylge fund partnership on a monthly basis with ad@nnotice period.

The Companys domestic defined benefit pension plan investratrategy, as approved by the Governance and OggamizZCommittee «
the Board of Directors, is to employ an allocatarinvestments that will generate returns equalrtbetter than the projected loteyrm growitl
of pension liabilities so that the plan will befseinding. The return objective is to maximize ist@ent return to achieve and maintaihC%
funded status over time, taking into consideratiequired cash contributions. The allocation of stagents is designed to maximize
advantages of diversification while mitigating tfiek and overall portfolio volatility to achievedheturn objective. Risk is defined as the ar
variability in value and is measured in terms @& ftandard deviation of investment return. Under@ompanys investment policies, allowal
investments include domestic equities, internati@opities, fixed income securities, cash equivalemd alternative securities (which incl
real estate, private venture capital investmergdgh funds and tactical asset allocation). Ranigesrms of a percentage of the total asset:
established for each allowable class of securigriiatives may be used to hedge an existing sgaurias a risk reduction strategy. Current ¢
allocation guidelines are to invest 30% to 70%dnigy securities, 20% to 50% in fixed income setesiand cash and up to 20Bcalternativi
securities. Management reviews the asset allocaticen quarterly or more frequent basis and makasioas as deemed necessary.

None of the plan assets noted above are investibeé i@ompany’s common stock.
Cash Flows
Employer Contributions

The Company expects to contribute $19.0 milliofitdadomestic defined benefit pension plan and $allion to its other benefit plans
2014.
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Estimated Future Benefit Payments

The following benefit payments, which reflect exigetfuture service, as appropriate, are expectbe faid:

Other Benefits

Net of
Medicare
Gross Benefit Part D
Pension Benefits Payment Subsidy
(Thousands)
2014 $ 10,28( $ 2,66 $ 2,32z
2015 9,62¢ 2,74t 2,38¢
2016 10,20: 2,78¢ 2,41(
2017 12,86° 2,85: 2,45
2018 11,51¢ 2,88: 2,457
2019 through 2023 71,29: 13,27( 10,67"

Other Benefit Plans

In addition to the plans shown above, the Compdsy has certain foreign subsidiaries with accrueflinded pension and other post-
employment arrangements. The liability for thesamgements was $2.3 million at December 31, 2013%M6 millionat December 31, 20
and was included in retirement and post-employrhentfits on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The Company also sponsors defined contribution splawvailable to substantially all U.S. employeese ompanys annual define
contribution expense, including the expense foreghbanced defined contribution plan that was impleed in the second quarter 2012,
$2.8 million in 2013, $2.5 million in 2012 and $2lllion in 2011.

Note J — Contingencies and Commitments
CBD Claims

The Company is a defendant from time to time incpealings in various state and federal courts brtolgtplaintiffs alleging that the
have contracted chronic beryllium disease (CBDjetated ailments as a result of exposure to barlliPlaintiffs in CBD cases seek reco\
under theories of negligence and various other kbg®aries and seek compensatory and punitive dasag many cases of an unspecified !
Spouses, if any, often claim loss of consortium.

Employee cases, in which plaintiffs have a highdiearof proof, have historically involved relativedynall losses to the Company. Third-
party plaintiffs (typically employees of customefage a lower burden of proof than do the Compsieynployees, but these cases have gen
been covered by varying levels of insurance. Mamege has vigorously contested the CBD cases braggihst the Company.

Claims filed by thirdparty plaintiffs alleging CBD filed prior to the drof 2022 are covered by insurance if any portibthe allege
exposure period occurred prior to year-end 2007h Befense and indemnity costs are covered sutgjeart annual $1.0 milliodeductible an
other terms and provisions.

There were two CBD cases outstanding as of year2648 with a recorded reserve of $0.1 millio®ne of these cases was filed du
2013, while the other case was filed in 2012. Thegee no settlements paid or cases dismissed daéihg or 2012. There were tvaative case
during 2011, both of which were filed prior to 20X0ne of these cases was settled for less thanndillidn while the other case was dismis
during 2011.

Although it is not possible to predict the outcoofeany pending litigation, the Company provides ¢osts related to litigation matt
when a loss is probable and the amount is reaspestimable. Litigation is subject to many uncentiais, and it is possible that some of
actions could be decided unfavorably in amountseding the Compang’reserves. An unfavorable outcome or settlemeiat GBD case ¢
adverse media coverage could encourage the commentef additional similar litigation. The Compaisyunable to estimate its poten
exposure to unasserted claims.

Based upon currently known facts and assuming atdiiéty of insurance, the Company does not bedi¢ivat resolution of the current
future beryllium proceedings will have a materidverse effect on the financial condition or casiwfbf the Company. However, the Company’
results of operations could be materially affedigdinfavorable results in one or more cases.
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Insurance Recoverable

After recording and investigating a $7.4 milliamventory loss in the fourth quarter 2012, the Campfiled a claim with its insuran
provider under existing polices for theft. As oflgan the first quarter 2014, the insurance conypand the Company were still in discuss
regarding the claim and no payment to the Compauytieen made. No benefit from an insurance recovasyrecorded as of December
2013 or 2012. The benefit of any insurance recdlermay be recorded in future periods based uperaltfility to determine the amount of
recovery, an assessment of the probability of étevery and other factors and/or in the period wthercash is received.

Environmental Proceedings

The Company has an active program for environmeutapliance that includes the identification of irommental projects and estimat
their impact on the Comparg/financial performance and available resourcesir&mmental expenditures that relate to currentrafgens, suc
as wastewater treatment and control of airbornessions, are either expensed or capitalized as ppat®e. The Company records reserve:
the probable costs for identified environmental ediation projects. The Compasyénvironmental engineers perform routine ongoimgyese
of the remediation sites and will use outside ctiaats to assist in their analyses from time tcetirAccruals are based upon their analyse:
are established at either the best estimate oenalsbest estimate, at the low end of the estimatege of costs. The accruals are revised f
results of ongoing studies, changes in strategidistion and for differences between actual andjgmted costs. The accruals may als
affected by rulings and negotiations with regulatagencies. The timing of payments often lags twual, as environmental projects typic
require a number of years to complete.

The environmental reserves recorded represent dhhgp@ny's best estimate of what is reasonably pesaiid cover existing or currer
foreseen projects based upon the current factmouimstances. The Company does not believe thatrégasonably possible that the cos
resolve environmental matters for sites where tivestigative work and work plan development arestariially complete will be materia
different than what has been accrued while thenalt® loss contingencies for sites that are in tieéinpinary stages of investigation canno
reasonably determined at the present time. As faudscircumstances changes, the ultimate cost magused and the recording of additic
costs may be material in the period in which thditiwhal costs are accrued. The Company does ri@vkethat the ultimate liability fc
environmental matters will have a material impantits financial condition or liquidity due to thexttended period of time during whi
environmental remediation normally takes place.

The undiscounted reserve balance at the beginditigeoyear, the amounts expensed and paid andalhede at the end of the year
2013 and 2012 are as follows:

(Thousands) 2013 2012
Reserve balance at beginning of year $ (5,30)) $ (5,319
Expensed (50%) (316
Paid 99t 327
Reserve balance at end of year $ (4,809 $ (5,309
Ending balance recorded in:

Other liabilities and accrued items $ (430 $ (903)
Other long-term liabilities (4,379 (4,39¢)

The majority of spending in 2013 and 2012 was mious remediation projects at the Elmore, Ohimfptite with lesser amounts sper
other locations.

Long-term Obligation

The Company has a lorigrm supply agreement with Ulba/Kazatomprom of Republic of Kazakhstan and its marketing represiset,
Nukem, Inc. (Nukem) of Connecticut, for the purahas approximatel775,000pounds of beryllium copper master alloy. The pdcfor the
beryllium content of the material is fixed whileestprice for the copper content fluctuates baseah tipe monthly average LME market price.
contract was completed prior to year-end 2013. itases made under this agreement totaled $1.8 mifli@013, $5.2 million in 2012 arkB.€
million in 2011. The material purchased from Nuke&rused in the manufacture of berylliwwontaining alloy products by the Performa
Alloys segment.
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Other

The Company is subject to various other legal beoproceedings that relate to the ordinary coafses business. The Company belie
that the resolution of these proceedings, indiMiguar in the aggregate, will not have a materigverse impact upon the Compasy’
consolidated financial statements.

The Company has outstanding letters of credit itga$b27.3 million related to workersompensation, consigned precious n
guarantees, environmental remediation issues dredt ptatters, the majority of which will expire i024.

Note K — Common Stock and Stock-based Compensation

A reconciliation of the changes in the number ahowon shares issued is as follows:

(Thousands)

Issued as of January 1, 2011 26,96¢
Exercise of stock options and stock appreciatightsi (SARS) 55
Vesting of performance-restricted shares 1
Issued as of December 31, 2011 27,02
Exercise of stock options and SARs 26
Issued as of December 31, 2012 27,05(
Exercise of stock options and SARs 114
Issued as of December 31, 2013 27,16¢

Stock incentive plans (the 2006 Stock IncentivenRlad the 2006 Noamployee Director Equity Plan) were approved atMiag 2, 2001
annual meeting of shareholders. These plans améhtie granting of option rights, stock appreciatigghts, performanceestricted share
performance shares, performance units and restrgftares and replaced the 1995 Stock Incentive @ldrthe 1997 Stock Incentive Plan
Nor-employee Directors, although there are still amimutstanding under these plans. The 2006 Stomdntive Plan and the 2006 Non-
employee Director Equity Plan were amended to, amather things, add additional shares to the pl@hese amendments were approve
shareholders at the May 2011 annual meeting.

Stock Options

Stock options may be granted to employees oreroployee directors of the Company. Option rightstlenthe optionee to purche
common shares at a price equal to or greater themmrket value on the date of grant. Option rigiiemted to employees generally bec
exercisable (i.e., vest) over a four -year perind aexpire ten yearfsom the date of the grant. Options granted to eyess may also be isst
with shorter vesting periods. Options granted to-amployee directors vest in six months and exjgreyeardrom the date of the grant. T
number of options available to be issued is esthed in plans approved by shareholders. The ereofisptions is generally satisfied by
issuance of new shares.

The following table summarizes the Company’s stmaon activity during 2013:

Weighted-
average Weighted-
Exercise Aggregate average
Number of Price Per Intrinsic Remaining

(Shares in thousands) Options Share Value Term (Years)
Outstanding at December 31, 2012 9% ¢ 15.9¢
Exercised (74) 15.6(
Canceled Q) 10.3C
Outstanding at December 31, 2013 21 17.2¢ % 291,00( 1.0
Vested and expected to vest as of December 31, 2013 21 17.2¢ 291,00( 1.0
Exercisable at December 31, 2013 21 17.2¢ 291,00( 1.0
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Summarized information on options outstanding é@exfember 31, 2013 is as follows:

Number Weighted- Weighted-

Outstanding average average

and Exercisable Remaining Exercise

Range of Option Prices (Thousands) Life (Years) Price

$14.80 2 1.3 $ 14.8(
$17.08 4 0.1 17.0¢
$17.68 15 1.1 17.6¢
Total 21 0.9 $ 17.2¢

Cash received from the exercise of stock optioteleéd $1.2 million in 2013, $0.2 million in 2012ca$0.7 millionin 2011. The bene
realized from tax deductions from exercises wa$ $tlllion in 2013, $0.1 million in 2012 and $0.5lkein in 2011. The total intrinsic value
options exercised during the years ended Decemhe03d.3, 2012 and 2011 was $1.0 million , $0.3ianiland $1.4 million , respectively.

Restricted Stocl

The Company may grant restricted stock to emplogeesnonemployee directors of the Company. These shareseatdécted and ve
over a designated period of time as defined atdiite of the grant and are forfeited should the drtddemployment terminate during
restriction period. The fair market value of thetrieted shares is determined on the date of thet@nd is amortized over the restriction pe
The restriction period is typically three years .

The fair value of the restricted stock is basedhanclosing stock price on the date of grant. Te@htedaverage grant date fair value
2013, 2012 and 2011 was $27.35 , $27.87 and $3%ekpectively.

Compensation cost was $2.5 million in 2013, $2.Wigni in 2012 and $2.5 milliorin 2011. The unamortized compensation cost o
outstanding restricted stock was $2.4 million aPDetember 31, 2013 and is expected to be amortized a weighted-average period 1
months. The benefit realized from tax deductionsnfithe vesting of restricted stock totaled $0.diomlin 2013, $0.7 million in 2012 arfiD.z
million in 2011.

The following table summarizes the restricted stactivity during 2013:

Weighted-

average

Number of Grant Date

(Shares in thousands) Shares Fair Value
Outstanding at December 31, 2012 228 % 30.1¢
Granted 67 27.3¢
Vested (66) 27.7:
Forfeited (24) 29.3¢
Outstanding at December 31, 2013 20C g 32.71

Long-term Incentive Plans

Under longterm incentive compensation plans, executive affiead selected other employees receive cashak ateards based upon
Company’s performance over the defined period,cbipi three years Awards may vary based upon the degree to whittmhperformanc
exceeds the prdetermined threshold, target and maximum performéanels at the end of the performance periodsottaymay be subjected
attainment of threshold performance objectives.

Compensation expense is based upon the perforn@ogections for the threeyear plan period, the percentage of requisite se
rendered and the fair market value of the Commaogimmon shares on the date of grant. The offsietcompensation expense for the po
of the award to be settled in shares is recorddumshareholders’ equity and was $0.8 million264.3, $0.4 million for 2012 and zefor 2011,

Directors Deferred Compensatic

Non-employee directors may defer all or part ofirtfiees into the Compangy’common shares. The fair value of the deferredeshi
determined at the share acquisition date and isrded within shareholders’ equity. Subsequent cearig the fair value of the Compasy’
common shares do not impact the recorded valutteeathares.
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The following table summarizes the stock activay the directors' deferred compensation plan duzbitg:

Weighted-

average

Number of Grant Date

(Shares in thousands) Shares Fair Value
Outstanding at December 31, 2012 10 % 22.2¢
Granted 15 26.9¢
Distributed (27) 20.3:2
Outstanding at December 31, 2013 101 ¢ 23.7¢

There was ndncome or expense associated with this plan redoiml€013, 2012 or 2011. During the years endedeBPder 31, 201
2012 and 2011, the weighted-average grant datedhie of shares granted was $26.99 , $23.10 aB®$3 respectively.

Stock Appreciation Right

The Company may grant SARs to certain employeesnamE&mployee directors. Upon exercise of vested SARes,plarticipant wi
receive a number of shares of common stock equhktspread (the difference between the marke¢ pfithe Compang’ common shares at*
time of the exercise and the strike price estabtisih the SARs agreement) divided by the commoreshidce. The strike price of the SAR:
equal to or greater than the market value of the@mys common shares on the day of the grant. The nuoft®2ARs available to be issuel
established by plans approved by the sharehol@ibesvesting period and the life of the SARs araldisghed in the SARs agreement at the
of the grant. The exercise of the SARs is satisfigdhe issuance of treasury shares. The SARstlest yeardrom the date of grant. SAl
granted prior to 2011 expire in ten years , whike 8ARs granted in 2011 and later expire in seeamnsy.

The following table summarizes the Company's SARiity during 2013:

Weighted-

average Weighted-
Exercise Aggregate average
Number of Price Per Intrinsic Remaining
(Shares in thousands) SARs Share Value Term (Years)
Outstanding at December 31, 2012 99: $ 24.8(
Granted 147 28.3
Exercised (14%) 17.42
Cancelled (11) 31.9(
Outstanding at December 31, 2013 984 26.3¢ $ 6,211,00! 5.0
Vested and expected to vest as of December 31, 2013 984 26.3¢ 6,211,00! 5.0
Exercisable at December 31, 2013 511 20.9¢ 5,592,00! 4.7

The weighted-average fair value of the SARs gramefl013 was $12.54 The fair value will be amortized to compensatawst on
straight-line basis over the three-year vestingogeiCompensation cost was $2.4 million , $2.8ionlland $2.5 milliorin 2013, 2012 and 201
respectively, and was included in selling, genaral administrative expense. The unamortized conapienscost balance was $2.6 millias o
December 31, 2013.

Summarized information on SARs outstanding as afdéer 31, 2013 follows:

Weighted- Weighted-

Number average average

Outstanding Remaining Exercise

SARs Prices (Thousands) Life (Years) Price

$15.01 221 4.8 $ 15.01
$21.24-$24.03 22% 5.0 21.8i
$27.78-$29.45 35z 55 28.8¢
$34.30-$39.30 14¢ 4.4 39.1¢
$44.72 39 3.0 44.7:
984 5.0 $ 26.3¢

The SARs granted at $15.01 , $24.03 , $27.78 add/34are exercisable.
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The fair value of the SARs was estimated on thatgtate using the Black-Scholes pricing model it following assumptions:

2013 2012 2011
Risk-free interest rate 0.7(% 0.8%% 0.05%
Dividend yield 1.1% —% —%
Volatility 56.6% 50.(% 58.7%
Expected lives (in years) 5.C 5.C 6.5

The risk-free rate of return was based upon the fpear Treasury note rate at the time the SARs weaeted. The Company initiate
dividend in May 2012, subsequent to the 2012 gdaé. The share price volatility was calculatededaspon the actual closing prices of
Company's common shares at month end over a pefriagproximately teryears prior to the granting of the SARs. This apploto measurir
volatility is consistent with the approach usedcédculate the volatility assumption in the valuatiof stock options. The Company's cur
SARs program has been in place since 2006. Thectaéfe assumption was based upon prior analyses.

Serial Preferred Stocl

The Company has five millioghares of Serial Preferred Stock authorized (novalaie), none of which have been issued. Certaims®
the Serial Preferred Stock, including dividendgeraption and conversion, will be determined byBbard of Directors prior to issuance.
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Note L — Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

Changes in the components of accumulated other rmapsive income, including amounts reclassifiet] fon 2013, 2012 and 2011 ¢
the balances in accumulated other comprehensivene@s of December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 adlawd:

Gains and Losses
On Cash Flow Hedges

Foreign Precious Pension and Post Foreign Currency
(Thousands) Currency Metals Total Employment Benefits Translation Total
Accumulated other comprehensiv
income as of January 1, 2011
Gross $ (1549 $ — $(1549) $ (69,44) $ 3,98¢  $ (66,99
Deferred tax (benefit) (1,949 — (1,942 (13,43) — (15,379
Net 39¢ — 39¢ (56,002 3,98¢ (51,616

2011 current year activity:

Other comprehensive income (loss)

before reclassifications 13:< 51 184 (39,349 95¢ (38,207
Amounts reclassified from

accumulated other comprehensive

income 2,80¢ — 2,80¢ 3,54¢ — 6,35¢

Net current period other

comprehensive income (loss) 2,94 51 2,99: (35,799 95¢ (31,849

Deferred tax on current period

activity 1,02¢ 18 1,047 (12,297 — (11,24%)
Subtotal 2011 activit 1,91t 33 1,94¢ (23,509 95¢ (20,599

Accumulated other comprehensiv
income as of December 31, 2011

Gross 1,39¢ 51 1,45( (105,23) 4,947 (98,839
Deferred tax expense (benefit) (919) 18 (895) (25,729 — (26,62
Net 2,31: 33 2,34t (79,507 4,947 (72,21%)

2012 current year activity:

Other comprehensive income (loss)

before reclassifications 69: (552) 141 (27,667) (870) (28,39)
Amounts reclassified from

accumulated other comprehensive

income (1,839 59¢ (1,249 5,351 — 4,11¢

Net current period other

comprehensive income (loss) (1,14¢) 46 (1,100 (22,309 (870 (24,274

Deferred taxes on current period

activity (401) 16 (385) (7,676 — (8,06))
Subtotal 2012 activit (745 3C (715) (14,629 (870 (16,21

Accumulated other comprehensiv
income as of December 31, 2012

Gross 252 97 35C (127,54) (4,077)  (123,11)
Deferred tax expense (benefit) (1,319 34 (1,280 (33,409 — (34,68
Net 1,567 63 1,63( (94,13¢) (4,077) (88,429

2013 current year activity:

Other comprehensive income (loss)
before reclassifications 61¢ 4 622 42 55! (3,790 39,38

Amounts reclassified from
accumulated other comprehensive

income (95¢) (220 (1,07¢) 7,681 — 6,60¢

Net current period other

comprehensive income (loss) (340 (116 (45€) 50,24( (3,790 45,99

Deferred taxes on current period

activity (219) (47) (160) 17,61! — 17,45:
Subtotal 2013 activit (221 (75) (29€) 32,62} (3,790 28,54:

Accumulated other comprehensiv
income as of December 31, 2013



Gross (87) (19) (10€) (77,307) 287 (77,120
Deferred tax (benefit) (1,439 (7 (1,440 (15,797 —  (17,23)

Net $ 134¢ $ (12 $ 133 $ (61,509 $ 287  $ (59,889
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Reclassifications from accumulated other comprakieriscome of gains and losses on foreign currexash flow hedges are recorded in other-

net on the Consolidated Statement of Income whaleggand losses on precious metal cash flow hestgeecorded in cost of sales on the
Consolidated Statement of Income. See Note H t€tiresolidated Financial Statements for additioedhits on cash flow hedges.

Reclassifications from accumulated other comprakieriscome for pension and post employment benafgsncluded in the computation of 1

net periodic pension and post employment benefierge. See Note | to the Consolidated Financi&®ents for additional details on pension

and post employment expenses.

Note M — Segment Reporting and Geographic Informatin

Advanced Beryllium

Material Performance and Technical All
(Thousands) Technologies Alloys Composites Materials Subtotal Other Total
2013
Sales to external
customers 744,24 % 292,18¢ $ 61,33¢ $ 69,11! $ 1,166,88 $ — $ 1,166,88
Intersegment sales 2,46: 2,054 33C 76C 5,607 — 5,601
Operating profit (loss) 4,661 23,38¢ (3,526 6,897 31,41¢ (4,585 26,83:
Depreciation,
depletion and
amortization 17,48 17,68: 2,76( 2,59( 40,51¢ 1,13 41,64¢
Expenditures for long-
lived assets 10,94 13,46: 3,21t 1,66 29,28: 3,341 32,62«
Assets 306,29: 264,52. 142,39( 21,79¢ 734,99 42,94¢ 777,94!
2012
Sales to external
customers 847,83! $ 292,44¢ $ 59,98: $ 72,73:  $ 1,272,99' $ 79 $ 1,273,07
Intersegment sales 2,55¢ 2,71¢ 74C 672 6,68¢ — 6,68¢
Operating profit (loss 16,74¢ 24,00¢ (3,949 6,60¢ 43,41° (6,647) 36,77¢
Depreciation,
depletion and
amortization 16,28: 14,99 1,88: 2,60¢ 35,76¢ 1,27¢ 37,04¢
Expenditures for long
lived assets 11,87« 19,90¢ 7,96: 3,60¢ 43,34t 1,31t 44,66
Assets 341,60 269,00: 135,41 23,32¢ 769,34¢ 45,56¢ 814,91
2011
Sales to external
customers 1,051,82. $ 335,320 % 60,557 $ 78,73: $ 1,526,43 $ 29t $ 1,526,73
Intersegment sales 2,49 3,771 757 2,167 9,18¢ — 9,18¢
Operating profit (loss) 33,47 27,24: (754) 7,26 67,22( (10,147 57,07¢
Depreciation,
depletion and
amortization 16,17( 22,32¢ 1,367 2,45¢ 42,32( 1,31t 43,63t
Expenditures for long-
lived assets 8,01« 10,59¢ 6,46( 2,28¢ 27,35¢ 1,38¢ 28,74"
Assets 342,81 235,54 127,70t 21,50: 727,57¢ 44,52 772,10:

Intersegment sales are eliminated in consolidafitre sales to external customers are presentedf figersegment sales. Segments
evaluated at the operating profit level.

The All Other column includes the parent compangegses, the operating results for Materion Senlices a wholly owned subsidia
and other corporate charges. Materion Servicesproxides administrative and financial servicesh® other businesses in the Company
cost-plus basis.

The assets shown in the All Other column include dlsets used by Materion Services Inc. and trenpaompany as well as cash
long-term deferred income taxes.
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Other geographic information includes the following

(Thousands) 2013 2012 2011
Sales from U.S. operations $ 962,28! $ 1,064,77° % 1,306,19;
Sales based upon location of customers
United States $ 810,64: $ 881,96¢ $ 1,143,72
All other 356,24( 391,11( 383,01
Total $ 1,166,88. $ 1,273,070 $ 1,526,73
Long-lived assets by country deployed
United States $ 340,92 $ 354,12 $ 349,98t
All other 33,97 36,04: 32,44
Total $ 374,89: $ 390,16: $ 382,42

No individual country, other than the United Statascustomer accounted for 10% or more of the Goms sales for the years presen
Sales outside the United States are primarily e Asd Europe.

Note N — Other-net

Other-net expense is summarized for 2013, 20126ad as follows:

Income (Expense)

(Thousands) 2013 2012 2011

Foreign currency exchange/translation gain (loss) $ 1,50¢ $ 1477 $ (2,77%)
Amortization of intangible assets (5,529 (6,00¢) (6,149
Metal consignment fees (7,219) (9,017 (9,877)
Changes to earn-out valuation — — 1,052
Net loss on disposal of fixed assets (1,459 (2,836) —
Consignment facility renegotiation bank fee (859 — —
Other items (909 (231 1,97(
Total $ (14,467 $ (15,609 $ (15,774

Note O — Facility Consolidation

During 2012, the Company announced a plan to cfael various small facilities to improve efficiées and reduce overhead cosl
order to improve profitability and cash flows. Aarpof this program, twéacilities were closed down with their operatiorensferred to oth
existing facilities ( one in the fourth quarter 20and the other in the third quarter 2013), oneratpm was consolidated from fogeparat
buildings into twain the fourth quarter 2013 and the majority of éggiipment from a fourth operation was either tramsfl to another facility
written off. That fourth operation remained operobBecember 31, 2013 to service one customerlonited basis. The program also involve
reduction in the hourly workforce and managemeatigrat other facilities. All of the affected fatidis and manpower reductions were withir
Advanced Materials Technologies segment.
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Costs associated with the consolidation progranudezl severance and related manpower costs, eguipwrée-downs, equipme
relocations and other related costs. These costsinguded in the Consolidated Statements of Irecasfollows:

(Thousands) 2013 2012

Cost of sales $ 181: $ 1,55¢
Selling, general and administrative expense 2,80¢ 1,614
Other-net 1,37: 1,60:%
Total $ 599 $ 4,77¢

Included in these costs are equipment write-off$2 million in 2013 and $1.6 milliom 2012 that resulted from the abandonmei
equipment with no realizable value.

An accrual totaling $2.0 million primarily for severance and other manpower castociated with this program, was recorded o
Company's balance sheet as of December 31, 20E3faEflity consolidations were substantially contplas of December 31, 2013 and
Company anticipates spending an additional $0.bamiln 2014 on this program.

Note P — Interest

The following chart summarizes the interest incdyeapitalized and paid, as well as the amortinatibcapitalized interest for 2013, 2(
and 2011:

(Thousands) 2013 2012 2011

Interest incurred $ 3,28¢ $ 3,332 % 2,86(
Less capitalized interest 25C 20C 48
Total net expense $ 3,03t $ 3132 % 2,81:
Interest paid $ 2671 % 263¢ % 2,211
Amortization of capitalized interest included irstof sales $ 26 % 33 $ 441

The difference in expense among 2013, 2012 and @@&1primarily due to changes in the level of antding debt and capital leases
the average borrowing rate. Amortization of deférfieancing costs within interest expense was $@llfon in 2013, $0.6 millionin 2012 an
$0.6 million in 2011.
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Note Q — Income Taxes

Income before income taxes and income taxes (lgaedi comprised of the following:

(Thousands)
Income before income taxes:
Domestic
Foreign
Total income before income taxes

Income taxes:
Current income taxes:
Domestic
Foreign
Total current

Deferred income taxes (benefit):
Domestic
Foreign
Valuation allowance
Total deferred

Total income taxes

The reconciliation of the federal statutory aneefive income tax rates follows:

Federal statutory rate
State and local income taxes, net of federal thecef
Effect of excess of percentage depletion over d@eptetion
Manufacturing production deduction
Officers’ compensation
Adjustment to unrecognized tax benefits
Foreign rate differential
Research and experimentation tax credit
Retiree medical expense
Valuation allowance
Other items
Effective tax rate

2013 2012 2011
$ 16,52¢ 23,37¢ 53,64
7,267 10,26: 61¢
$ 23,79¢ 33,64: 54,26t
$ 4,32t 7,82t 15,48;
2,20¢ 3,61¢ 46¢
$ 6,53( 11,44( 15,95t
$ (2,959 (3,089 (2,710
31¢ (44) (351)
197 66€ 1,39:
$ (2,447) (2,462 (1,665
$ 4,08¢ 8,97¢ 14,28
2013 2012 2011
35.C% 35.C% 35.C%
(0.8) (0.3) 0.7
(11.5) (7.3 (3.9
(2.4) 2.2) (3.5)
0.4 1.1 0.7
0.3 (0.6) (3.4)
(0.1) (0.1) 0.2)
(7.4) — (1.0
— 2.0 —
0.8 2. 2.
3.2 1.1 0.6)
17.2% 26.7% 26.2%

Included in domestic income taxes, as shown irChesolidated Statements of Income, are $(0.2) anilli$(0.1) million anc0.6 millior

of state and local income taxes in 2013, 2012 &id 2respectively.

The Company had domestic and foreign income taxneays of $8.2 million , $13.2 million and $20.7 ioih in 2013, 2012 and 201

respectively.




Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determiveezed on temporary differences between the finareparting bases and the tax base
assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets aaHilflies) recorded in the Consolidated BalanceeBheonsist of the following:

December 31,

(Thousands) 2013 2012
Asset (liability)
Post-retirement benefits other than pensions $ 10,98¢ $ 12,00
Other reserves 13,74« 12,80¢
Environmental reserves 1,78¢ 1,95¢
Inventory 3,93¢ 4,30:
Pensions 9,867 27,54’
Net operating loss and credit carryforwards 5,58¢ 5,18¢
Miscellaneous 30: 357
Subtotal 46,21+ 64,15¢
Valuation allowance (4,782 (4,589
Total deferred tax assets 41,43: 59,57+
Depreciation (18,669 (19,389
Amortization (7,37)) (7,939
Capitalized interest expense (184 (195
Mine development (2,309 (2,837)
Derivative instruments and hedging activities (130 (16¢)
Total deferred tax liabilities (28,667) (30,527)
Net deferred tax asset $ 12,76¢ $ 29,05:

The Company had deferred income tax assets offgat avvaluation allowance for state and foreign operating losses and si
investment tax credit carryforwards. The Comparngrids to maintain a valuation allowance on the$erdl tax assets until a realization e
occurs to support reversal of all or a portionhaf &llowance.

At December 31, 2013, for income tax purposes,Gbmpany had foreign net operating loss carryforaafl$4.9 millionthat do nc
expire, and $10.5 million that expire in calendaass 2014 through 2022. The Company had statepasating loss carryforwards &23.¢
million that expire in calendar years 2017 thro2§t83. The Company had state tax credits of $2.liomithat expire in calendar years 2|
through 2027.

The Company files income tax returns in the U.8lefal jurisdiction, and in various state, local darkign jurisdictions. With limite
exceptions, the Company is no longer subject ta t&eral examinations for years before 2010, statélocal examinations for years be
2009, and foreign examinations for tax years be20@7. The Company is not presently under exanaindtr its income tax filings.

A reconciliation of the Company’s unrecognized b@xefits for the year-to-date periods ending Deeerh, 2013 and 2012 is as follows:

(Thousands) 2013 2012
Balance as of January 1 $ 1,767 $ 1,96¢
Additions to tax provisions related to the currgear — 14¢
Additions to tax positions related to prior years 484 174
Reduction to tax positions related to prior years ()] (20
Lapses on statutes of limitations (555) (455)
Settlements — (50
Balance as of December 31 $ 1.67¢ $ 1,76

At December 31, 2013, the Company had $1.7 mildbrunrecognized tax benefits, of which $0.8 millimould affect the Company’
effective tax rate if recognized.
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The Company classifies all interest and penalteegheome tax expense. The amount of interest andlfes, net of related federal
benefit, recognized in earnings was immaterialrdqu013 and 2012. As of December 31, 2013 and 28d2ued interest and penalties, nt
related federal tax benefit, were immaterial .

A provision has not been made with respect to $48lllon of unremitted earnings at December 31, 2013 becswse earnings may
considered to be reinvested indefinitely. It is pmictical to estimate the amount of unrecognizférded tax liability for undistributed forei
earnings.

Note R — Earnings Per Share

The following table sets forth the computation aéic and diluted EPS:

(Thousands except per share amounts) 2013 2012 2011
Numerator for basic and diluted EPS:
Net income $ 19,707 $ 2466: $ 39,97¢

Denominator:
Denominator for basic EPS:

Weighted-average shares outstanding 20,57: 20,41¢ 20,36
Effect of dilutive securities:
Stock options and stock appreciation rights 18¢ 162 237
Restricted stock 101 94 152
Performance-based restricted shares 35 4 —
Diluted potential common shares 324 261 38¢
Denominator for diluted EPS:
Adjusted weighted-average shares outstanding 20,89 20,67¢ 20,75¢
Basic EPS $ 0.9¢ $ 121 $ 1.9¢
Diluted EPS $ 094 $ 1.1¢ $ 1.9¢

SARs with grants in excess of the average ann@kgbrice totaling 368,000 in 2013, 465,000 in 286& 152,000n 2011 were exclude
from the diluted EPS calculation as their effectldchave been anti-dilutive.
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Note S — Quarterly Data (Unaudited)

The following tables summarize selected quarterigrfcial data for the years ended December 31, 26d2012:

2013
First Second Third Fourth

(Dollars in thousands except per share amounts) Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total
Net sales $ 299,16¢ $ 306,14: % 275,43: % 286,13¢ $ 1,166,88:
Gross margin 48,33¢ 45,99 44,48: 49,16¢ 187,97¢

Percent of sales 16.2% 15.(% 16.2% 17.2% 16.1%
Net income $ 6,788 % 4,158 % 499: % 3,77¢ % 19,707
Net income per share of common stock:

Basic 0.3 0.2C 0.24 0.1¢ 0.9¢

Diluted 0.3: 0.2C 0.24 0.1¢ 0.94
Cash dividends per share of common stock 0.07¢ 0.08( 0.08( 0.08( 0.31¢
Stock price range:

High 29.81 31.4¢ 33.6¢ 32.7:

Low 26.2( 24.5¢ 27.0¢ 25.7¢

2012
First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total

Net sales $ 353,63( % 325,08 $ 290,60: $ 303,75¢ $ 1,273,07
Gross margin 49,41¢ 53,02: 52,36¢ 43,97: 198,78:

Percent of sales 14.(% 16.2% 18.(% 14.5% 15.6%
Net income $ 6,11¢ 3 7,92¢ % 8,11« % 2,50 % 24,66¢
Net income per share of common stock:

Basic 0.3C 0.3¢ 0.4C 0.1z 1.21

Diluted 0.3C 0.3¢ 0.3¢ 0.1z 1.1¢
Cash dividends per share of common stock — 0.07¢ 0.07¢ 0.07¢ 0.22¢
Stock price range:

High 32.91 29.3i 25.51 25.9:

Low 24.7: 20.3i 17.5¢ 18.8¢

During the fourth quarter 2013, the Company deteeahithat there were procedural errors made duhegeconciliation of the physic
inventory counts taken and recorded at ohés facilities within the Advanced Material Tawblogies reporting segment during the seconc
third quarters of 2013 that were not detected lgyritanagement review process on a timely basis.Chmepany, after determining that th
errors were material to the applicable quartemaficial results, fled amended Quarterly Report$orm 10Q in March 2014 with correct
financial statements for the periods ended Jun@@B3 and September 27, 2013.

The corrections reduced the previously reportedggnoargin in the second quarter 2013 by $6.8 milind net income by $4.8 milligror
$0.23 per share diluted. The corrections reducegthviously reported gross margin by $0.7 milliorthe third quarter 2013. Net income
reduced by $0.1 milliorand earnings per share was reduced by a nominalrdnio the third quarter 2013. The figures in these tabl
represent the corrected amounts for each quarter.

The Company recorded a $7.4 million pag-expense in the fourth quarter 2012 for a ne¢niory loss. A portion of this expense r
have been applicable to the third quarter 2012. iAayrance recoveries will be recorded in the fitas they become probable and estimable.
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Item 9.

CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

Item 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

a)

b)

<)

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We carried out an evaluation under the superviaimh with participation of our management, includihg chief executive officer a
chief financial officer, of the effectiveness oéttesign and operation of our disclosure contnodsprocedures as of December 31, &
pursuant to Rule 13a-15(b) and 1B8(b) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934araended (Exchange Act). Based upon
evaluation, our management, including the chietetiee officer and chief financial officer, conclkd that our disclosure controls
procedures were not effective due to the materedkmess in our internal control over financial ripg that existed as of Decem
31, 2013, as described below.

Management's Report on Internal Control overahiial Reporting

The Report of Management on Internal Control oveafcial Reporting and of the Report of Independregistered Public Accounti
Firm thereon are set forth in Item 8 of this For@aKLand are incorporated by reference.

Plan for Remediation

During the fourth quarter 2013, the Company idédifa deficiency in the Compamsyinternal control over financial reporting t
constitutes a material weakness as of Decembe2@®13. Specifically, our management review contfalked to detect errors in t
physical inventory count reconciliation processoae of our facilities during certain periods of 20JAs a result of this mater
weakness, management concluded that we did notaimaiffective control over financial reporting@sDecember 31, 2013.

During 2014, certain actions are being implememtegmediate the above identified material weakivedading:improving processe
implementing additional controls and increased ipiee around managemestreview controls, supplementing technical competer
our accounting staff with additional internal aras needed, contract resources and creating a newagement level position
Inventory Controller, reporting directly to the @orate Vice President of Finance, responsible faintaining companyvide control:
specifically over precious metal inventory.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Répgr

There has been no change in our internal contret fimancial reporting that occurred during the trresent quarter that has materi
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeadf, our internal control over financial reporting.

tem 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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PART Il

Item 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNA NCE

The information under “Election of Directorgi the proxy statement for our 2014 annual meetihghareholders, to be filed with
Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to IR&gu 14A, is incorporated herein by referencee Thformation required by Item
relating to our executive officers is included undee caption “Executive Officers of the Registfaimt Part | of this Form 10« and it
incorporated herein by reference. The informatiequired by Item 10 with respect to directors, thelih Committee of the Board of Direct:
and Audit Committee financial experts is incorpecaherein by reference from the section entiti€drporate Governance; Committees of
Board of Directors — Audit Committee” and “— Audtommittee Expert, Financial Literacy and Indeperééim the proxy statement for ¢
2014 annual meeting of shareholders to be filedh Wie Securities and Exchange Commission pursaaRegulation 14A. The informati
required by Item 10 regarding compliance with Setfi6(a) of the Exchange Act is incorporated hebgimeference from the section enti
“Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Coiaipte” in the proxy statement for our 2014 annual meatihshareholders to be filed w
the Securities and Exchange Commission pursudrégulation 14A.

We have adopted a Policy Statement on Significarp@ate Governance Issues and a Code of Condlicy Plmat applies to our chi
executive officer and senior financial officers¢luding the principal financial and accounting offi, controller and other persons perforr
similar functions, in compliance with applicable Werork Stock Exchange and Securities and Exchangenaission requirements. T
aforementioned materials, along with the chartérthe Audit, Governance and Organization and Corsgton Committees of our Board
Directors, which also comply with applicable reguirents, are available on our web site at http:#r@i.com, and copies are also availe
upon request by any shareholder to Secretary, Mat&orporation, 6070 Parkland Boulevard, Mayfiéldights, Ohio 44124. We make
reports on Forms 10-K, 10-Q and<8available on our web site, free of charge, ansamreasonably practicable after these reportledewith
the Securities and Exchange Commission, and anyhdments and/or waivers to our Code of Conduct Pol&tatement on Significe
Corporate Governance Issues and Committee Chaviralso be made available on our web site. ThHermation on our web site is r
incorporated by reference into this Form 10-K.

Item 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required under Item 11 is incorpedaby reference from the sections entitled “ExieeuCompensation” and201:
Director Compensationfn the proxy statement for our 2014 annual meetihghareholders to be filed with the Securities &athang
Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A.
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Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required under Item 12 regardingusy ownership is incorporated by reference frime section entitled Security
Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Managehia the proxy statement for our 2014 annual meetihghareholders to be filed w
the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuaRetulation 14A. The information required by Item régarding securities authorized
issuance under equity compensation plans is incatga by reference from the section entitled “Bg@bmpensation Plan Informationi the
proxy statement for our 2014 annual meeting of ednalders to be filed with the Securities and Exgega@ommission pursuant to Regula
14A.

Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required under Item 13 is incorpedaherein by reference from the sections entitRelated Party Transactionsinc
“Corporate Governance; Committees of the Boardicdddors — Director Independencef the proxy statement for our 2014 annual meebii
shareholders to be filed with the Securities andharge Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A.

Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required under Item 14 is incorpedaherein by reference from the section entitRdtification of Independent Registe
Public Accounting Firm”of the proxy statement for our 2014 annual meetihghareholders to be filed with the Securities &xthang
Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A.
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PART IV

Item 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(d) 1. Financial Statements and Supplemental Informatio

The financial statements listed in the accompaniyidgx to financial statements are included in I&of this Form 10-K.

(&) 2. Financial Statement Schedul¢
The following consolidated financial informatiorr fine years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 andi@@ubmitted herewith:
Schedule Il — Valuation and qualifying accounts.
All other schedules for which provision is madetie applicable accounting regulations of the Séesrand Exchange Commission are

required under the related instructions or areptiegble, and therefore have been omitted.

(@) 3. Exhibits

All documents referenced below were filed pursunthe Exchange Act by Materion Corporation, fileamber 00115885, unles
otherwise noted.

(3a) Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation aidh Engineered Materials Inc. (filed as Annex Bthie Registratio
Statement on Form S-4 filed by the Company on Faelgrli, 2000, Registration No. 33%917), incorporated herein
reference.

(3b) Amendment to Amended and Restated Articles of ma@tion (filed as Exhibit 3(a) to the Company’'siaB-K (File No. 1-
15885) on March 8, 2011), incorporated herein lbgremce.

(3c) Amended and Restated Code of Regulations (filelxadbit 3 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on FAkQ (File No. 1-
15885) for the period ended on July 1, 2011), ipooated herein by reference.

(4a) Indenture Modification between Toledaicas County Port Authority, dated as of May 3002(filed as Exhibit 4 to th
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File Nel5B85) for the period ended June 27, 2003), incatpd herein b
reference.

(4b) Pursuant to Regulation 5 Item 601(b)(4), the Company agrees to furnistht® Securities and Exchange Commission, |

its request, a copy of the instruments definingrtpbts of holders of longerm debt of the Company that are not being -
with this report.

(4c) Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dameel 20, 2013 among Materion Corporation, MateAalvancec
Materials Technologies and Services Netherlands,BRMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. and other lenders fiora to time part
thereto (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrarkiitem 8-K (File No. 115885) filed on June 25, 2013), incorporated hebgi
reference.

(4d) Third Amended and Restated Precious Metals Agreedaad October 1, 2010, between Brush Engineera@mils Inc. an
other borrowers and The Bank of Nova Scotia (fdedExhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Form 8-K (File Nel5885) on Octobe
4, 2010), incorporated herein by reference.

(4e) Amendment No. 1 to the Third Amended and Restatedi®us Metals Agreement dated March 31, 2011, gnidaterior
Corporation and other borrowers and The Bank ofdN8uotia (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’srit8-K (File No. 1-
15885) on April 6, 2011), incorporated herein bigrence.

(4f) Amendment No. 2 to the Third Amended and Restatedi®us Metals Agreement dated August 18, 2011, ,ngmdaterior
Corporation and other borrowers and The Bank ofeNBgotia (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’srk@-K (File No. 1-
15885) filed on August 22, 2011), incorporated hreby reference.

(49) Amendment No. 3 to the Third Amended and Restatedidus Metals Agreement dated October 17, 201 bngnMaterior
Corporation and other borrowers and The Bank ofad\Begotia (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’srir@-K (File No. 1-



15885) filed on October 18, 2011), incorporatecehreby reference.

(4h) Amendment No. 4 to the Third Amended and Restatediéus Metals Agreement dated September 13, 2008ng Materiol
Corporation and other borrowers and The Bank ofaN8eotia (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company'si+8-K (File No. 1-
15885) filed on September 18, 2013), incorporatxeih by refernce.
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(10a) Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into bg tCompany and its executive officers (filed asikixHLOa to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No18885) for the year ended December 31, 2008), juzated herein k
reference.

(10b) Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into hg Company and its directors (filed as Exhibit 16kdhe Company
Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 1-15885) foe tyear ended December 31, 2008), incorporatednheyeeference.

(10c)* Amended and Restated Form of Severance AgreemenExecutive Officers (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to tl@mpanys
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 1-15885)tfee period ended June 27, 2008), incorporategiméy reference.

(10d)* Amendment No.1 to Amended and Restated Severamgeefent, dated May 4, 2011 (filed as Exhibit 1@2the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File Nel5B85) for the period ended July 1, 2011), inccaiedt herein b
reference.

(10e)* Amended and Restated Form of Severance AgreemeKefoEmployees (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Comyga Quarterly

Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 1-15885) for the pérended June 27, 2008), incorporated herein leyewte.

(10f)* Form of Executive Insurance Agreement entered ligtthe Company and certain employees dated Ja2u&902 (filed a
Exhibit 10g to the Company’s Annual Report on FdttK (File No. 115885) for the year ended December 31, 1¢
incorporated herein by reference.

(10g)* Form of Trust Agreement between the Company and Kexgt Company of Ohio, N.A. (formerly Ameritrusb@pany
National Association) on behalf of the Company’s@xive officers (filed as Exhibit 10e to the Compa Annual Report 0
Form 10-K (File No. 1-15885) for the year ended &wber 31, 1994), incorporated herein by reference.

(10h)* 2013 Management Incentive Plan (filed as ExhibittéGhe Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K (RNiz 115885) foi
the year ended December 31, 2012), incorporatezirhby reference.

(10i)* 1984 Stock Option Plan as amended by the Boardirgfciors on April 18, 1984 and February 24, 198lgdfby Brust
Wellman Inc. as Exhibit 4.4 to Registration Statatmen Form S-8, Registration No. 28605), incorporated herein
reference.

(10j)* Amendment, effective May 16, 2000, to the 1984 B©ption Plan (filed as Exhibit 4b to Po&ffective Amendment No.

to Registration Statement on Form S-8, Registration2-90724), incorporated herein by reference.

(10k)* 1995 Stock Incentive Plan (as Amended March 3, 1@88d as Appendix A to the Company’s Proxy Stagat (File No. 1-
15885) dated March 16, 1998), incorporated hergireference.

(aon* Amendment No. 1, effective May 16, 2000, to the 8.9%tock Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 4b to PB#ective
Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statement on Foi8n Begistration No. 333-63357), incorporated threlsi reference.

(10m)* Amendment No. 2, effective February 1, 2005, tolt#85 Stock Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 1@4he Current Report ¢
Form 8-K (File No. 1-15885) filed by the Companyfegbruary 7, 2005) incorporated herein by reference

(20n)* Amended and Restated 2006 Stock Incentive Plaed(fils Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Quarterly ReparForm 10Q
(File No. 1-15885) for the period ended June 2D820incorporated herein by reference.

(100)* Amended and Restated Materion Corporation 2006kStarentive Plan (as Amended and Restated as of4/1a@11) (filec
as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K (File. 1-15885) filed on May 5, 2011), incorporatedeie by reference.

(10p)* Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement, (filasl Exhibit 10t to the Company’s Form 10-K (File.Nel5885) Annua
Report for the year ended December 31, 2004) imeated herein by reference.

(10q)* Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement (filadg Exhibit 10.7 to the Current Report on Form 8He(No. 115885)
filed by the Company on February 7, 2005) incorpatderein by reference.

(20n* Form of 2011 Restricted Stock Units AgreamngStock-settled) (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to then@many’s Form 8-K (File No. 1-



15885) filed on March 3, 2011), incorporated hetsjmreference.

(10s)* Form of 2011 Restricted Stock Units Agreement (Gsettied) (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Companys1h 8-K (File No. 1-
15885) filed on March 3, 2011), incorporated hetsjrreference.
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(10t)*

(10u)*

(10v)*

(10w)*

(10x)*

(10y)*#
(102)*#

(10aa)*

(10ab)*

(10ac)*

(10ad)*

(10ae)*

(10af)*

(10ag)*

(10ah)*#

(10ai)*

(10aj)*

(10ak)*

(10aly*

Form of 2012 Restricted Stock Units Agreement (€asttled) (filed as Exhibit 10aa to the Company's\dai Report o
Form 10-K (File No. 1-15885) for the year ended &wber 31, 2012), incorporated herein by reference.

Form of 2012 Restricted Stock Units Agreement (St8ettled) (filed as Exhibit 10ab to the Company's\éal Report o
Form 10-K (File No. 1-15885) for the year ended &wber 31, 2012), incorporated herein by reference.

Form of 2006 Stock Appreciation Rights Agreemeiledf as Exhibit 10.3 to the Current Report on F@&K (File No. 1-
15885) filed by the Company on May 8, 2006), incogted herein by reference.

Form of 2012 Performance-Based Restricted Stockslmid Performance Shares Agreement (Gastted) (filed as Exhib
10ad to the Company's Annual Report on Form 104l (Ro. 115885) for the year ended December 31, 2012), jruecatec
herein by reference.

Form of 2012 Performance-Based Restricted Stockslmd Performance Shares Agreement (Ssettked) (filed as Exhib
10ae to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10ik€ (fo. 1-15885) for the year ended December 31, 2012), uecatec
herein by reference.

Form of 2014 Performance-Based Restricted StockslY@iash-settled).
Form of 2014 Performance-Based Restricted Stocks8tock-settled).

Form of 2007 Stock Appreciation Rights Agreemeiledf as Exhibit 10.5 to Amendment No. 1 to the @otrReport ol
Form 8-K (File No. 1-15885) filed by the Companyebruary 16, 2007), incorporated herein by refezen

Form of 2008 Stock Appreciation Rights Agreemeiiedfas Exhibit 10an to the Company’s Annual Report~Form 10K
(File No. 1-15885) for the year ended Decembe2BDy), incorporated herein by reference.

Form of 2009 Stock Appreciation Rights Agreemeiiedfas Exhibit 10ag to the Company’s Annual Report~Form 10K
(File No. 1-15885) for the year ended Decembe2808), incorporated herein by reference.

Form of 2010 Stock Appreciation Rights Agreemeiiedfas Exhibit 10ah to the Company’s Annual Report~Form 10K
(File No. 1-15885) for the year ended Decembe2809), incorporated herein by reference.

Form of 2011 Stock Appreciation Rights Agreemeiledf as Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Form 8-K ¢FNo. 115885)
filed on March 3, 2011), incorporated herein byrehce.

Materion Corporation Supplemental Retirement Berien (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s F®B#K (File No. 1-
15885) filed on September 19, 2011), incorporatxein by reference.

Amendment No. 1 to the Supplemental Retirement fteR&an (filed as Exhibit 10al to the Company'sniyial Report o
Form 10-K (File No. 1-15885) for the year ended &wber 31, 2012), incorporated herein by reference.

Amendment No. 2 to the Supplemental Retirement fdhlan.

Key Employee Share Option Plan (filed as Exhibit tb the Registration Statement on Form S-8, Regish No. 333-
52141, filed by Brush Wellman Inc. on May 5, 1998yorporated herein by reference.

Amendment No. 1 to the Key Employee Share Opti@nPleffective May 16, 2005) (filed as Exhibit 4b RostEffective
Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statement on Foi8n Begistration No. 333-52141), incorporated threlsi reference.

Amendment No. 2 to the Key Employee Share Optian Rlated June 10, 2005 (filed as Exhibit 10aw & Glompanys
Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 1-15885) foe tyear ended December 31, 2006), incorporatednheyeeference.

Amendment No. 3 to the Key Employee Share OptianRlated July 12, 2011 (filed as Exhibit 10.4 te @ompanys
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 1-15885)tfee period ended July 1, 2011), incorporatedihdrg reference.



am tock Incentive Plan for N@mployee Directors, (As Amended and Restate , iled as Appendix
10am)* 1997 Stock | ive Plan for N I Di As A ded and R d 1, 2001) (filed as A di
to the Company’s Proxy Statement (File No. 1-15&&8ed March 19, 2001), incorporated herein byresfee.

(10an)* Amendment No. 1 to the 1997 Stock Incentive PlanNon-employee Directors, (filed as Exhibit 10ggthe Companys
Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 1-15885) foe tyear ended December 31, 2003), incorporatednheyeeference.
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(10ao0)*

(10ap)*

(10aq)*

(10arn)*

(10as)*

(10at)*

(10au)*

(10av)*

(10aw)*

(10ax)*

(10ay)*

(10az)*

(10ba)*

(10bb)*

(10bc)*

1 NhA*

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement for Nemployee Directors (filed as Exhibit 20mm to then@anys Annua
Report on Form 10-K (File No. 1-15885) for the yeaded December 31, 2004), incorporated hereiefeyence.

1992 Deferred Compensation Plan for Namployee Directors (As Amended and Restated aoélmber 2, 1997) (filed
Exhibit 4d to the Registration Statement on Forn8, Registration No. 3383355, filed by Brush Wellman Inc
incorporated herein by reference.

2000 Reorganization Amendment, dated May 16, 2@the 1997 Deferred Compensation Plan for Morployee Director
(filed as Exhibit 4b to Post-Effective Amendment.Ndao Registration Statement on Form S-8, RegistraNo. 33363353),
incorporated herein by reference.

Amendment No. 1 (effective September 11, 2001h¢01992 Deferred Compensation Plan for omployee Directors (file
as Exhibit 4c to the Company’s Post-Effective Ammaedt No. 1 to Registration Statement on Fori®, Registration N¢
333-74296), incorporated herein by reference.

Amendment No. 2 (effective September 13, 2004)hto 1992 Deferred Compensation Plan for Nemployee Director
(filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterlgpg@rt on Form 10-Q (File No. 15885) for the period ended Octobe
2004), incorporated herein by reference.

Amendment No. 3 (effective January 1, 2005) tolt82 Deferred Compensation Plan for Nemployee Directors (filed :
Exhibit 10rr to the Company’s Annual Report on Fot@K (File No. 115885) for the year ended December 31, 2(
incorporated herein by reference.

Amendment No. 4 (effective April 1, 2009) to the929Deferred Compensation Plan for Nemployee Directors (filed
Exhibit 10bb to the Company’s Annual Report on FdrtrK (File No. 115885) for the year ended December 31, 2(
incorporated herein by reference.

Amended and Restated 2005 Deferred Compensatiom féta Nonemployee Directors (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File Nd.5B85) for the period ended September 26, 2008)yjporated herei
by reference.

Amended and Restated Materion Corporation 2006 &oployee Director Equity Plan (as Amended and Redtas o
May 4, 2011) (filed as Appendix B to the RegistmnProxy Statement (File No.15885) filed on March 25, 201:
incorporated herein by reference.

First Amendment to the 2006 Na@mployee Director Equity Plan (as Amended and Ra$tas of May 4, 2011) (filed
Exhibit 10bb to the Company's Annual Report on FA@K (File No. 115885) for the year ended December 31, 2(
incorporated herein by reference.

Amended and Restated Executive Deferred Compendatam |l (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Compasmuarterly Report ¢
Form 10-Q (File No. 1-15885) for the period endeartth 28, 2008), incorporated herein by reference.

Amendment No. 1 to the Amended and Restated ExeciDeferred Compensation Plan Il (filed as Exhitfbf to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No13885) for the year ended December 31, 2008), purated herein kb
reference.

Amendment No. 2 to the Amended and Restated Execiieferred Compensation Plan |l (filed as Exhitit2 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File Nel5B85) for the period ended July 3, 2009), inccaped herein b
reference.

Amendment No. 3 to the Amended and Restated Execlieferred Compensation Plan II, dated July 6,12@led as
Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Quarterly Report ocorrr 10-Q (File No. 115885) for the period ended July 1, 20:
incorporated herein by reference.

Trust Agreement between the Company and Fidelitgdtments dated September 26, 2006 for certaimrddfeompensatic
plans for Non-employee Directors of the Companiedfias Exhibit 99.4 to the Current Report on Ford @-ile No. 1-
15885) filed by the Company on September 29, 2066yrporated herein by reference.

Triict Anranmant hatiniaan tha CAamnanugy and Cidalihnddnmant Triict Camnanug AdAatad Tiina 28 2NNAQ maldhinthe



Executive Deferred Compensation Plan Il (filed akiBit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report omrd.0-Q (File No. 1-
15885) for the period ended July 3, 2009), incoaifexd herein by reference.

(10be) Trust Agreement between the Company and Fifth TBadk N.A. dated September 25, 2006 relating toktag Employet
Share Option Plan (filed as Exhibit 99.3 to the réat Report on Form 8-K (File No. 15885) filed by the Company
September 29, 2006), incorporated herein by referen

93




(10bf)

(10bg)

(10bh)

(10bi)

(10byj)

(10bk)

(10bl)

(10bm)

(10bn)

(10bo)

(10bp)

(10ba)

(10br)

Q1)#
(23)#

(24)#

Lease dated as of October 1, 1996, between BrusiméfeInc. and Toledducas County Port Authority (filed as Exhi
10v to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-Ke(No. 115885) for the year ended December 31, 1996), pucatec
herein by reference.

Amended and Restated Inducement Agreement witPthéential Insurance Company of America dated M&y2B03 (filec
as Exhibit 10 to the Company’s Quarterly ReportFamm 10-Q (File No. 1:5885) for the period ended June 27, 2C
incorporated herein by reference.

Amended and Restated Supply Agreement between RUWKEMY, Inc. and Brush Wellman Inc. for the sale pacthase c
beryllium products (filed as Exhibit 10 to the Caang’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No13885) for the perio
ended September 26, 2003), incorporated hereiefeyence.

Supply Agreement between the Defense Logistics &gemd Brush Wellman Inc. for the sale and purchasieeryllium
products (filed as Exhibit 10tt to the Company’sniial Report on Form 10-K (File No. 15885) for the year end
December 31, 2004), incorporated herein by referenc

Asset Purchase Agreement by and between William&Ackd Materials Inc. and Techvliet, Inc. dated December 20, 2(
(filed as Exhibit 10bw to the Company’s Annual Repmn Form 10-K (File No. 1:5885) for the year ended December
2007), incorporated herein by reference.

Consignment Agreement dated October 2, 2009 betBeesh Engineered Materials Inc. and Canadian Irap&ank of
Commerce and CIBC World Markets Inc. (filed as Bihi0.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No1%885) on October :
2009), incorporated herein by reference.

Amendment No. 1 to the Consignment Agreement d&etbber 2, 2009 between Brush Engineered Matehmls anc
Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce and CIBC Worlarlkéts Inc. (filed as Exhibit 99.1 to the Comparytsm 8K (File
No. 1-15885) on March 12, 2010), incorporated ebgi reference.

Amendment No. 2 to the Consignment Agreement ddtete 11, 2010 between Brush Engineered Materials dnc
Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce and CIBC Worlarikéts Inc., (filed as Exhibit 99.1 to the Companiybrm 8K (File
No. 1-15885) filed on June 14, 2010), incorpordterkin by reference.

Amendment No. 3 to the Consignment Agreement datgatember 30, 2010 between Brush Engineered Miaténia anc
Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce and CIBC Worlarkéts Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Comparfytsm 8K (File
No. 1-15885), on October 4, 2010), incorporatecindoy reference.

Amendment No. 4 to the Consignment Agreement dilimeember 10, 2010 between Brush Engineered Madelial anc
Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce and CIBC Worlarkéts Inc. (filed as Exhibit 99.1 to the Compariytsm 8K (File
No. 1-15885), on November 12, 2010), incorporakeetim by reference.

Amendment No. 5 to the Consignment Agreement ddedch 7, 2011 between Brush Engineered Materiats &mc
Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce and CIBC Worldrikéts Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Compan®uarterly
Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 1-15885) for the pérended April 1, 2011), incorporated herein beirefice.

Amendment No. 6 to the Consignment Agreement dSegatember 13, 2011 between Materion CorporationGanthdial
Imperial Bank of Commerce and CIBC World Markets. I(filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form §le No. 1-
15885) filed on September 16, 2011), incorporatzein by reference.

Amendment No. 7 to the Consignment Agreement dategust 24, 2012 between Materion Corporation anda@iar
Imperial Bank of Commerce and CIBC World Markets.]r(filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Forri §File No. 1-
15885) on August 31, 2012), incorporated hereindfigrence.

Subsidiaries of the Registrant.
Consent of Ernst & Young LLP.

Power of Attorney.



(31.1)# Certification of Chief Executive Officer requiregt Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a).

(31.2)# Certification of Chief Financial Officer requireg Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a).
(32)# Certifications of Chief Executive Officer and Chighancial Officer required by 18 U.S.C. Sectiob0.3
(95)# Mine Safety Disclosure Pursuant to Section 1508{#&)e Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumetdetion Act for

the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2013.
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(101.INS) XBRL Instance Document.

(101.SCH) XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.
(101.CAL) XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuine
(101.DEF) XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurhen
(101.LAB) XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.
(101.PRE) XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Dognim
* Denotes a compensatory plan or arrangement.

# Filed herewith.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regidthas duly caused this report tc
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduoly authorized.

MATERION CORPORATION

By: /s/ RICHARD J. HIPPLE By: /s/  JOHN D. GRAMPA
Richard J. Hipple John D. Grampa
Chairman of the Board, President Senior Vice President Finance
and Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer

March 14, 2014

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpihe following persons on bet
of the registrant and in the capacities and ord#ttes indicated.

/s/  RICHARD J. HIPPLE Chairman of the Board, President, CI March 14, 2014
Executive Officer and Director (Princig

Richard J. Hipple Executive Officer)

/s/  JOHN D. GRAMPA Senior Vice President Finance and C March 14, 2014
Financial Officer (Principal Financial a

John D. Grampa Accounting Officer)

/s/  JOSEPH P. KEITHLEY* Director March 14, 2014

Joseph P. Keithley*

/s/  VINOD M. KHILNANI* Director March 14, 2014
Vinod M. Khilnani*

/sl  WILLIAM B. LAWRENCE* Director March 14, 2014
William B. Lawrence*

/sl N. MOHAN REDDY* Director March 14, 2014
N. Mohan Reddy*

/s/ CRAIG S. SHULAR* Director March 14, 2014
Craig S. Shular*

/sl  DARLENE J. S. SOLOMON* Director March 14, 2014
Darlene J. S. Solomon*

/sl  ROBERT B. TOTH* Director March 14, 2014
Robert B. Toth*

/sl GEOFFREY WILD* Director March 14, 2014
Geoffrey Wild*

* The undersigned, by signing his/her name hemdes sigh and execute this report on behalf di ethe aboveramed officers an
directors of Materion Corporation, pursuant to P& Attorney executed by each such officer andatior filed with the Securitie
and Exchange Commission.

By: /s/  JOHN D. GRAMPA
John D. Grampa
March 14, 2014 Attorney-in-Fact
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Materion Corporation and Subsidiaries
Schedule ll—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
Years Ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011

COL. A COL.B CoL.C COL.D COL.E
ADDITIONS
Balance at (2) 2)
Beginning of Charged to Costs Charged to Other Deduction- Balance at End
(Thousands) Period and Expenses Accounts-Describe Describe of Period

Year ended December 31, 2013
Deducted from asset accounts:

Allowance for doubtful accounts
receivable $ 1,40: % 127 % (12 $ 97 (A% 1,421

Inventory reserves and obsolescence 5,87 5,25( — 4,78¢ (B) 6,33:
Year ended December 31, 2012
Deducted from asset accounts:

Allowance for doubtful accounts
receivable 1,49( 56C (305) 34z (A 1,40:

Inventory reserves and obsolescence 6,33¢ 3,93¢ — 4,39¢ (B) 5,87:
Year ended December 31, 2011
Deducted from asset accounts:

Allowance for doubtful accounts
receivable 1,452 28t — 247 (A) 1,49(

Inventory reserves and obsolescence 4,607 87¢ 1,332 (C) 481 (B) 6,33¢
Note (A)- Bad debts written-off, net of recoveries

Note (B)- Inventory write-off
Note (C)- Beginning balance from acquisition
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[2014 Cash-Settled PRSUS]

Exhibit 10y
MATERION CORPORATION
Performance-Based Restricted Stock Units Agreement
WHEREAS, (the “Grantee”) ieraployee of Materion Corporation, an Ohio

corporation (the “Corporation”), or a Subsidiarpda

WHEREAS, the execution of an agreement in the foemeof (this “Agreement”) has been authorized by
resolution of the Compensation Committee (the “Catte®”) of the Board of Directors of the Corporatithat was duly
adopted on , 2014,

NOW, THEREFORE, pursuant to the (tharfB| and subject to the terms and conditions
thereof and the terms and conditions hereinaftefiosih, the Corporation hereby confirms to the iGe& the grant of (1)
a targeted number of performance-basedi&tedtStock Units to be earned, if at all, on Itlasis of the
achievement of the portion of the Management Ohbjestmeasured by ROIC goals during the Perform&ecod (as
defined below) (the “ROIC PRSUSs”) and (2) a tardaetember of performance-based Restricieek &inits to
be earned, if at all, on the basis of the achieverokthe portion of the Management Objectives mess by RTSR goa
during the Performance Period (the “RTSR PRSUSs’, togkther with the ROIC PRSUs, the “PRSUSs"), dffecon

, 2014 (tr*Date of Grant). Subject to the attainment of thandgement Objectives described in Section 3
of Article Il of this Agreement and the StatemehManagement Objectives as approved by the Comftiensa
Committee with respect to the PRSUs on the Dateraht (the “Statement of Management Objectivesi, Grantee

may earn from 0% to 200% of the ROIC PRSUs and &tnto 200% of the RTSR PRSUs.
ARTICLE |

DEFINITIONS

CLI-2181467v1




All terms used herein with initial capital letteélet are defined in the Plan shall have the meaning

assigned to them in the Plan, and the followingtauthl terms, when used herein with initial capiédters, shall have
the following meanings:

1. *“Committee Determination Date” means the date foihg the end of the Performance Period on which the
Committee determines the level of attainment ofMfamagement Objectives for the Performance Period.

2. “Management Objectives” means the threshold, taagdtmaximum goals established by the Committee fo
the Performance Period with respect to both ROICRNSR as described in the Statement of Manage@igettives.
No adjustment of the Management Objectives shatidvenitted in respect of any PRSUs granted to trédipant if at
the Date of Grant he or she is, or is determinethbyCommittee to be likely to become, a “coveneghlyee”within the
meaning of Section 162(m) of the Code (or any sssmeprovision) if such adjustment would resulthe loss of an
otherwise available exemption under Section 162(inthe Code.

3. “Performance Period” means the three-year periodngencing January 1, 2014 and ending on December
31, 2016.

4. *“Relative Total Shareholder Return” or “RTSR” hhe tneaning as set forth in the Statement of
Management Objectives.

5. “Return on Invested Capital” or “ROIC” has the me@gnas set forth in the Statement of Management

Objectives.
ARTICLE Il

CERTAIN TERMS OF PRSUS
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1. Payment of PRSUsThe PRSUs covered by this Agreement shall bequagable to the Grantee if they

become nonforfeitable in accordance with Sectigrs 8 or 6 of Article Il.

2. PRSUs Norrransferable The PRSUs covered by this Agreement and anyesténerein may be

transferred or assigned only by will or pursuanti® laws of descent and distribution prior to pawpbtherefor.

3. Normal Vesting of PRSUsSubject to the terms and conditions of Sectiqrisahd 6 of Article Il, the

Grantee’s right to receive a cash payment for REPs shall become nonforfeitable with respect J@%a to 200% of
the ROIC PRSUs on the basis of the achievemeteoportion of the Management Objectives measureR@WC goals
during the Performance Period, and (b) from 0%0@°%2 of the RTSR PRSUs on the basis of the achientaf¢he
portion of the Management Objectives measured b$mRgoals during the Performance Period, in each aaset forth
in the Statement of Management Objectives. Exceptleerwise provided herein, the Grantee’s righiet®ive any cash
payment for the PRSUs is contingent upon his ord&aining in the continuous employ of the Compang Subsidiar
until the end of the Performance Period.

4. Effect of Termination due to Death or Disabilitiotwithstanding the provisions of Section 3 ofiéle I,

100% of the PRSUs shall immediately become nontatite and payable at the time described in Se&iohArticle Il
if the Grantee dies or becomes permanently disakkel@ in the employ of the Corporation or a Sulsig before the
Committee Determination Date. The Grantee shatidmsidered to have become permanently disablée iGrantee has

suffered a permanent disability within the mearohthe long-term

CLI-2181467v1 3




disability plan in effect for, or applicable togtiBrantee and is “disabled” within the meaning eft®n 409A(a)(2)(C)
of the Code.

5. Effect of Termination due to Retiremertiotwithstanding the continuous employment pr@nsof Section

3 of Article Il above, but subject to the provissoof Section 6 of Article Il below, if the Granteseat the time of such
termination (a) at least age 65 or (b) at leastzgand has completed at least 10 years of cont;vamployment with
the Corporation or a Subsidiary, the PRSUs covbyetthis Agreement shall continue to be eligibldézome
nonforfeitable in accordance with Section 3 of thiticle Il (and payable in accordance with Sectiaof Article 1) as if
the Grantee continued to be employed until theadride Performance Period.

6. Change in Contral Notwithstanding Sections 3 and 5 of Article lbabk, the following alternative

nonforfeitability provisions will apply to the PRSUh the event of a Change in Control occurringratie Date of Grant
and prior to the PRSUs becoming nonforfeitablecicoadance with Section 3 of Article II:

(@) Upon the Change in Control, 100% of the PRSUs &ledbme nonforfeitable and payable in
accordance with Section 8 of Article Il, excepthe extent that an award meeting the requiremdrection 6(b) of
Article 1l (a “Replacement Award”) is provided the Grantee in accordance with Section 6(b) of Agtitto replace or
adjust the award of PRSUs covered by this Agreerfteat'‘Replaced Award”).

(b) For purposes of this Agreement, a “Replacement Aivareans an award (i) of the same typeqd.,
performance-based restricted stock units) as tipdaBed Award, (ii) that has a value at least etuéte value of the
Replaced Award, (iii) that relates to publicly teadequity securities of the Corporation or its gssor in the Change in

Control or another
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entity that is affiliated with the Corporation ¢s successor following the Change in Control, ifithe Grantee holding
the Replaced Award is subject to U.S. federal ine¢ax under the Code, the tax consequences of whisinch Grantee
under the Code are not less favorable to such €eahtain the tax consequences of the Replaced Aamddy) the other
terms and conditions of which are not less favaablthe Grantee holding the Replaced Award tharngims and
conditions of the Replaced Award (including theyismns that would apply in the event of a subseg@hange in
Control). A Replacement Award may be granted oolihe extent it does not result in the Replaced réivoa
Replacement Award failing to comply with or be exgritom Section 409A of the Code. Without limititige generality
of the foregoing, the Replacement Award may takeftihm of a continuation of the Replaced Award# tequirements
of the two preceding sentences are satisfied. €termhination of whether the conditions of this 8t6(b) of Article Il
are satisfied will be made by the Committee, astitated immediately before the Change in Controits sole
discretion.

(c) If, upon receiving a Replacement Award, the Graatemployment with the Corporation or a
Subsidiary (or any of their successors) (as applicahe “Successor”) is terminated by the Graatea Termination for
Good Cause or if the Grantee is terminated by tlee&ssor other than as a Termination for Causennatiperiod of two
years after the Change in Control, 100% of the &=gyhent Award will become nonforfeitable and pagaivl
accordance with Section 8 of Article Il with respaxthe performance-based restricted stock uoiered thereby.

(d) *“Termination for Cause” means a termination of Geais employment by the Successor for

“Cause” (as defined in Section 10(f) of Article.ll)
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(e) “Termination for Good Cause” shall mean the Grastesrmination of the Grantee’s employment
with the Successor as a result of the occurreneapbf the following:
(i) achange in the Grantee’s principal location of layipent that is greater than 50 miles from

such location as of the date of this Agreementauithhe Grantee’s consent; providdibwever, that the

Grantee hereby acknowledges that the Grantee meggbéed to engage in travel in connection with th
performance of the Grantee’s duties hereundertzatdstich travel shall not constitute a changeen th
Grantee’s principal location of employment for pagps hereof;
(i)  a material diminution in the Grantee’s base comagms;
(i) achange in the Grantee’s position with the Suaresghout the Grantee’s consent such
that there is a material diminution in the Grantemithority, duties or responsibilities; or
(iv) any other action or inaction that constitutes aemaltbreach by the Successor of the
agreement, if any, under which the Grantee provsa@egices to the Successor or its subsidiaries.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Grar's termination of the Grantee’s employment with Bweccessor as a result of
the occurrence of any of the foregoing shall naistitute a “Termination for Good Cause” unless {#8 Grantee gives
the Successor written notice of such occurrenceinvl0 days of such occurrence and such occuriienca cured by
the Successor within 30 days of the date on which svritten notice is received by the Successor(Bjdhe Grantee

actually terminates his or her employment with$uecessor prior to the 365th day following suchuo@nce.
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(H If a Replacement Award is provided, notwithstandamgthing in this Agreement to the contrary,
outstanding PRSUs which at the time of the Chandgointrol are not subject to a “substantial riskaofeiture” (within
the meaning of Section 409A of the Code) will berded to be nonforfeitable at the time of such CeangControl and
will be paid as provided for in Section 8(b) of i&ke II.

7. Forfeiture of PRSUsThe PRSUs shall be forfeited to the extent tlagiytd become nonforfeitable as of the

Committee Determination Date and, except as otlsergiovided in Sections 4, 5 or 6 of Article llthe Grantee ceases
to be employed by the Corporation or a Subsidiagng time prior to such PRSUs becoming nonforfééaor to the
extent they are forfeited as provided in Sectiaf Article II.

8. Form and Time of Payment of PRSUs

(@) General Except as otherwise provided for in Section ZAuicle 111, and subject to Section 7 and
Section 8(b) of Article Il, payment for the PRSWbatthave become nonforfeitable in accordance wetttiéns 3, 4, 5 or
6 of Article Il shall be made in form of cash beemelanuary 1, 2017 and March 15, 2017. The cashegraywill be
equal to the Market Value per Share on the dat®BR®Us become nonforfeitable times the numberai 8IRSUs plus
any dividend equivalents accrued on such PRSUs sirecDate of Grant (as provided below in Sectiboflthis Article
I1). Payments will be made in local currency, lapgplicable taxes.

(b) Alternative Payment EventdNotwithstanding Section 8(a) of Article Il, andcept as otherwise

provided for in Section 2 of Article Ill, to the #nt that PRSUs have become nonforfeitable, thercdlsh payment for

the PRSUs will be made on an earlier date as fallow
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(i) Death. To the extent that PRSUs are nonforfeitable erdidite of Grantee’s death, payment
for the PRSUs will be made on the date of Grantdeath;,

(i)  Disability . To the extent that PRSUs are nonforfeitable erdidite the Grantee becomes
“disabled”within the meaning of Section 409A(a)(2)(C) of thede, payment for the PRSUs will be m
on the date the Grantee becomes disabled,;

(i)  Separation from ServiceTo the extent that PRSUs are nonforfeitable erdidite of

Grantee’s “separation from service” (determinedgéoordance with Section 409A of the Code), payment

for the PRSUs will be made on the date of Grantesparation from service”; providedcowever, that if

the Grantee on the date of separation from seivia€'specified employee” (within the meaning of
Section 409A of the Code determined using the ileattion methodology selected by the Company from
time to time), payment for the PRSUs will be madédle first day of the seventh month after the déhte
Grantee’s separation from service or, if earlieg, date of Grantee’s death; and

(iv) Change of Contral To the extent that PRSUs are nonforfeitable endidite of a Change in

Control, payment for the PRSUs will be made ondate of the Change of Control; providedowever,

that if such Change in Control would not qualifyaagermissible date of distribution under Sectio@At
(@)(2)(A) of the Code, and the regulations thereundnd where Section 409A of the Code appliesith s

distribution, payment will be made on the date thatild have otherwise applied pursuant to Section 8

8




9. Effect of Detrimental Activity. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrafryhe Grantee, either durir

employment by the Corporation or a Subsidiary dhiwione year after termination of such employmehéll engage in
any Detrimental Activity (as defined in Sectionli€low) and the Board shall so find, then the Grasteall, upon notice
of such finding:

(@) Forfeit all PRSUs held by the Grantee.

(b)  With respect to any PRSUs that became nonforfetabtl for which payment was made under this
Agreement, pay to the Corporation in cash an amegunal to the payment Grantee received for suchlUBRS

(c) To the extent that such amounts are not paid t€trporation, the Corporation may, to the extent
permitted by law, set off the amounts so payabiedgainst any amounts that may be owing from timmgéme by the
Corporation or a Subsidiary to the Grantee, whedlsawvages, deferred compensation or vacation piaytbe form of
any other benefit or for any other reason, exdegtho such seidff shall be permitted against any amount that Gtutes
“deferred compensation” within the meaning of Satd09A of the Code.

10. Definition of Detrimental Activity. For purposes of this Agreement, the term “DetritabActivity” shall

include:

(@ (1) Engaging in any activity in violation of tisection entitled “Competitive Activity;
Confidentiality; Nonsolicitation” in the Severandgreement between the Corporation and the Graiftary
such agreement is in effect on the date of thissAgrent, or in violation of any corresponding prmnsn any
other agreement between the Corporation and thet&ran effect on the date of this Agreement priogjdor the

payment of severance compensation; or
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(v) If no such severance agreement is in effect aseoflate of this Agreement, or if such

severance agreement does not contain a secticgsponding to “Competitive Activity; Confidentiality

Nonsolicitation™:

A.

10

Competitive Activity During EmploymentCompeting with the Corporation anywhere withia th

United States during the term of the Grantee’s egmpént, including, without limitation:

(2) entering into or engaging in any business Wwigiempetes with the business of the
Corporation;

(2) soliciting customers, business, patronageders for, or selling, any products or services
in competition with, or for any business that cotegeawith, the business of the
Corporation;

(3)  diverting, enticing or otherwise taking away angtamers, business, patronage or orde
the Corporation or attempting to do so; or

4) promoting or assisting, financially or othes@j any person, firm, association, partnership,
corporation or other entity engaged in any busimdssh competes with the business of
Corporation.

Following Termination For a period of one year following the Gransetgrmination dat

(2) entering into or engaging in any business Wwigiempetes with the Corporation’s business

within the Restricted Territory (as hereinafteridedl);
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(2) soliciting customers, business, patronageders for, or selling, any products or services
in competition with, or for any business, wherelegated, that competes with, the
Corporation’s business within the Restricted Teryit

(3)  diverting, enticing or otherwise taking away angtamers, business, patronage or orde
the Corporation within the Restricted Territory,attempting to do so; or

(4) promoting or assisting, financially or othes@j any person, firm, association, partnership,
corporation or other entity engaged in any busimdssh competes with the Corporation’s
business within the Restricted Territory.

For the purposes of Sections 10(a)(ii)(A) and (B)\ee, inclusive, but without limitation thereof,

the Grantee will be in violation thereof if the Gtae engages in any or all of the activities sehi

therein directly as an individual on the Grante®mig account, or indirectly as a partner, joint
venturer, employee, agent, salesperson, consutitlicer and/or director of any firm, association,
partnership, corporation or other entity, or asoakholder of any corporation in which the Grar
or the Grantee’s spouse, child or parent ownsctiyrer indirectly, individually or in the
aggregate, more than five percent (5%) of the antbhg stock.

The*Corporation” For the purposes of this Section 10(a)(ii) ofiéle II, the “Corporation” shall

include any and all direct and indirect subsidgrigarents, and affiliated, or related companies of

the Corporation for which




the Grantee worked or had responsibility at thestohtermination of the Grantee’s employment

and at any time during the two-year period priosdch termination.

D. The"Corporations Business’ For the purposes of this Section 10 of Artidlénklusive, the

Corporation’s business is defined to be the integraroduction of high performance advanced
engineered materials used in a variety of eledtréactronic, thermal and structural applications
serving the consumer electronics, industrial coneptmand commercial aerospace, defense and
science, medical, energy, automotive electroneggecommunications infrastructure and appliance
markets, as further described in any and all marufing, marketing and sales manuals and
materials of the Corporation as the same may bkeecalf amended, supplemented or otherwise
changed from time to time, or of any other productservices substantially similar to or readily
substitutable for any such described products andces.

E. “ Restricted Territory’ For the purposes of Section 10(a)(ii)(B) of Alé II, the “Restricted

Territory” shall be defined as and limited to:

() the geographic area(s) within a one hundrdd radius of any and all Corporation location
(s) in, to, or for which the Grantee worked, to gththe Grantee was assigned or had any
responsibility (either direct or supervisory) at time of termination of the Grantee’s

employment and at any time during the two-yearqgakepirior to such termination; and
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(2) all of the specific customer accounts, whethignin or outside of the geographic area
described in (1) above, with which the Grantee draygcontact or for which the Grantee
had any responsibility (either direct or superw3a@t the time of termination of the
Grantee’s employment and at any time during theyrear period prior to such terminatit

F. “ Extension” If it shall be judicially determined that the &1tee has violated any of the Grantee’s
obligations under Section 10(a)(ii)(B) of Articledf this Agreement, then the period applicable to
each obligation that the Grantee shall have betrrdaed to have violated shall automatically be
extended by a period of time equal in length topleod during which such violation(s) occurred.

(b) Non-Solicitation. Except as otherwise provided in Section 10(af(Article Il, Detrimental

Activity shall also include directly or indirectBt any time soliciting or inducing or attemptingsulicit or induce any
employee(s), sales representative(s), agent(9rmudtant(s) of the Corporation and/or of its pé&sear its other
subsidiaries or affiliated or related companietetminate their employment, representation or oéissociation with the
Corporation and/or its parent or its other subsyda affiliated or related companies.

(c) FEurther CovenantsExcept as otherwise provided in Section 10(af(Article 11, Detrimental

Activity shall also include:
(i) directly or indirectly, at any time during or aftéye Grantee’s employment with the
Corporation, disclosing, furnishing, disseminatingaking available or, except in the course of paenfog

the Grantee's duties of

cui-2181467vi 13




CLI-2181467v1

employment, using any trade secrets or confidehbtiainess and technical information of the Corponat
or its customers or vendors, including without temion as to when or how the Grantee may have sext
such information. Such confidential information kveclude, without limitation, the Corporation'sique
selling, manufacturing and servicing methods argirt®ss techniques, training, service and business
manuals, promotional materials, training coursabather training and instructional materials, vanaiod
product information, customer and prospective qustolists, other customer and prospective customer
information and other business information. TherBa specifically acknowledges that all such
confidential information, whether reduced to wigtiaintained on any form of electronic media, or
maintained in the Grantee’s mind or memory and twretompiled by the Corporation, and/or the
Grantee, derives independent economic value franb@iag readily known to or ascertainable by proper
means by others who can obtain economic value fi®disclosure or use, that reasonable efforts have
been made by the Corporation to maintain the sgaksuch information, that such information is the
sole property of the Corporation and that any t&erand use of such information by the Granteendur
the Grantee’s employment with the Corporation (pkaethe course of performing the Grantee’s duties
and obligations to the Corporation) or after thenieation of the Grantee’s employment shall contgita
misappropriation of the Corporation’s trade secrets

(i)  Upon termination of the Grantee’s employment with €Corporation, for any reason, the

Grantee’s failure to return to the Corporation, in

14




good condition, all property of the Corporatiorgluding without limitation, the originals and abgies of
any materials which contain, reflect, summarizescdée, analyze or refer or relate to any items of
information listed in Section 10(c)(i) of Articlé. |

(d) Discoveries and InventionExcept as otherwise provided in Section 10(af(Article II,

Detrimental Activity shall also include the failuoe refusal of the Grantee to assign to the Cotmmraits successors,
assigns or nominees, all of the Grantee’s rightmiodiscoveries, inventions and improvements, drgbatentable or
not, made, conceived or suggested, either solglyimty with others, by the Grantee while in ther@oration’s employ,
whether in the course of the Grantee’s employmeéttt thre use of the Corporation’s time, materiafamilities or that is
in any way within or related to the existing or teamplated scope of the Corporation’s business. disgovery,
invention or improvement relating to any subjectterawith which the Corporation was concerned dytime Grantee’s
employment and made, conceived or suggested b@rduatee, either solely or jointly with others, viittone year
following termination of the Grantee’s employmenter this Agreement or any successor agreemeritdsha
irrebuttably presumed to have been so made, cosd@irvsuggested in the course of such employmehttixe use of th
Corporation’s time, materials or facilities. Up@aguest by the Corporation with respect to any slistoveries,
inventions or improvements, the Grantee will exeartd deliver to the Corporation, at any time dyonafter the
Grantee’s employment, all appropriate documentsigerin applying for, obtaining and maintaininglsdomestic and
foreign patents as the Corporation may desire giqtoper assignments therefor, when so requeatdte expense of

the Corporation, but without further or additiosahsideration.
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(e) Work Made For Hire Except as otherwise provided in Section 10(af(Article I, Detrimental

Activity shall also include violation of the Corgtion’s rights in any or all work papers, repodsgcumentation,
drawings, photographs, negatives, tapes and makerefor, prototypes and other materials (herégnafitems”),
including without limitation, any and all such itergenerated and maintained on any form of eleatnoidia, generated
by Grantee during the Grantee’s employment withGbeporation. The Grantee acknowledges that, t@xtent
permitted by law, all such items shall be considexéwork made for hire” and that ownership of amg all copyrights
in any and all such items shall belong to the Cafon. The item will recognize the Corporationtlas copyright owne
will contain all proper copyright notices,g., “(creation date) [Corporation Name], All Righteserved,” and will be in
condition to be registered or otherwise placedoimgliance with registration or other statutory riegnents throughout

the world.

() Termination for CauseExcept as otherwise provided in Section 10(a)(hgreement, Detrimental

Activity shall also include activity that results termination for Cause. For the purposes of teigiSn 10, “Cause” shall
mean that, the Grantee shall have:

(i) been convicted of a criminal violation involvingfrd, embezzlement, theft or violation of
federal antitrust statutes or federal securitiaslan connection with his duties or in the courkbis
employment with the Corporation or any affiliatetoé Corporation;

(i) committed intentional wrongful damage to propeifftyhe@ Corporation or any affiliate of the
Corporation; or

(i)  committed intentional wrongful disclosure of segricesses or confidential information of

the Corporation or any affiliate of the Corporation

and any such act shall have been demonstrably atetiadly harmful to the Corporation.
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(g) Other Injurious ConductDetrimental Activity shall also include any otleenduct or act

determined to be injurious, detrimental or prejuaito any significant interest of the Corporatammnany subsidiary
unless the Grantee acted in good faith and in anerame or she reasonably believed to be in or ppb®ed to the best
interests of the Corporation.

(h) Reasonablenesdhe Grantee acknowledges that the Grantee’satiwigs under this Section 10 of

Article 1l of this Agreement are reasonable in toatext of the nature of the Corporation’s busireess the competitive
injuries likely to be sustained by the Corporatifotihe Grantee were to violate such obligationse Grantee further
acknowledges that this Agreement is made in corgid@ of, and is adequately supported by the ageee of the
Corporation to perform its obligations under thigréement and by other consideration, which the Beaacknowledge
constitutes good, valuable and sufficient consitii@na

11. Dividend Equivalents From and after the Date of Grant and until thdiezaof (a) the time when the

PRSUs become nonforfeitable and are paid in acoosdwith Sections 3 and 8 of Article 1l or (b) tiirae when the
Grantees right to receive cash in payment of the PRSUWarfeited in accordance with Section 7 of Articledn the dat
that the Corporation pays a cash dividend (if dayjolders of Common Shares generally, the Grastia# be entitled to
a deferred cash payment equal to the value ofribdupt of (i) the dollar amount of the cash dividgraid per Common
Share on such date and (ii) the total number ofBRS&vered by this Agreement. Such dividend eqgaal (if any)
shall be paid in cash, and shall be subject to stloér applicable terms and conditions (includiagment or
forfeitability) as the PRSUs to which the divideeglivalents were credited.

12. Relation to Severance Agreemeections 6 and 8 of Article Il shall supersedeglovisions of any

severance agreement between the Grantee and ther@won in effect on
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the Date of Grant that provide for earlier vestimgpayment of the PRSUs covered by this Agreenretita event of a

Change in Control.
ARTICLE Il

GENERAL PROVISIONS

1. Compliance with Law The Corporation shall make reasonable effortotaply with all applicable federal

and state securities laws.

2. Dilution and Other AdjustmentsSubject to the terms of the Plan, the Committex snake or provide for

such adjustments in the Management Objectives aRfR&Us covered by this Agreement as the Commiittés sole
discretion, exercised in good faith, may deternignequitably required to prevent dilution or enkmgent of the rights of
the Grantee that otherwise would result from (a) stock dividend, stock split, combination of sl&mecapitalization ¢
other change in the capital structure of the Catfpon, or (b) any merger, consolidation, spin-sffin-out, split-off,
split-up, reorganization, partial or complete ld@iion or other distribution of assets, or issuasfogarrants or other
rights to purchase securities, or (c) any othepaxate transaction or event having an effect simdany of the
foregoing. In the event of any such transactioavant, the Committee may provide in substitutiantfie PRSUs such
alternative consideration (including cash) as iynmagood faith determine to be equitable underdiheumstances and
may require in connection therewith the surrendéh® PRSUs so replaced.

3. Withholding Taxes If the Corporation or any Subsidiary shall beuieed to withhold any federal, state,

local or foreign tax in connection with any issuaneesting or payment of cash pursuant to this &gent, the Grantee

shall pay the tax or make arrangements that aisfasebry to the Corporation or such Subsidiarytfer payment therec
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4. Continuous EmploymentFor purposes of this Agreement, the continuousl@yment of the Grantee with

the Corporation or a Subsidiary shall not be deetodthve been interrupted, and the Grantee shiblendeemed to ha
ceased to be an employee of the Corporation obai@ary, by reason of the transfer of his emplogth@nong the
Corporation and its Subsidiaries or a leave of ats@pproved by the Board.

5. No Employment Contract; Right to Terminate Emploptelhe grant of the PRSUs covered by this

Agreement to the Grantee is a voluntary, discretipmward being made on a one-time basis and & doeconstitute a
commitment to make any future awards. The gratih@PRSUs under this Agreement and any payments mad
hereunder will not be considered salary or othemmensation for purposes of any severance pay diasialowance,
except as otherwise required by law. Nothing is thgreement will give the Grantee any right to gt employment
with the Corporation or any Subsidiary, as the e¢aag be, or interfere in any way with the rightteé¢ Corporation or a
Subsidiary to terminate the employment of the Grarit any time.

6. Information. Information about the Grantee and the Granteg'8ggpation in the Plan may be collected,
recorded and held, used and disclosed for any parpaated to the administration of the Plan. Then@e understands
that such processing of this information may neclet carried out by the Corporation and its Subsies and by third
party administrators whether such persons areddoaithin the Grantee’s country or elsewhere, iditlg the United
States of America. The Grantee consents to theepsitg of information relating to the Grantee drelGrantee’s

participation in the Plan in any one or more ofwagys referred to above.
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7. Amendments Any amendment to the Plan shall be deemed tolzereendment to this Agreement to the

extent that the amendment is applicable heretwiged, however, that no amendment shall adversely affect thesigh

of the Grantee under this Agreement without then@s consent_(_providechowever, that the Grantee’s consent shall

not be required to an amendment that is deemedsageby the Corporation to comply with SectionA4@3 the Code).

8. Severability. In the event that one or more of the provisidnthis Agreement shall be invalidated for any
reason by a court of competent jurisdiction, argvgion so invalidated shall be deemed to be sépafeom the other
provisions hereof, and the remaining provisiongbgshall continue to be valid and fully enforcesabl

9. Governing Law This agreement is made under, and shall be emtbtn accordance with, the internal

substantive laws of the State of Ohio.

10. Compliance with Section 409A of the CodE€o the extent applicable, it is intended thas thgreement ar

the Plan comply with the provisions of Section 408Ahe Code, so that the income inclusion provisiof Section
409A(a)(1) of the Code do not apply to the Grantdes Agreement and the Plan shall be administeredmanner
consistent with this intent. Reference to Sectid8Alof the Code is to Section 409A of the IntedfRalenue Code of
1986, as amended, and will also include any prapdsenporary or final regulations, or any otherdguce promulgated
with respect to such Section by the U.S. Departrogtite Treasury or the Internal Revenue Service.

11. Subject to Clawback PolicyNotwithstanding anything in this Agreement to toatrary, subject to any

contrary determination by the Committee, the PR&®red by this
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Agreement are subject to the terms and provisibtiseoCorporatiors clawback policies as may be in effect from tiim

time to the extent provided for under such policies
[SIGNATURES ON NEXT PAGE]
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The undersigned Grantee hereby accepts the awavdsed by this Performance-Based Restricted Stock

Units Agreement on the terms and conditions sé¢ floerein.

Dated:___

Grantee

Executed in the name of and on behalf of the Cartpmr at Cleveland, Ohio as of this day of

, 201«
MATERION CORPORATION

By _
Michael C.
Hasychak
Vice President,

Treasurer and Secretary
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EXHIBIT A

MATERION CORPORATION

BENEFICIARY DESIGNATIONS

In accordance with the terms and conditions of the (the “Plan”), | hereby designate thesq(s)
indicated below as my beneficiary(ies) to receing amounts payable under said Plan after my death.

Name
Address

Social Sec. Nos. of Beneficiary(ies)

Relationship(s)
Date(s) of Birth

In the event that the aboweamed beneficiary(ies) predecease(s) me, | hereighte the following person as
beneficiary(ies);

Name
Address

Social Sec. Nos. of Beneficiary(ies)

Relationship(s)
Date(s) of Birth

I hereby expressly revoke all prior designationberfieficiary(ies), reserve the right to changebeeficiary(ies)
herein designated and agree that the rights ofteméficiary(ies) shall be subject to the termthefPlan. In the event

that there is no beneficiary living at the timenof death, | understand that the amounts payableruthd Plan will be
paid to my estate.

Date (Signature)

(_Print or type name)
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Statement of Management Objectives

This Statement of Management Objectives appli¢sd@erformance-based Restricted Stock Units gilantéhe
Grantee on the Date of Grant and applies with i@dpehe Performance-Based Restricted Stock Agteement
between the Company and the Grantee (thAgréeement’). Capitalized terms used in the Agreement thatreot
specifically defined in this Statement of Manageti@bjectives have the meanings assigned to theheikgreement ¢
in the Plan, as applicable.

Section 1Definitions. For purposes here

(@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

CLI-2181467v1

“Peer Group” means, of a benchmark group of 20 entities, drmaes of which are attached hereto as
Annex A, those entities that remain in the Peer Groud #secend of the Performance Period after
application of the Peer Group Adjustment Protocol.

“ Peer Group Adjustment Protocdlmeans: (i) if an entity listed in Annex fles for bankruptcy and/:
liquidation, is operating under bankruptcy protecti or is delisted from its primary stock exche
because it fails to meet the exchange listing reguent, then such entity will not remain in the
Group and RTSR for the Performance Period will lewdated as if such entity had never been a me
of the Peer Group; (ii) if, as of the last datetlod Performance Period, an entity listed in Annexnd
longer exists as a business entity for any reasloar dhan under subsection (iii) below, then suctity
will not remain in the Peer Group and RTSR for Begformance Period will be calculated as if sudiitye
had never been a member of the Peer Group; anddjiipurposes of this Statement of Managel
Objectives, for each of the entities listed in Axre, such entity shall be deemed to include any ssc
to all or substantially all of the primary businedsuch entity, whether or not the same legakgrdit en
of the Performance Period.

“ Relative Total Shareholder Returhor * RTSR” means the percentile rank of the Corporation’sal’o
Shareholder Return among the Total Shareholderfetf all members of the Peer Group, ranked in
descending order, at the end of the Performanded&ercentile will be calculated using the Miarfis
Excel Percentile Function method.

“Return on Invested Capitdl or “ ROIC ” means the Corporation’s annual adjusted operatingt
before tax divided by the sum of short-term dedigtterm debt and equity. “Equity” excludes thense
within other comprehensive income (nhamely, pensedoation adjustment, derivative valuation
adjustment and the cumulative translation adjustm@&he measurement of the 2016 ROIC will be the
average ROIC for 2014, 2015 and 2016 using thenbéayg (December 31 of the previous year) and
ending (December 31 of the current year) investgutal.




(e)

“Total Shareholder Returri means, with respect to each of the Common Srerdghe common stock
of each of the members of the Peer Group, a ratetafn reflecting stock price appreciation, plus t
reinvestment of dividends in additional sharestotls, from the beginning of the Performance Period
through the end of the Performance Period. Forgeep of calculating Total Shareholder Return fehea
of the Company and the members of the Peer Grbagdginning stock price will be based on the
average closing stock price for the 30 calendas daynediately preceding January 1, 2014 on the
principal stock exchange on which the stock thaded and the ending stock price will be based en th
average closing stock price for the 30 calendas daynediately preceding January 1, 2017 on the
principal stock exchange on which the stock thadds.

Section ZzPerformance Matrices

From 0% to 200% of the ROIC PRSUs will be earneskdaon achievement of the portion of the Management
Objectives measured by ROIC goals during the Pexdorce Period, and from 0% to 200% of the RTSR PR&IUbe
earned based on achievement of the portion of theagement Objectives measured by RTSR goals dilréng
Performance Period, in each case as follows:

Performance Level Return on Invested Capital ROIC PRSUs Earne
Below Threshold Below 9.6% 0%
Threshold 9.6% 25%
Target 10.6% 100%
Maximum 11.9% or greater 200%
Performance Level Relative Total Shareholder Return RTSR PRSUs Earne
Below Threshold Ranked below 25ercentile 0%
Threshold Ranked at Z5percentile 50%
Target Ranked at 30percentile 100%
Maximum Ranked at or above 8(ercentile 200%

Section 3.

(@)
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Number of PRSUs Earne. Following the Performance Period, on the Commietermination Date, the
Committee shall determine whether and to what éxkengoals relating to the Management Objectives
have been satisfied for the Performance Periodshall determine the number of PRSUs that shall
become nonforfeitable hereunder and under the Aggaeon the basis of the following:

Below ThresholdIf, upon the conclusion of the Performance PerfgdROIC for the Performance Peri
falls below the threshold level, as set forth i@ Berformance Matrices, no ROIC PRSUs shall become
nonforfeitable and (ii)

2




RTSR for the Performance Period falls below theshold level, as set forth in the Performance Measri
no RTSR PRSUs shall become nonforfeitable.

(b) Threshold If, upon the conclusion of the Performance PerfpdROIC for the Performance Period eqt
the threshold level, as set forth in the Perforreavatrices, 25% of the ROIC PRSUs (rounded down to
the nearest whole number of ROIC PRSUSs) shall beaoonforfeitable, and (i) RTSR for the
Performance Period equals the threshold levekt®gh in the Performance Matrices, 50% of theSRT
PRSUs (rounded down to the nearest whole numbRT8R PRSUSs) shall become nonforfeitable.

(c) Between Threshold and Targdt, upon the conclusion of the Performance PerfdROIC for the
Performance Period exceeds the threshold levelshess than the target level, as set forth in the
Performance Matrices, a percentage between 25%G@0%b (determined on the basis of straight-line
mathematical interpolation) of the ROIC PRSUs (aethdown to the nearest whole number of ROIC
PRSUSs) shall become nonforfeitable, and (ii) RT8Rilie Performance Period exceeds the threshold
level, but is less than the target level, as s¢hfo the Performance Matrices, a percentage 180%
and 100% (determined on the basis of straightriiaghematical interpolation) of the RTSR PRSUs
(rounded down to the nearest whole number of RTRBW) shall become nonforfeitable.

(d) Target If, upon the conclusion of the Performance PerfgdROIC for the Performance Period equals
target level, as set forth in the Performance Masi 100% of the ROIC PRSUs shall become
nonforfeitable, and (ii) RTSR for the Performanegi®d equals the target level, as set forth in the
Performance Matrices, 100% of the RTSR PRSUs bealbme nonforfeitable.

(e) Between Target and Maximunif, upon the conclusion of the Performance PerfgdROIC for the
Performance Period exceeds the target level, besssthan the maximum level, as set forth in the
Performance Matrices, a percentage between 10092G0% (determined on the basis of straight-line
mathematical interpolation) of the ROIC PRSUs (aethdown to the nearest whole number of ROIC
PRSUSs) shall become nonforfeitable, and (i) RT8Rilie Performance Period exceeds the target level,
but is less than the maximum level, as set fortinénPerformance Matrices, a percentage betwee¥h 100
and 200% (determined on the basis of straightriia¢ghematical interpolation) of the RTSR PRSUs
(rounded down to the nearest whole number of RTRBW) shall become nonforfeitable.

) Equals or Exceeds Maximunif, upon the conclusion of the Performance PerfgdROIC for the
Performance Period equals or exceeds the maximeh ks set forth in the Performance Matrices, 200%
of the ROIC PRSUs shall become nonforfeitable, @h& TSR for the Performance Period equals or
exceeds the
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maximum level, as set forth in the Performance Mes, 200% of the RTSR PRSUs shall become
nonforfeitable.

Before all or any portion of any Qualified Performsa-Based Award of PRSUs shall become nonforfeitabl
paid in accordance with this Statement of Manage®&jectives or the Agreement, the Committee ghetiérmine in
writing that the Management Objectives have beénsfeal.

cL-2181467v1 4




Annex A

Peer Group
Company Name Ticker Symbol

[I-VI Incorporated V1
Atmel Corporation ATML
Cabot Corporation CBT
A. M. Castle & Co. Castle
Coherent, Inc. COHR
CTS Corporation CTS
Entegris, Inc. ENTG
Ferro Corporation FOE
Haynes International, Inc. HAYN
Integrated Device Technology, Inc. IDTI
Kemet Corporation KEM
Kraton Performance Polymers, Inc. KRA
Minerals Technologies Inc. MTX
OM Group, Inc. OMG
PolyOne Corporation POL
Quaker Chemical Corporation KWR
RF Micro Devices Inc. RFMD
Rogers Corporation ROG
RTI International Metals, Inc. RTI
Skyworks Solutions, Inc. SWKS
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[2014 Cash/Stock-Settled PRSUS]

Exhibit 10z
MATERION CORPORATION
Performance-Based Restricted Stock Units Agreement
WHEREAS, (the “Grantee”) ieraployee of Materion Corporation, an Ohio

corporation (the “Corporation”), or a Subsidiarpda

WHEREAS, the execution of an agreement in the foemeof (this “Agreement”) has been authorized by
resolution of the Compensation Committee (the “Catte®”) of the Board of Directors of the Corporatithat was duly
adopted on , 2014,

NOW, THEREFORE, pursuant to the (tharfB| and subject to the terms and conditions
thereof and the terms and conditions hereinaftefiosih, the Corporation hereby confirms to the iGe& the grant of (1)
a targeted number of performance-basedi®edtStock Units to be earned, if at all, on Itlasis of the
achievement of the portion of the Management Olyjestmeasured by ROIC goals during the Perform&ecd (as
defined below) (the “ROIC PRSUs"), and (2) a taegetumber of performance-based Restridtazk &nits to
be earned, if at all, on the basis of the achieverogthe portion of the Management Objectives mes$ by RTSR goa
during the Performance Period (the “RTSR PRSUSs’, togkther with the ROIC PRSUSs, the “PRSUSs"), dffecon

, 2014 (tr*Date of Grant). Subject to the attainment of thandgement Objectives described in Section 3
of Article Il of this Agreement and the StatemehManagement Objectives as approved by the Comftiensa
Committee with respect to the PRSUs on the Daterafnt (the “Statement of Management Objectivesi§, Grantee

may earn from 0% and 200% of the ROIC PRSUs amd 1% and 200% of the RTSR PRSUs.
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ARTICLE |
DEFINITIONS

All terms used herein with initial capital letteélet are defined in the Plan shall have the meaning
assigned to them in the Plan, and the followingtaathl terms, when used herein with initial capiédters, shall have

the following meanings:

1. “Committee Determination Date” means the dalieveng the end of the Performance Period on which
the Committee determines the level of attainmethefManagement Objectives for the PerformanceoBeri

2. “Management Objectives” means the thresholdetaand maximum goals established by the
Committee for the Performance Period with respetioth ROIC and RTSR as described in the Stateofent
Management Objectives. No adjustment of the Manage@bjectives shall be permitted in respect of RRBUS
granted to the Participant if at the Date of Glanbr she is, or is determined by the Committdmetbkely to become, a
“covered employee” within the meaning of Sectio2(6) of the Code (or any successor provision) dhsadjustment
would result in the loss of an otherwise availabtemption under Section 162(m) of the Code.

3. “Performance Period” means the three-year pa@odmencing January 1, 2014 and ending on
December 31, 2016.

4. “Relative Total Shareholder Return” or “RTSR’sithe meaning as set forth in the Statement of
Management Objectives.

5. “Return on Invested Capital” or “ROIC” has theaning as set forth in the Statement of Management

Objectives.

ARTICLE I
CERTAIN TERMS OF PRSUS
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1. Payment of PRSUsThe PRSUs covered by this Agreement shall bequagable to the Grantee if they

become nonforfeitable in accordance with Sectigrs 8 or 6 of Article Il.

2. PRSUs Norrransferable The PRSUs covered by this Agreement and anyesténerein may be

transferred or assigned only by will or pursuanti® laws of descent and distribution prior to pawpbtherefor.

3. Normal Vesting of PRSUsSubject to the terms and conditions of Sectiqrisahd 6 of Article Il, the

Grantee’s right to receive a cash payment for téRPRSUs and/or Common Shares (and possibly apaasghent) for
the RTSR PRSUs, as applicable, shall become naitfaiofe with respect to (a) 0% to 200% of the RERSUs on the
basis of the achievement of the portion of the M@naent Objectives measured by ROIC goals during?éréormance
Period, and (b) 0% and 200% of the RTSR PRSUs@bdkis of the achievement of the portion of the&fgment
Objectives measured by RTSR goals during the Redgnce Period, in each case as set forth in therSésit of
Management Objectives. Except as otherwise provigeein, the Granteg'ight to receive a cash payment for the R
PRSUs and/or Common Shares (and possibly a cashepd)yfor the RTSR PRSUS, as applicable, is coahhgpon his
or her remaining in the continuous employ of thenpany or a Subsidiary until the end of the PerforoeaPeriod.

4. Effect of Termination due to Death or Disabilitilotwithstanding the provisions of Section 3 ofiéle II,

100% of the PRSUs shall immediately become nontatite and payable at the time described in Se&iohArticle Il
if the Grantee dies or becomes permanently disaklel@ in the employ of the Corporation or a Sulzsig before the

Committee Determination Date. The Grantee shafldmsidered to have become permanently

CLI-2181459v1 3




disabled if the Grantee has suffered a permaneabiiity within the meaning of the long-term diddpiplan in effect
for, or applicable to, the Grantee and is “disabieithin the meaning of Section 409A(a)(2)(C) oétode.

5. Effect of Termination due to Retiremeriotwithstanding the continuous employment pra@nsof Section

3 of Article Il above, but subject to the provissoof Section 6 of Article Il below, if the Granteseat the time of such
termination (a) at least age 65 or (b) at leastzgand has completed at least 10 years of cont;vamployment with
the Corporation or a Subsidiary, the PRSUs covbyetthis Agreement shall continue to be eligibldézome
nonforfeitable in accordance with Section 3 of thiticle Il (and payable in accordance with Sectiaof Article 1) as if
the Grantee continued to be employed until theadride Performance Period.

6. Change in Contral Notwithstanding Sections 3 and 5 of Article lbabk, the following alternative

nonforfeitability provisions will apply to the PRSUh the event of a Change in Control occurringratie Date of Grant

and prior to the PRSUs becoming nonforfeitablecicoadance with Section 3 of Article II:

@) Upon the Change in Control, 100% of the PRSi3dl ¥ecome nonforfeitable and payable in
accordance with Section 8 of Article Il, excepthe extent that an award meeting the requiremdrection 6(b) of
Article 1l (a “Replacement Award”) is provided the Grantee in accordance with Section 6(b) of Agticto replace or
adjust the award of PRSUs covered by this Agreetfteat'Replaced Award”).

(b) For purposes of this Agreement, a “Replacemerdard” means an award (i) of the same type
(e.g., performance-based restricted stock units) aR#maced Award, (ii) that has a value at leastaktpithe value of

the Replaced Award, (iii) that relates to publicly
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traded equity securities of the Corporation ositscessor in the Change in Control or anotheryethidt is affiliated witt
the Corporation or its successor following the @eaim Control, (iv) if the Grantee holding the Reg#d Award is
subject to U.S. federal income tax under the Ctiaetax consequences of which to such Grantee uheélode are not
less favorable to such Grantee than the tax coesegs of the Replaced Award, and (v) the otherdema conditions
of which are not less favorable to the Granteeihglthe Replaced Award than the terms and conditairihe Replaced
Award (including the provisions that would applytie event of a subsequent Change in Control). pldgement Awar
may be granted only to the extent it does not téisuhe Replaced Award or Replacement Award fgilim comply with
or be exempt from Section 409A of the Code. WitHouiting the generality of the foregoing, the Regment Award
may take the form of a continuation of the Repla&edrd if the requirements of the two precedingteroes are
satisfied. The determination of whether the condgiof this Section 6(b) of Article Il are satisfi@ill be made by the
Committee, as constituted immediately before thar@le in Control, in its sole discretion.

(c) If, upon receiving a Replacement Award, therBa’s employment with the Corporation or a
Subsidiary (or any of their successors) (as applcahe “Successor”) is terminated by the Graatea Termination for
Good Cause or if the Grantee is terminated by tlee&ssor other than as a Termination for Causennatiperiod of two
years after the Change in Control, 100% of the &=sphent Award will become nonforfeitable and pagaibl
accordance with Section 8 of Article Il with respaxthe performance-based restricted stock uoiered thereby.

(d) “Termination for Cause” means a terminatiorGoéntee’s employment by the Successor for

“Cause” (as defined in Section 10(f) of Article.ll)
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(e) “Termination for Good Cause” shall mean therBa’s termination of the Grantee’s
employment with the Successor as a result of tharoence of any of the following:

0] a change in the Grantee’s principal locatioreofployment that is greater than 50 miles

from such location as of the date of this Agreenwatiiout the Grantee’s consent; providdtbwever,
that the Grantee hereby acknowledges that the &anay be required to engage in travel in connectio
with the performance of the Granteeluties hereunder and that such travel shallomdtitute a change
the Grantee’s principal location of employmentgarposes hereof;

(i) a material diminution in the Grantee’s basenpensation;

(iii) a change in the Grantee’s position with thee&essor without the Grantee’s consent
such that there is a material diminution in ther@ea’s authority, duties or responsibilities; or

(iv) any other action or inaction that constituéenaterial breach by the Successor of the

agreement, if any, under which the Grantee provsagegices to the Successor or its subsidiaries.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Grar's termination of the Grantee’s employment with 8weccessor as a result of
the occurrence of any of the foregoing shall naistitute a “Termination for Good Cause” unless {#8 Grantee gives
the Successor written notice of such occurrenceinvBl0 days of such occurrence and such occuriienca cured by
the Successor within 30 days of the date on which svritten notice is received by the Successor(Bjdhe Grantee

actually terminates his or her employment with$uecessor prior to the 365th day following suchuo@nce.
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) If a Replacement Award is provided, notwithstang anything in this Agreement to the
contrary, any outstanding PRSUs which at the tifrtt@ Change in Control are not subject to a “safusl risk of
forfeiture” (within the meaning of Section 409Atbe Code) will be deemed to be nonforfeitable attiime of such

Change in Control and will be paid as providedifoBection 8(b) of Article II.

7. Forfeiture of PRSUsThe PRSUs shall be forfeited to the extent tladiytd become nonforfeitable as of the

Committee Determination Date and, except as otlserpiovided in Sections 4, 5 or 6 of Article lithe Grantee ceases
to be employed by the Corporation or a Subsidiagng time prior to such PRSUs becoming nonforfééaor to the
extent they are forfeited as provided in Sectiaf Article II.

8. Form and Time of Payment of PRSUs

(@) General Except as otherwise provided for in Section ZAicle 111, and subject to Section 7 and
Section 8(b) of Article 1l, payment for the PRSWbiatthave become nonforfeitable in accordance wettiéns 3, 4, 5 or
6 of Article Il shall be made in the form of (i)stafor up to 200% of the ROIC PRSUs, (ii) Commomr@k for up to
100% of the RTSR PRSUs, and (ii) cash for gredtan tL00% of the RTSR PRSUSs, in each case betweeardal,
2017 and March 15, 2017. Any cash payment for RBWBs will be equal to the Market Value per Shar¢hendate the
applicable PRSUs become nonforfeitable times tmelaur of such PRSUs, plus any dividend equivalectsugd on
such PRSUs since the Date of Grant (as providemhbiel Section 11 of this Article I1). The cash pagmhwill be made
in local currency, less applicable taxes.

(b) Alternative Payment EventdNotwithstanding Section 8(a) of Article Il, andcept as otherwise

provided for in Section 2 of Article Ill, to the &nt that PRSUs have
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become nonforfeitable, then any issuance of ther@omShares underlying such PRSUs (or payment obtdrer form

of consideration into which the Common Shares ugiohgy such PRSUs may have been converted) andasty ¢

payment for the PRSUs will be made on an earligz da follows:

CLI-2181459v1

() Death. To the extent that PRSUs are nonforfeitable erdidite of Grantee’s death, payment
for the PRSUs will be made on the date of Grantdeath;,

(i)  Disability . To the extent that PRSUs are nonforfeitable endite the Grantee becomes
“disabled”within the meaning of Section 409A(a)(2)(C) of thede, payment for the PRSUs will be m
on the date the Grantee becomes disabled:;

(i)  Separation from ServiceTo the extent that PRSUs are nonforfeitable erdidite of

Grantee’s “separation from service” (determinedgoordance with Section 409A of the Code), payment

for the PRSUs will be made on the date of Grantesparation from service”; providedcowever, that if

the Grantee on the date of separation from seiviaé€'specified employee” (within the meaning of
Section 409A of the Code determined using the ifleation methodology selected by the Company from
time to time), payment for the PRSUs will be madéelee first day of the seventh month after the déte
Grantee’s separation from service or, if earlieg, date of Grantee’s death; and

(iv) Change of Contral To the extent that PRSUs are nonforfeitable endite of a Change in

Control, payment for the PRSUs will be made ondate of the Change of Control; providedowever,

that if such Change in Control

8




would not qualify as a permissible date of disttita under Section 409A(a)(2)(A) of the Code, dmel t
regulations thereunder, and where Section 409A@®fode applies to such distribution, payment éll
made on the date that would have otherwise appliesuant to Section 8.

9. Effect of Detrimental Activity. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrafryhe Grantee, either durir

employment by the Corporation or a Subsidiary dhiwione year after termination of such employmehéll engage in
any Detrimental Activity (as defined in Sectionld€low) and the Board shall so find, then the Grastell, upon notice
of such finding:

(@) Forfeit all PRSUs held by the Grantee.

(b)  With respect to any PRSUs that became nonforfatabt for which a cash payment was made
under this Agreement, pay to the Corporation irh@samount equal to the payment Grantee recedresith PRSUSs.

(c) With respect to any PRSUs that became nonforfeitabt were paid pursuant to this Agreement,
return to the Corporation any and all Common Sheraswere paid out under this Agreement that then€@e has not
then disposed of.

(d) With respect to any and all Common Shares sulygeittes PRSUs covered by this Agreement the
became nonforfeitable and were paid pursuant oAgreement within a period of one year prior t® date of the
commencement of such Detrimental Activity andtfi@ Grantee has disposed of, pay to the Corpor#t®moash value
of such Common Shares on the date the respecti$&BPRere paid.

(e) To the extent that such amounts are not paid t€trporation, the Corporation may, to the extent

permitted by law, set off the amounts so payabiedgainst any
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amounts that may be owing from time to time by@ueporation or a Subsidiary to the Grantee, whedlserages,
deferred compensation or vacation pay or in thenfof any other benefit or for any other reasongexthat no such set-
off shall be permitted against any amount that tanes “deferred compensation” within the meanofi@ection 409A

of the Code.

10. Definition of Detrimental Activity. For purposes of this Agreement, the term “DetritakActivity” shall

include:

(@ (1) Engaging in any activity in violation of tisection entitled “Competitive Activity;
Confidentiality; Nonsolicitation” in the Severandgreement between the Corporation and the Graiftary
such agreement is in effect on the date of thissAgrent, or in violation of any corresponding primnsn any
other agreement between the Corporation and thet&ran effect on the date of this Agreement prioigjdor the
payment of severance compensation; or

(i) If no such severance agreement is in effect aseoflate of this Agreement, or if such
severance agreement does not contain a sectiogsporrding to “Competitive Activity; Confidentiality

Nonsolicitation”:

A. Competitive Activity During EmploymentCompeting with the Corporation anywhere withia th

United States during the term of the Grantee’s egrpent, including, without limitation:

() entering into or engaging in any business wigigmpetes with the business of the
Corporation;

(2) soliciting customers, business, patronageders for, or selling, any products or services
in competition with, or for any business that cotepewith, the business of the

Corporation;
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(3)

(4)

diverting, enticing or otherwise taking away angtouners, business, patronage or orde
the Corporation or attempting to do so; or

promoting or assisting, financially or othes@j any person, firm, association, partnership,
corporation or other entity engaged in any busimdssh competes with the business of

Corporation.

Following Termination For a period of one year following the Gransetegrmination dat

(1)

(2)

3)

(4)

entering into or engaging in any business wigiempetes with the Corporation’s business
within the Restricted Territory (as hereinafterided);

soliciting customers, business, patronageders for, or selling, any products or services
in competition with, or for any business, wherelegated, that competes with, the
Corporation’s business within the Restricted Teryit

diverting, enticing or otherwise taking away angtouners, business, patronage or orde
the Corporation within the Restricted Territory,attempting to do so; or

promoting or assisting, financially or othes@j any person, firm, association, partnership,
corporation or other entity engaged in any busimdssh competes with the Corporation’s

business within the Restricted Territory.
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For the purposes of Sections 10(a)(ii)(A) and (B)\&e, inclusive, but without limitation thereof,
the Grantee will be in violation thereof if the Gtae engages in any or all of the activities sehi
therein directly as an individual on the Grante®migy account, or indirectly as a partner, joint
venturer, employee, agent, salesperson, consutificer and/or director of any firm, association,
partnership, corporation or other entity, or agoakholder of any corporation in which the Grar
or the Grantee’s spouse, child or parent ownsctiyrer indirectly, individually or in the
aggregate, more than five percent (5%) of the antBhg stock.

The*Corporation” For the purposes of this Section 10(a)(ii) ofiéle I, the “Corporation” shall

include any and all direct and indirect subsidgrigarents, and affiliated, or related companies of
the Corporation for which the Grantee worked or resbonsibility at the time of termination of
the Grantee’s employment and at any time duringwioeyear period prior to such termination.

The*Corporations Business’ For the purposes of this Section 10 of Artidlentlusive, the

Corporation’s business is defined to be the integraroduction of high performance advanced
engineered materials used in a variety of eledtréactronic, thermal and structural applications
serving the consumer electronics, industrial coneptmand commercial aerospace, defense and
science, medical, energy, automotive electrongtdecbmmunications infrastructure and appliance

markets, as further described in any and all mantufeng, marketing and sales
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manuals and materials of the Corporation as thesaay be altered, amended, supplemented or
otherwise changed from time to time, or of any offreducts or services substantially similar t

readily substitutable for any such described prtxland services.

“ Restricted Territory’ For the purposes of Section 10(a)(ii)(B) of Alé II, the “Restricted

Territory” shall be defined as and limited to:

(5) the geographic area(s) within a one hundrdd radius of any and all Corporation location
(s) in, to, or for which the Grantee worked, to g¥ththe Grantee was assigned or had any
responsibility (either direct or supervisory) at time of termination of the Grantee’s
employment and at any time during the two-yearqgakepirior to such termination; and

(6) all of the specific customer accounts, whethignin or outside of the geographic area
described in (1) above, with which the Grantee dragcontact or for which the Grantee
had any responsibility (either direct or superw3a@t the time of termination of the
Grantee’s employment and at any time during theytear period prior to such terminatic

“ Extension” If it shall be judicially determined that the &1tee has violated any of the Grantee’s

obligations under Section 10(a)(ii)(B) of Articledf this Agreement, then the period applicable to

each obligation that the Grantee shall have betrrdaed to have violated shall




automatically be extended by a period of time equéngth to the period during which such

violation(s) occurred.

(b) Non-Solicitation. Except as otherwise provided in Section 10(af(Article I, Detrimental

Activity shall also include directly or indirectBt any time soliciting or inducing or attemptingstlicit or induce any
employee(s), sales representative(s), agent(g)rmudtant(s) of the Corporation and/or of its pé&sear its other
subsidiaries or affiliated or related companietetminate their employment, representation or odsspciation with the
Corporation and/or its parent or its other subsyda affiliated or related companies.

(c) FEurther CovenantsExcept as otherwise provided in Section 10(af(Article 11, Detrimental

Activity shall also include:

(i) directly or indirectly, at any time during or aftéye Grantee’s employment with the
Corporation, disclosing, furnishing, disseminatin@gking available or, except in the course of panfog
the Grantee's duties of employment, using any tsadeets or confidential business and technical
information of the Corporation or its customersendors, including without limitation as to whenhmw
the Grantee may have acquired such informationh $aofidential information shall include, without
limitation, the Corporation's unique selling, maaxtfiring and servicing methods and business teahs.
training, service and business manuals, promotimérials, training courses and other training and
instructional materials, vendor and product infotiorg customer and prospective customer lists,rothe
customer and prospective customer information daherdusiness information. The Grantee specifically
acknowledges that all such confidential informatiwhether reduced to writing,
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maintained on any form of electronic media, or rtaired in the Grantee’s mind or memory and whether
compiled by the Corporation, and/or the Grantedayds independent economic value from not being
readily known to or ascertainable by proper meanstbers who can obtain economic value from its
disclosure or use, that reasonable efforts have imeele by the Corporation to maintain the secrécy o
such information, that such information is the qmieperty of the Corporation and that any retenéind

use of such information by the Grantee during then@e’s employment with the Corporation (except in
the course of performing the Grantee’s duties digations to the Corporation) or after the terntima

of the Grantee’s employment shall constitute a ppsapriation of the Corporation’s trade secrets.

(i)  Upon termination of the Grantee’s employment whth €orporation, for any reason, the
Grantee’s failure to return to the Corporationgaod condition, all property of the Corporatiorglirding
without limitation, the originals and all copiesarfy materials which contain, reflect, summarize,
describe, analyze or refer or relate to any itemsformation listed in Section 10(c)(i) of Articlé.

(d) Discoveries and InventionExcept as otherwise provided in Section 10(af(Article Il,

Detrimental Activity shall also include the failuoe refusal of the Grantee to assign to the Cotpmraits successors,
assigns or nominees, all of the Grantee’s rightmiodiscoveries, inventions and improvements, ndrgbatentable or
not, made, conceived or suggested, either solglyimtty with others, by the Grantee while in ther@oration’s employ,

whether in the course of the Grantee’s employmeéifit tve use of the Corporation’s time,
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material or facilities or that is in any way withim related to the existing or contemplated scdpgbheoCorporation’s
business. Any discovery, invention or improvemetating to any subject matter with which the Cogtimn was
concerned during the Grantee’s employment and ntasheeived or suggested by the Grantee, eithelysmigointly

with others, within one year following terminatiohthe Grantee’s employment under this Agreememingrsuccessor
agreements shall be irrebuttably presumed to haga bo made, conceived or suggested in the cousselo
employment with the use of the Corporation’s timaterials or facilities. Upon request by the Cogpion with respect
to any such discoveries, inventions or improvemehts Grantee will execute and deliver to the Caapon, at any time
during or after the Grantee’s employment, all appede documents for use in applying for, obtairamgl maintaining
such domestic and foreign patents as the Corparatay desire, and all proper assignments therefoen so requested,
at the expense of the Corporation, but withouterror additional consideration.

(e) Work Made For Hire Except as otherwise provided in Section 10(af(Article I, Detrimental

Activity shall also include violation of the Corgtion’s rights in any or all work papers, repodsgcumentation,
drawings, photographs, negatives, tapes and makerefor, prototypes and other materials (heréenafitems”),
including without limitation, any and all such itergenerated and maintained on any form of electnm&dia, generated
by Grantee during the Grantee’s employment withGbeporation. The Grantee acknowledges that, t@xtent
permitted by law, all such items shall be considexéwork made for hire” and that ownership of amg all copyrights
in any and all such items shall belong to the Cafon. The item will recognize the Corporationtlas copyright owne

will contain all proper copyright notices,g., “(creation date) [Corporation Name], All Righteserved,” and
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will be in condition to be registered or otherwjdaced in compliance with registration or othetigtary requirements
throughout the world.

( Termination for CauseExcept as otherwise provided in Section 10(af(hgreement, Detrimental

Activity shall also include activity that results termination for Cause. For the purposes of thigiSn 10, “Cause” shall
mean that, the Grantee shall have:

(i) been convicted of a criminal violation involvingird, embezzlement, theft or violation of
federal antitrust statutes or federal securitiaslan connection with his duties or in the courkis
employment with the Corporation or any affiliatetbé Corporation;

(i)  committed intentional wrongful damage to propeityh@ Corporation or any affiliate of the
Corporation; or

(i)  committed intentional wrongful disclosure of segeicesses or confidential information of

the Corporation or any affiliate of the Corporation

and any such act shall have been demonstrably atetiaily harmful to the Corporation.

(g) Other Injurious ConductDetrimental Activity shall also include any otlenduct or act

determined to be injurious, detrimental or prejuaito any significant interest of the Corporatammnany subsidiary
unless the Grantee acted in good faith and in anerame or she reasonably believed to be in or ppbsed to the best
interests of the Corporation.

(h) Reasonablenesdhe Grantee acknowledges that the Grantee’satiwigs under this Section 10 of

Article Il of this Agreement are reasonable in toatext of the nature of the Corporation’s busireess the competitive
injuries likely to be sustained by the Corporatifotihe Grantee were to violate such obligationse Grantee further

acknowledges that this Agreement is made in cordide of, and is adequately supported by the agee¢ of the
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Corporation to perform its obligations under thigréement and by other consideration, which the Beaacknowledge
constitutes good, valuable and sufficient consitii@na

11. Dividend Equivalents From and after the Date of Grant and until thdiexeof (a) the time when the

PRSUs become nonforfeitable and are paid in acooed@ith Sections 3 and 8 of Article Il or (b) tirme when the
Grantee’s right to receive Common Shares (or Com8tares and cash) in payment of the PRSUs is tedf@
accordance with Section 7 of Article I, on thealtitat the Corporation pays a cash dividend (i) amyolders of
Common Shares generally, the Grantee shall bdeshtd a deferred cash payment equal to the vdltleegroduct of (i
the dollar amount of the cash dividend paid per @om Share on such date and (ii) the total numb&R8Us covered
by this Agreement. Such dividend equivalents (if)ahall be paid in cash, and shall be subjectith ®ther applicable
terms and conditions (including payment or forfieitity) as the PRSUs to which the dividend equinédewere credited.

12. Relation to Severance Agreemei®ections 6 and 8 of Article 1l shall supersedeftovisions of any

severance agreement between the Grantee and ther@won in effect on the Date of Grant that previdr earlier

vesting or payment of the PRSUs covered by thiségrent in the event of a Change in Control.
ARTICLE Il

GENERAL PROVISIONS

1. Compliance with Law The Corporation shall make reasonable effortotaply with all applicable federal

and state securities laws; providdmbwever, notwithstanding any other provision of this Agremt, the Corporation

shall not be obligated to issue any Common
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Shares pursuant to this Agreement if the issudmeof would result in a violation of any such law.

2. Dilution and Other AdjustmentsSubject to the terms of the Plan, the Committex snake or provide for

such adjustments in the Management Objectives aRfR&Us covered by this Agreement as the Commiittés sole
discretion, exercised in good faith, may deternignequitably required to prevent dilution or enkmgent of the rights of
the Grantee that otherwise would result from (g) gtock dividend, stock split, combination of signmecapitalization ¢
other change in the capital structure of the Catian, or (b) any merger, consolidation, spin-sffin-out, split-off,
split-up, reorganization, partial or complete ld@iion or other distribution of assets, or issuarsfogarrants or other
rights to purchase securities, or (c) any othepaxate transaction or event having an effect smhlany of the
foregoing. In the event of any such transactioavant, the Committee may provide in substitutiantifie PRSUs such
alternative consideration (including cash) as iynmagood faith determine to be equitable underdiheumstances and
may require in connection therewith the surrendéh® PRSUs so replaced.

3. Withholding Taxes If the Corporation or any Subsidiary shall beuiegd to withhold any federal, state,

local or foreign tax in connection with any issuaneesting or payment of Common Shares or othenges, or cash,
pursuant to this Agreement, the Grantee shall payax or make arrangements that are satisfaatahetCorporation or
such Subsidiary for the payment thereof. With respethe PRSUs, the Grantee may elect to satisbr any part of an
such withholding obligation by surrendering to @erporation or such Subsidiary a portion of the Gmn Shares
subject to the PRSUs that are covered by this Agee¢ and the Common Shares so surrendered by #e@rshall be

credited against any
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such withholding obligation at the Market Value fdrare of such Common Shares on the date of suander. In no
event shall the market value of the Common Sharég withheld and/or delivered pursuant to thisti8aa of Article

Il to satisfy applicable withholding taxes in caation with the benefit exceed the minimum amodnéres required to
be withheld.

4. Continuous EmploymentFor purposes of this Agreement, the continuougleyment of the Grantee with

the Corporation or a Subsidiary shall not be deetoddve been interrupted, and the Grantee shablexdeemed to ha
ceased to be an employee of the Corporation obai@ary, by reason of the transfer of his emplogth@nong the
Corporation and its Subsidiaries or a leave of mts@pproved by the Board.

5. No Employment Contract; Right to Terminate EmplopteThe grant of the PRSUs covered by this

Agreement to the Grantee is a voluntary, discratipmward being made on a one-time basis and & doeconstitute a
commitment to make any future awards. The gratih@PRSUs under this Agreement and any payments mad
hereunder will not be considered salary or othenensation for purposes of any severance pay diasialowance,
except as otherwise required by law. Nothing is thgreement will give the Grantee any right to gt employment
with the Corporation or any Subsidiary, as the ecaag be, or interfere in any way with the rightleé¢ Corporation or a
Subsidiary to terminate the employment of the Grart any time.

6. Information. Information about the Grantee and the Granteg‘8gpation in the Plan may be collected,
recorded and held, used and disclosed for any parpgated to the administration of the Plan. Then@e understands
that such processing of this information may neeoet carried out by the Corporation and its Subsigs and by third

party administrators whether such persons areddoatthin the Grantee’s country or elsewhere,

CLI-2181459v1 20




including the United States of America. The Grameesents to the processing of information relatinthe Grantee ar
the Grantee’s participation in the Plan in any onenore of the ways referred to above.
7. Amendments Any amendment to the Plan shall be deemed tmlzereendment to this Agreement to the

extent that the amendment is applicable heretwiged, however, that no amendment shall adversely affect thesigh

of the Grantee under this Agreement without then@es consent_(_providechowever, that the Grantee’s consent shall

not be required to an amendment that is deemedsageby the Corporation to comply with Section4@39 the Code).

8. Severability. In the event that one or more of the provisidnthis Agreement shall be invalidated for any
reason by a court of competent jurisdiction, argvgion so invalidated shall be deemed to be sépafeom the other
provisions hereof, and the remaining provisiongbgshall continue to be valid and fully enforceabl

9. Governing Law. This agreement is made under, and shall be emtsin accordance with, the internal

substantive laws of the State of Ohio.

10. Compliance with Section 409A of the CodE€o the extent applicable, it is intended thas thgreement ar

the Plan comply with the provisions of Section 408Ahe Code, so that the income inclusion provisiof Section
409A(a)(1) of the Code do not apply to the Grantdes Agreement and the Plan shall be administeredmanner
consistent with this intent. Reference to Sectio@Atof the Code is to Section 409A of the IntefRalvenue Code of
1986, as amended, and will also include any prapdsenporary or final regulations, or any otherdguice promulgated

with respect to such Section by the U.S. Departroktite Treasury or the Internal Revenue Service.
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11. Subject to Clawback PolicyNotwithstanding anything in this Agreement to toatrary, subject to any

contrary determination by the Committee, the PR&h®red by this Agreement are subject to the temmasprovisions
of the Corporation’s clawback policies as may beffect from time to time to the extent provided émder such
policies.

[SIGNATURES ON NEXT PAGE]
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The undersigned Grantee hereby accepts the awavdsed by this Performance-Based Restricted Stock

Units Agreement on the terms and conditions sé¢ floerein.

Dated:___

Grantee

Executed in the name of and on behalf of the Cartpmr at Cleveland, Ohio as of this day of

, 201«
MATERION CORPORATION

By _
Michael C.
Hasychak
Vice President,

Treasurer and Secretary
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EXHIBIT A

MATERION CORPORATION
BENEFICIARY DESIGNATIONS

In accordance with the terms and conditions of the (the “Plan”), | hereby designate theq(s)
indicated below as my beneficiary(ies) to receing amounts payable under said Plan after my death.

Name
Address

Social Sec. Nos. of Beneficiary(ies)

Relationship(s)
Date(s) of Birth

In the event that the aboweamed beneficiary(ies) predecease(s) me, | hereigihte the following person as
beneficiary(ies);

Name
Address

Social Sec. Nos. of Beneficiary(ies)

Relationship(s)
Date(s) of Birth

I hereby expressly revoke all prior designationberfieficiary(ies), reserve the right to changebeeficiary(ies)
herein designated and agree that the rights oftemedficiary(ies) shall be subject to the termthefPlan. In the event
that there is no beneficiary living at the timenof death, | understand that the amounts payableruthd Plan will be
paid to my estate.

Date (Signature)

(_Print or type name)
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EStatement of Management Objectives

This Statement of Management Objectives appli¢gseg@erformance-based Restricted Stock Units gilantéhe
Grantee on the Date of Grant and applies with i@dpehe Performance-Based Restricted Stock Wgteement
between the Company and the Grantee (thAgréeement’). Capitalized terms used in the Agreement thatreot
specifically defined in this Statement of Managet@hbjectives have the meanings assigned to theheirgreement ¢
in the Plan, as applicable.

Section 1.

(@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

CLI-2181459v1

Definitions For purposes here

“Peer Group” means, of a benchmark group of 20 entities, tmes of which are attached hereto as
Annex A, those entities that remain in the Peer Groud #secend of the Performance Period after
application of the Peer Group Adjustment Protocol.

“ Peer Group Adjustment Protocdlmeans: (i) if an entity listed in Annex fles for bankruptcy and/:
liquidation, is operating under bankruptcy protecti or is delisted from its primary stock exche
because it fails to meet the exchange listing reguent, then such entity will not remain in the
Group and RTSR for the Performance Period will dlewdated as if such entity had never been a me
of the Peer Group; (ii) if, as of the last datetlod Performance Period, an entity listed in Annexnd
longer exists as a business entity for any reasloar dhan under subsection (iii) below, then suctity
will not remain in the Peer Group and RTSR for Begformance Period will be calculated as if sudity
had never been a member of the Peer Group; anddjiipurposes of this Statement of Managel
Objectives, for each of the entities listed in Axre, such entity shall be deemed to include any ssc
to all or substantially all of the primary businedsuch entity, whether or not the same legakygrdi en:
of the Performance Period.

“ Relative Total Shareholder Returhor * RTSR” means the percentile rank of the Corporation’sal’o
Shareholder Return among the Total Shareholderfetf all members of the Peer Group, ranked in
descending order, at the end of the Performanded&ercentile will be calculated using the Miafis
Excel Percentile Function method.

“Return on Invested Capitdl or “ ROIC ” means the Corporation’s annual adjusted operatin{jt
before tax divided by the sum of short-term dedigtterm debt and equity. “Equity” excludes thense
within other comprehensive income (nhamely, pensedoation adjustment, derivative valuation
adjustment and the cumulative translation adjustm@&he measurement of the 2016 ROIC will be the
average ROIC for 2014, 2015 and 2016 using thenbéayy (December 31 of the previous year) and
ending (December 31 of the current year) investgital.




(e)

“Total Shareholder Returri means, with respect to each of the Common Srerdghe common stock
of each of the members of the Peer Group, a ratetafn reflecting stock price appreciation, plus t
reinvestment of dividends in additional sharestotls, from the beginning of the Performance Period
through the end of the Performance Period. Forgeep of calculating Total Shareholder Return fehea
of the Company and the members of the Peer Grbagdginning stock price will be based on the
average closing stock price for the 30 calendas daynediately preceding January 1, 2014 on the
principal stock exchange on which the stock thaded and the ending stock price will be based en th
average closing stock price for the 30 calendas daynediately preceding January 1, 2017 on the
principal stock exchange on which the stock thadds.

Section ZzPerformance Matrices

From 0% to 200% of the ROIC PRSUs will be earneskdaon achievement of the portion of the Management
Objectives measured by ROIC goals during the Pexdorce Period, and from 0% to 200% of the RTSR PR&IUbe
earned based on achievement of the portion of theagement Objectives measured by RTSR goals dilréng
Performance Period, in each case as follows:

Performance Level Return on Invested Capital ROIC PRSUs Earne
Below Threshold Below 9.6% 0%
Threshold 9.6% 25%
Target 10.6% 100%
Maximum 11.9% or greater 200%
Performance Level Relative Total Shareholder Return RTSR PRSUs Earne
Below Threshold Ranked below 25ercentile 0%
Threshold Ranked at Z5percentile 50%
Target Ranked at 30percentile 100%
Maximum Ranked at or above 8(ercentile 200%

Section 3.

(@)
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Number of PRSUs Earne. Following the Performance Period, on the Commietermination Date, the
Committee shall determine whether and to what éxkengoals relating to the Management Objectives
have been satisfied for the Performance Periodshall determine the number of PRSUs that shall
become nonforfeitable hereunder and under the Aggaeon the basis of the following:

Below ThresholdIf, upon the conclusion of the Performance PerfgdROIC for the Performance Peri
falls below the threshold level, as set forth i@ Berformance Matrices, no ROIC PRSUs shall become
nonforfeitable and (ii)

2




RTSR for the Performance Period falls below theshold level, as set forth in the Performance Measri
no RTSR PRSUs shall become nonforfeitable.

(b) Threshold If, upon the conclusion of the Performance PerfpdROIC for the Performance Period eqt
the threshold level, as set forth in the Perforreavatrices, 25% of the ROIC PRSUs (rounded down to
the nearest whole number of ROIC PRSUSs) shall beaoonforfeitable, and (i) RTSR for the
Performance Period equals the threshold levekt®gh in the Performance Matrices, 50% of theSRT
PRSUs (rounded down to the nearest whole numbRT8R PRSUSs) shall become nonforfeitable.

(c) Between Threshold and Targdt, upon the conclusion of the Performance PerfdROIC for the
Performance Period exceeds the threshold levelshess than the target level, as set forth in the
Performance Matrices, a percentage between 25%G@0%b (determined on the basis of straight-line
mathematical interpolation) of the ROIC PRSUs (aethdown to the nearest whole number of ROIC
PRSUSs) shall become nonforfeitable, and (ii) RT8Rilie Performance Period exceeds the threshold
level, but is less than the target level, as s¢hfo the Performance Matrices, a percentage 180%
and 100% (determined on the basis of straightriiaghematical interpolation) of the RTSR PRSUs
(rounded down to the nearest whole number of RTRBW) shall become nonforfeitable.

(d) Target If, upon the conclusion of the Performance PerfgdROIC for the Performance Period equals
target level, as set forth in the Performance Masi 100% of the ROIC PRSUs shall become
nonforfeitable, and (ii) RTSR for the Performanegi®d equals the target level, as set forth in the
Performance Matrices, 100% of the RTSR PRSUs bealbme nonforfeitable.

(e) Between Target and Maximunif, upon the conclusion of the Performance PerfgdROIC for the
Performance Period exceeds the target level, besssthan the maximum level, as set forth in the
Performance Matrices, a percentage between 10092G0% (determined on the basis of straight-line
mathematical interpolation) of the ROIC PRSUs (aethdown to the nearest whole number of ROIC
PRSUSs) shall become nonforfeitable, and (i) RT8Rilie Performance Period exceeds the target level,
but is less than the maximum level, as set fortinénPerformance Matrices, a percentage betwee¥h 100
and 200% (determined on the basis of straightriia¢ghematical interpolation) of the RTSR PRSUs
(rounded down to the nearest whole number of RTRBW) shall become nonforfeitable.

) Equals or Exceeds Maximunif, upon the conclusion of the Performance PerfgdROIC for the
Performance Period equals or exceeds the maximeh ks set forth in the Performance Matrices, 200%
of the ROIC PRSUs shall become nonforfeitable, @h& TSR for the Performance Period equals or
exceeds the
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maximum level, as set forth in the Performance Mes, 200% of the RTSR PRSUs shall become
nonforfeitable.

Before all or any portion of any Qualified Performsa-Based Award of PRSUs shall become nonforfeitabl
paid in accordance with this Statement of Manage®&jectives or the Agreement, the Committee ghetiérmine in
writing that the Management Objectives have beénsfeal.
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Annex A

Peer Group
Company Name Ticker Symbol

[I-VI Incorporated V1
Atmel Corporation ATML
Cabot Corporation CBT
A. M. Castle & Co. Castle
Coherent, Inc. COHR
CTS Corporation CTS
Entegris, Inc. ENTG
Ferro Corporation FOE
Haynes International, Inc. HAYN
Integrated Device Technology, Inc. IDTI
Kemet Corporation KEM
Kraton Performance Polymers, Inc. KRA
Minerals Technologies Inc. MTX
OM Group, Inc. OMG
PolyOne Corporation POL
Quaker Chemical Corporation KWR
RF Micro Devices Inc. RFMD
Rogers Corporation ROG
RTI International Metals, Inc. RTI
Skyworks Solutions, Inc. SWKS
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Exhibit 10ah

AMENDMENT NO. 2
TO
MATERION CORPORATION
SUPPLEMENTAL RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLAN

Materion Corporation, an Ohio corporation, heretgms this Amendment No. 2 to the Materion

Corporation Supplemental Retirement Benefit Plae (Plan").

Schedule | of the Plan is amended to provide #isariorm attached hereto.

The changes to the Plan by this amendment shalffeetive September 13, 2011.

* k% %

Executed this 5th day of February, 2014.

MATERION CORPORATION

By: /s/ Michael C. Hasychak Title: Vice President, Treasurer & Secretary




Schedule |

Schedule of Participants, Offset Amounts, Speciad@ing Provisions, and Participation Effectivet®éf after
September 13, 2011)

Participant Offset Amount Special Calculation Provisions
Michael D. Anderson $246,25I
Gregory R. Chemnitz $C

(Participation Effective Date:
December 5, 2012)

Stephen Freeman $518,36!

John D. Grampa $530,00!

Michael C. Hasychak $212,98!

Richard J. Hipple $842,25I In addition to the Prevented Benefit
determined for Mr. Hipple pursuant to Sect

2(j), an additional amount shall be included in

the amount payable to him under Section 4,

determined as follows:

e Mr. Hipple's Prevented Benefit shall be
determined pursuant to Section 2(j).

e Such amount shall be divided by his
number of Years of Benefit Service under
the Pension Plan.

* The resulting amount shall be multiplied
by 5.

Donald G. Klimkowicz $140,41:
Alfonso T. Lubrano $376,02
Walter G. Maxwell $86,16!
Richard W. Sager $291,73!

Daniel A. Skoch $983,07.



Exhibit 21

Subsidiaries of Registrant

The Company has the following subsidiaries, alivbfch are wholly owned and included in the consatkd financial statements.

State or County of

Name of Subsidiary Incorporation
Aerospace Metal Composites Limited England
Materion Advanced Chemicals Inc. Wisconsin
Materion Advanced Materials Technologies and Ses/NMetherlands BV Netherlands
Materion Advanced Materials Technologies and Ses/Buzhou Ltd. China
Materion Advanced Materials Technologies and Ses/icorp. New Mexico
Materion Advanced Materials Technologies and Ses/lear East PTE Ltd. Singapore
Materion Advanced Materials Technologies and Ses/iac. New York
Materion Advanced Materials Technologies and Ses/Bhanghai Co. Ltd. China
Materion Advanced Materials Technologies and Sessitaiwan Co. Ltd. Taiwan
Materion Brewster LLC New York
Materion Brush (Japan) Ltd. Japan
Materion Brush (Singapore) PTE Ltd. Singapore
Materion Brush GmbH Germany
Materion Brush Inc. Ohio
Materion Brush International Inc. Ohio
Materion Brush Ltd. England
Materion Ceramics Inc. Arizona
Materion Czech S.R.O. Czech Republic
Materion Ireland Limited Ireland
Materion Large Area Coatings LLC Delaware
Materion Natural Resources Inc. Utah
Materion Precision Optics (Korea) LLC Korea
Materion Precision Optics (Shanghai) Limited China
Materion Precision Optics (Japan) GK Japan
Materion Precision Optics (U.K.) Limited England
Materion Precision Optics and Thin Film Coatingsiooation California
Materion Precision Optics and Thin Film Coatings.In Massachusetts
Materion Services Inc. Ohio
Materion Technical Materials Inc. Ohio
Materion Technologies Inc. Arizona



Exhibit 23

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing

We consent to the incorporation by reference infdllewing Registration Statements:
(1) Registration Statement Number 333-88994 omF88 dated May 24, 200
(2) Post-Effective Amendment Number 1 to RegigiraStatement Number 333-74296 on Forr@ &ated November 30, 20!
3) Post-Effective Amendment Number 5 to RegigiraStatement Number 2-64080 on Forr8 8ated May 17, 200
4) Post-Effective Amendment Number 1 to RegigiraStatement Number 333-63355 on Forr@ &ated May 17, 200
(5) Post-Effective Amendment Number 1 to RegigiraStatement Number 33-28605 on Forr@ §ated May 17, 200
(6) Post-Effective Amendment Number 1 to RegigiraStatement Number 333-63353 on Forr@ &ated May 17, 200
(7 Post-Effective Amendment Number 1 to RegigiraStatement Number 333-63357 on Forr@ &ated May 17, 200
(8) Post-Effective Amendment Number 1 to RegigiraStatement Number 333-52141 on Forr@ &ated May 17, 200
(9) Post-Effective Amendment Number 1 to RegigiraStatement Number 2-90724 on Forr8 8ated May 17, 200
(20) Registration Statement Number 333-63353 amF®8 dated September 14, 19
(11) Registration Statement Number 333-63355 amF®8 dated September 14, 19
(12) Registration Statement Number 333-63357 amF®8 dated September 14, 19
(13) Registration Statement Number 333-52141 amF®8 dated May 5, 199
(14) Registration Statement Number 33-28605 omF88 dated May 5, 198
(15) Registration Statement Number 2-90724 on Fé8dated April 27, 198
(16) Post-Effective Amendment Number 3 to RegigtraStatement Number 2-64080 on Forr8 8ated April 22, 198
a7) Registration Statement Number 333-114147amFS3 dated July 1, 200
(18) Registration Statement Number 333-127130@mFS8 dated August 3, 20C
(29) Registration Statement Number 333-133428a@mFs8 dated April 20, 200
(20) Registration Statement Number 333-133429@mFs8 dated April 20, 200
(21) Registration Statement Number 333-145149@mFS8 dated August 6, 20C
(22) Registration Statement Number 333-173915@mFS8 dated May 4, 201
(23) Registration Statement Number 333-173916a@mFsS8 dated May 4, 201
(24) Registration Statement Number 333-173917@mFS8 dated May 4, 2011; a
(25) Registration Statement Number 333-184723@mFS3 dated November 2, 20

of our report dated March 14, 2014, with respe¢htoconsolidated financial statements of Mate@amporation and subsidiaries and our re
dated March 14, 2014, with respect to the effeatd@s of internal control over financial reportirfgMaterion Corporation and subsidiaries t
included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) of Mater Corporation and subsidiaries for the year eridedember 31, 2013.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Cleveland, Ohio
March 14, 2014



Exhibit 24

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each of thedersigned directors and officers of MATERION CORRPXRON, an Ohic
corporation (the “Corporation”hereby constitutes and appoints Richard J. Hippdan D. Grampa, Michael C. Hasychak and Miche
Solecki, and each of them, their true and lawftdrakey or attorneys-ifact, with full power of substitution and revocatjdor them and in the
names, place and stead, to sign on their behalfd®ctor or officer, or both, as the case mayobéhe Corporation, an Annual Report pursi
to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangedk 1934 on Form 16¢ for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013,targign any and ¢
amendments to such Annual Report, and to file Hraes with all exhibits thereto, and other documentsonnection therewith, with t
Securities and Exchange Commission granting unitb &#orney or attorneys-ifact, and each of them, full power and authoritydto ant
perform each and every act and thing requisitereawtssary to be done in and about the premisdallyaso all intents and purposes as t
might or could do in person, hereby ratifying arahfirming all that said attorney or attorneysfarct or any of them or their substitute
substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be dongitiye hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have hereuattheir hands as of the 5th day of February, 2014.

/sl RICHARD J. HIPPLE /s N. MOHAN REDDY
Richard J. Hipple, Chairman of the Board, President N. Mohan Reddy, Director
Chief Executive Officer and Director

(Principal Executive Officer)

/sl JOHN D. GRAMPA /sl  CRAIG S. SHULAR
John D. Grampa, Senior Vice President Craigtlar, Director
Finance and Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

/s/  JOSEPH P. KEITHLEY /sl DARLENE J. S. SOLOMON
Joseph P. Keithley, Director Darlene J. S. ®olo, Director

/s VINOD M. KHILNANI /s/  ROBERT B. TOTH

Vinod M. Khilnani, Director Robert B. Toth, Bictor

/sl WILLIAM B. LAWRENCE /sl  GEOFFREY WILD

William B. Lawrence, Director Geoffrey Wild, fictor



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS

I, Richard J. Hipple, certify that:

1) | have reviewed this annual report on Form 16f#aterion Corporation (the “registrant”);

2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not corsaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omgtéde a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgt® under which such statements were made, nt#adisg with respect to tl
period covered by this report;

3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd,cdher financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, andtfie periods presented in this report;

4) The registran’ other certifying officer and | are responsible éstablishing and maintaining disclosure contesig procedures (.
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15()) and internal control over financial repagti@as defined in Exchange Act Ru
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant andéhav
a) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresgused such disclosure controls and procedurks ttesigned under ¢

supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidh®ibsidiaries, is made kno
to us by others within those entities, particulahlying the period in which this report is beingared;

b) designed such internal control over financial répgr or caused such internal control over finaheporting to be designe
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assaraegarding the reliability of financial repogimnd the preparation
financial statements for external purposes in atawce with generally accepted accounting princjples

C) evaluated the effectiveness of the registsadiSclosure controls and procedures and presémtius report our conclusiol
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contmal$ procedures, as of the end of the period coveyethis report based «
such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the stegmts internal control over financial reporting thatcomed during th
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regigts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annuabrg that has material
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyesff, the registrant’s internal control over finateeporting; and

5) The registran$ other certifying officer and | have disclosedsdsh on our most recent evaluation of internal @braver financia
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrastboard of directors (or persons performing thevedent
functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contradiofinancial reporting whic
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the itegig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refmancial information
and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that ineslvnanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registraist’
internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ Richard J. Hipple

Dated: March 14, 2014 Richard J. Hipple

Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS

[, John D. Grampa, certify that:

1) | have reviewed this annual report on Form 16f#aterion Corporation (the “registrant”);

2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not corsaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omgtéde a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgt® under which such statements were made, nt#adisg with respect to tl
period covered by this report;

3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd,cdher financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, andtfie periods presented in this report;

4) The registran’ other certifying officer and | are responsible éstablishing and maintaining disclosure contesig procedures (.
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15()) and internal control over financial repagti@as defined in Exchange Act Ru
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant andéhav
a) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresgused such disclosure controls and procedurks ttesigned under ¢

supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidh®ibsidiaries, is made kno
to us by others within those entities, particulahlying the period in which this report is beingared;

b) designed such internal control over financial répgr or caused such internal control over finaheporting to be designe
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assaraegarding the reliability of financial repogimnd the preparation
financial statements for external purposes in atawce with generally accepted accounting princjples

C) evaluated the effectiveness of the registsadiSclosure controls and procedures and presémtius report our conclusiol
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contmal$ procedures, as of the end of the period coveyethis report based «
such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the stegmts internal control over financial reporting thatcomed during th
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regigts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annuabrg that has material
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyesff, the registrant’s internal control over finateeporting; and

5) The registran$ other certifying officer and | have disclosedsdsh on our most recent evaluation of internal @braver financia
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrastboard of directors (or persons performing thevedent
functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contradiofinancial reporting whic
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the itegig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refmancial information
and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that ineslvnanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registraist’
internal control over financial reporting.

Dated: March 14, 2014 /s/ John D. Grampa

John D. Grampa

Senior Vice President Finance and
Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32

Certification Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
As Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adoptedignoirso Section 906 of the Sarbari@dey Act of 2002, in connection with the filing die
Annual Report on Form 10-K of Materion Corporatitine “Company”)for the year ended December 31, 2013, as filed thighSecurities ai

Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “R@paach of the undersigned officers of the Compasitifies, that, to such offices’
knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefttion 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangedk 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m
780(d)), and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly @ets, in all material respects, the financial cbadiand results of operations of
Company as of the dates and for the periods exgutdeghe Report.

Dated: March 14, 2014

/sl Richard J. Hipple

Richard J. Hipple

Chairman of the Board, President and
Chief Executive Officer

/s/ John D. Grampa

John D. Grampa

Senior Vice President Finance and
Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit 95
Materion Corporation

Mine Safety Disclosure Pursuant to Section 1503(af the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and
Consumer Protection Act for the Year Ended DecembeBl, 2013

Materion Natural Resources Inc., a wholly ownedsgdibry, operates a beryllium mining complex in 8tate of Utah which is regulated
both the U.S. Mine Safety and Health Administrat{t™™miSHA”) and state regulatory agencies. We endeavor to cormdy mining and oth
operations in compliance with all applicable fedlestate and local laws and regulations. We presdotmation below regarding certain min
safety and health citations which MSHA has levigthwespect to our mining operations.

Section 1503(a) of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Refand Consumer Protection Act (“Section 1503(a@¢uires Ethe Company to pres
certain information regarding mining safety inperiodic reports filed with the Securities and Exae Commission.

The following table reflects citations, orders amotices issued to Materion Natural Resources IfcM$HA during the year end
December 31, 2013 (the “Reporting Periodhd contains certain additional information as megl by Section 1503(a) and Item 104
Regulation S-K, including information regarding tnig-related fatalities, proposed assessments from M&hkthlegal actions (“Legal Actions”
before the Federal Mine Safety and Health Reviewn@ssion, an independent adjudicative agency thatiges administrative trial a
appellate review of legal disputes arising underNtine Act.

Included below is the information required by Sewrtl503(a) with respect to the beryllium mining gdex (MSHA Identification Numbe
4200706) for the Reporting Period:

(A) Total number of alleged violations of mandatory Ithear safety standards that could significantlyd asubstantiall
contribute to the cause and effect of a mine sajetyealth hazard under Section 104 of the Mine fActwhich Materior

Natural Resources Inc. received a citation from MSH 0
(B) Total number of orders issued under Section 10f(the Mine Act 0
©) Total number of citations and orders for allegedvamantable failure by Materion Natural Resouraes to comply witt

mandatory health or safety standards under Setfid(d) of the Mine Act 0
(D) Total number of alleged flagrant violations undect®n 110(b)(2) of the Mine Act 0
(E) Total number of imminent danger orders issued uBeetion 107(a) of the Mine Act 0
(3] Total dollar value of proposed assessments from M8hter the Mine Act $30(
(G) Total number of mining-related fatalities 0
H) Received notice from MSHA of a pattern of violasaimder Section 104(e) of the Mine Act No
() Received notice from MSHA of the potential to haveattern of violations under Section 104(e) ofittiee Act No

J) Total number of Legal Actions pending as of the ¢k of the Reporting Period
(K) Total number of Legal Actions instituted during fReporting Period
L) Total number of Legal Actions resolved during thepBrting Period

o O o



